
SOUL GOVERNING COUNCIL MEETING 
SOUL Theater 

2336 Calaveras Street 
Fresno, CA 93721 

Tuesday, September 9, 2025 
8:30 a.m. 

AGENDA 

Presenter   Motion Page 
1. CALL TO ORDER Dr. Terry Allen 

2. COMMUNITY ACTION PROMISE Dr. Terry Allen 1 

3. ROLL CALL Commissioner Rodgers 

4. APPROVAL OF MINUTES
May 6, 2025

Dr. Terry Allen Approve 2 

5. PUBLIC COMMENTS
(This portion of the meeting is reserved for persons wishing to address the Council on items within
jurisdiction but not on the agenda. Comments are limited to three minutes).

6. BOARD TRAINING: BROWN ACT AND
FAIR POLITICAL PRACTICE ACT

Baker Manock & 
Jensen, PC 

7. PARENT/STUDENT GOVERNING COUNCIL
REPRESENTATIVES

Dr. Varnado Approve 4 

8. INDEPENDENT STUDY BOARD POLICY
INDEPENDENT POLICIES AND PROCEDURES

Dr.Varnado Approve 5 

9. SUICIDE PREVENTION POLICY Dr. Varnado Approve 11 

10. TITLE IX POLICY Dr. Varnado Approve 24 

11. BULLYING-CYBERBULLYING PREVENTION
PLAN

Dr. Varnado Approve 27 

12. 2025-26 BODY SHAMING PREVENTION POLICY Dr. Varnado Approve 34 

13. 2025-26 PARENT INVOLVEMENT POLICY Dr. Varnado Approve 36 



14. 2025-26 PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT
PLAN

Dr. Varnado Approve 40 

15. 2025-26 STUDENT/PARENT HANDBOOK Dr. Varnado Approve 53 

16. CALSTRS POLICY ADOPTION Dr. Varnado Approve 110 

17. DECLARATION OF NEED Dr. Varnado Approve 122 

18. OCTOBER MEETING DATE CHANGE Dr. Varnado Approve 129 

19. SALARY SCHEDULE ADOPTION Dr. Varnado Approve 130 

20. FRESNO COUNTY SUPERINTENDENT OF
SCHOOLS CTE SHARED RESPONSIBILITY
AGREEMENT

Dr. Varnado Approve 131 

21. CHARTER RENEWAL METRICS and PETITION
SUBMISSION

Dr. Vanado Approve 132 

22. SANCTUARY ACQUISTION Dr. Varnado Approve 135 

23. SOUL UPDATE:  PRINCIPAL REPORT Dr. Varnado Information 155 

24. OTHER BUSINESS  Dr. Terry Allen  
• Governing Council Members Resume request for Charter Renewal.
• Membership Sub-Committee Reports at October Meeting.
• The next Governing Council meeting is scheduled for October 14, 2025.

25. ADJOURNMENT



                                                                                                                                            
1 

Community Action Promise 

Community Action changes people’s lives, embodies the spirit of hope, improves  
communities, and makes America a better place to live.  

We care about the entire community, and we are dedicated to helping people  
help themselves and each other. 



2 

FRESNO EOC SCHOOL OF UNLIMITED LEARNING 
GOVERNING COUNCIL MEETING 

Sanctuary Stage Theater 
Tuesday, May 6, 2025 

  MINUTES 
1. Meeting called to order by Dr. Terry Allen 8:35 a.m.

2. Community Action Promise
Dr. Terry Allen guided the Governing Council in reading the Community Action Promise.

3. Roll call facilitated by Marilyn Wheeler.

4. Approval of Minutes
April 8,2025, Governing Council Meeting Minutes

Public Comments: None heard.

Motion by: Turner Second by: Washington
Ayes: Griffin, Lomelino, Luttrell, Varnado, Allen, McAlister, Starks
Nays: None

5. By-Laws Sub-Committee Report
The By-Laws Sub-Committee, Dr Terry Allen, Dr Dion Varnado and Sandy Lomelino, met on Wednesday, April 23, 2025, to
discuss the current By-Laws. The Sub-Committee concluded that no revisions are needed.

Public Comments: None heard.

Motion by: Starks Second by: Griffin
Ayes: Lomelino, Luttrell, Varnado, Allen, McAlister, Turner, Washington
Nays: None

6. Finance Sub-Committee Report
The Finance Sub-Committee met, Dr Terry Allen, Dr Dion Varnado, Sandy Lomelino and Kiran Hayer, on Wednesday, April
23, 2025 to discuss SOUL’s current and 2025-2026 proposed budget.  SOUL is in good standing fiscally. A motion was made
to approve the Finance Sub-Committee Report with modifications to the proposed 2025-2026 budget, under Unrestricted
General Revenue, replace the word “remaining” with the word “reserve”.

Public Comments: None heard.

Motion by: Turner Second by: McAlister
Ayes: Lomelino, Luttrell, Varnado, Allen, Griffin, Washington, Starks

Voting Members 

Pr
es

en
t 

Ex
cu

se
d 

Ab
se

nt
 Non-Voting 

Member 

Pr
es

en
t 

Ex
cu

se
d 

Ab
se

nt
 Guests 

Terry Allen, Ed.D., Chair, Retired Teacher Representative X Felicia Olais X 

Benita Washington, Vice Chair, FSU Social Worker Representative X Dr. Sean Virnig X 

Jimi Rodgers, Secretary, Fresno EOC Commissioner X Jack Lazzarini X 

Larry Metzler, Cultural Arts Rotary Interact Club Advisor X Bian Angus X 

Bruce McAlister, Fresno EOC Commissioner X 

Jeanne Starks, Retired Law Enforcement Juvenile Probation  X 

Julio Romero, EOC Health Services/ David Beale X 

Debra McKenzie, Fresno EOC Commissioner X 

Patrick Turner, Fresno EOC Training and Employment X 

Parent Rep Lucy Luttrell  X 

Student Rep’s (2) Halle Overton, Sandra Salinas X X 

Dion Varnado, Staff Representative, Principal X 

Rena Failla, Staff Representative, Guidance Coordinator  X 

Courtney Griffin, Staff Representative, Guidance Dean X  

Sandy Lomelino, Staff Representative, Vice Principal X 



3 
 

      Nays: None 
  
7.   2025-2026 Election of Officers 
      The Council discussed the current officers, Dr. Terry Allen, Chair, Benita Washington, Vice-Chair and Jimi Rodgers,     

Secretary.  Council members requested that the current slate of officers remain for the 2025-2026 school year. 
 
      Public Comments: None heard. 
 
      Motion by: Turner Second by: McAlister 

Ayes: Lomelino, Luttrell, Varnado, Allen, Griffin, Washington, Starks 
      Nays: None 
  
8.   Proposed Meeting Dates 2025-2026 
      The Council discussed the proposed Governing Council Meeting dates for 2025-2026. A motion was made to approve the             

proposed meeting dates for the 2025-2026 school year. 
 
       Public Comments: None heard. 
 
      Motion by: McAlister Second by: Washington 

Ayes: Lomelino, Luttrell, Varnado, Allen, Griffin, Turner Starks 
      Nays: None 
 
9.   2025-2026 Local Control Accountability Plan (LCAP) Draft 
      The State of California Department of Education requires all California schools to submit an LCAP for the upcoming school 

year. The LCAP clarifies preliminary allocation of funds to meet identified goals stated in the LCAP. 
 
       Public Comments: None heard. 
 
      Motion by: Turner Second by: Starks 

Ayes: Lomelino, Luttrell, Varnado, Allen, Griffin, McAlister, Washington             
      Nays: None 
 
10. Local Indicators Tool 
      California’s accountability system is based on a multiple measures system that assesses how Local Education Agencies 

(LEA’s) and schools meet the needs of their students.  SOUL is designated a Dashboard Alternative School Status (DASS).  
The California Dashboard alters the Metrix that SOUL students meet.  

 
      Public Comments: None heard. 
 
      Motion by: McAlister Second by: Turner  

Ayes: Lomelino, Luttrell, Varnado, Allen, Griffin, Starks, Washington             
      Nays: None 
 
11. SOUL Update: Principal Report 
      Dr. Varnado reported on the classroom-based and personalized learning program demographics as presented in the 

principal’s report.    
      Other topics presented to the Governing Council included:   

• The graduation will be held Wednesday, June 11, 2025, at the Tower Theatre.  
• SOUL is in the process of remodeling the building located behind us to expand the classroom-based program. Dr. 

Varnado shared that he hopes to have 50 students in the classroom-based program. 
• SOUL’s work study program begins today. With our new van, students will be transported to their work study sites. 
• May 16, 2025, a Zoo trip and Field Day is planned. 
• May 29, 2025, the Art Class will showcase their Artwork from 3:30-5:00 pm. 
• June 4, 2025, SOUL will honor our students at an awards assembly.  First Presbyterian Church our community partner 

has offered a place to serve dinner after the assembly. 
 

12. Other Business 
      Dr Terry Allen announced that the next Governing Council meeting will be held, Tuesday, September 9, 2025. 

 
13. Adjournment of Meeting 
      Meeting adjourned at 9:20 am 

Submitted by Commissioner Jimi Rodgers, SOUL Governing Council Secretary 



4 

           SCHOOL OF UNLIMITED LEARNING GOVERNING COUNCIL MEETING 

Recommended Action 

Staff recommend Governing Council approval of SOUL’s Parent-Student Governing Council 
Representatives. 

Background 

Each school year one Parent and two Students are selected to serve as representatives on 
the SOUL Governing Council to follow the SOUL Governing Council By-Laws. The proposed 
representatives for the 2025-2026 school year are, Lucy Luttrell, Parent Representative, 
Sandra Salinas, Kiana Lujan, Student Representatives. 

Fiscal Impact  

Action on this agenda item will have no fiscal impact. 

Date: September 9, 2025 Program: School of Unlimited Learning 

Agenda Item #:  7 Director: Dr. Dion Varnado  

Subject: Parent-Student Governing Council 
Representatives 

Officer:    Jack Lazzarini 



5 

SCHOOL OF UNLIMITED LEARNING GOVERNING COUNCIL MEETING 

Recommended Action 

Staff recommend Governing Council approval of SOUL’s update to the Independent Study 
Board Policy and Independent Study Policies and Procedures. 

Background 

SOUL’s Independent Study Board Policy is submitted for review and approval whenever 
recommended changes are made by new legislation passed in association with the 
California Department of Education.  The Board will review and consider approving SOUL’s 
Independent Study Policy for the School of Unlimited Learning. 

SOUL’s Independent Study Program was initially established in 1998, and on an annual basis 
has been presented to the SOUL Governing Council and the Fresno EOC Board of 
Commissioners to keep them acquainted with any revisions.  

Fiscal Impact  

Action on this agenda item will have no fiscal impact. 

Date: September 9, 2025 Program: School of Unlimited Learning 

Agenda Item #:  8 Director: Dr. Dion Varnado  

Subject: Independent Study Board Policy & 
Independent Study Policies and Procedures 

Officer:  Jack Lazzarini 



6 
 

 
 
 

 
Updated July 2025 

 
School of Unlimited Learning (the “Charter School”) may offer non-classroom based instruction to meet the 
short- or long-term educational needs of pupils enrolled in the Charter School. Independent study is an 
optional educational alternative in which no pupil may be required to participate and is designed to teach the 
knowledge and skills of the core curriculum. The Charter School shall provide appropriate existing 
services and resources to enable pupils to complete their independent study successfully. The following 
written policies have been adopted by the School of Unlimited Learning Board of Directors for 
implementation at Charter School: 

 
1. For pupils in all grade levels and programs offered by the Charter School, the maximum length of 

time that may lapse between the time an assignment is made and the date by which the pupil 
must complete the assigned work shall be five (5) school days. 

2. The Principal or designee shall conduct an evaluation to determine whether it is in the best interests 
of the pupil to remain in independent study upon the following triggers: 

a. When any pupil fails to complete two (2) assignments during any period of five (5) school days. 
b. In the event a student’s educational progress falls below satisfactory levels as determined by 

ALL the following indicators: 
i. The pupil’s achievement and engagement in the independent study program, as 

indicated by the pupil’s performance on applicable pupil-level measures of pupil 
achievement and pupil engagement set forth in Education Code Section 52060(d) 
paragraphs (4) and (5). 

ii. The completion of assignments, assessments, or other indicators that evidence 
that the pupil is working on assignments. 

iii. Learning required concepts, as determined by the supervising teacher. 
iv. Progressing toward successful completion of the course of study or individual 

course, as determined by the supervising teacher. 

A written record of the findings of any evaluation conducted pursuant to this policy shall be treated 
as a mandatory interim pupil record. The record shall be maintained for a period of three years from 
the date of the evaluation and, if the pupil transfers to another California public school, the record 
shall be forwarded to that school. 

3. The Charter School shall provide content aligned to grade level standards that is substantially 
equivalent to in-person instruction. For high school grade levels this shall include access to all 
courses offered by the Charter School for graduation and approved by the UC or CSU as 
creditable under the A-G admissions criteria. 

 
4. The Charter School has adopted tiered reengagement strategies for the following pupils: 

a. All pupils who are not generating attendance for more than 10 percent of required 
minimum instructional time over four continuous weeks of the Charter School’s approved 
instructional calendar. 

b. Pupils found not participatory in synchronous instructional offerings pursuant to Education 
Code Section 51747.5 for more than 50 percent of the scheduled times of synchronous 
instruction in a school month as applicable by grade span; or 

c. Pupils who are in violation of the written agreement pursuant to Education Code Section 
51747(g). 

 
These procedures shall include local programs intended to address chronic absenteeism, as 

2025-2026 Independent Study Board Policy & 
Independent Study Policies and Procedures 



7 
 

applicable, with at least all of the following: 
a. Verification of current contact information for each enrolled pupil. 
b. Notification to parents or guardians of lack of participation within one (1) school day of the 

recording of a non-attendance day or lack of participation. 
c. A plan for outreach from the school to determine pupil needs, including connection with 

health and social services as necessary. 
d. A clear standard for requiring a pupil-parent-educator conference to review a pupil’s 

written agreement, and reconsider the independent study program’s impact on the pupil’s 
achievement and well-being, consistent with the policies adopted pursuant to paragraph 
(4) of subdivision (g) of Education Code Section 51747. 

 
5. The following plan shall be in place in accordance with Education Code Section 51747(e) for 

synchronous instruction and live interaction: 
a. For pupils in grades 9-12, inclusive, the plan to provide opportunities for at least weekly 

synchronous instruction for all pupils throughout the school year by each pupil’s teacher or 
teachers of record shall be as follows: Students must attend (instructional meetings) with 
their teacher at least once a week for a minimum of one hour per week. Teachers will set 
appointment times with students. 

6. The following plan* shall be utilized to transition pupils whose families wish to return to another 
program or school expeditiously, and, in no case, later than five (5) instructional days: If a parent, 
or adult student, wishes to transfer from the School of Unlimited Learning Independent Study 
program at any time, they may request a withdrawal slip and transcripts which will be available 
within five (5) instructional days. 

 
* The tiered reengagement strategies, plan for synchronous instruction and live interaction, and plan to 
transition pupils whose families to return to in-person instruction shall not apply to pupils who participate in 
an independent study program for fewer than 16 schooldays in a school year and pupils enrolled in a holistic 
school for classroom- based instruction who, under the care of appropriately licensed professionals, 
participate in independent study due to necessary medical treatments or inpatient treatment for mental 
health care or substance abuse. Local educational agencies shall obtain evidence from appropriately 
licensed professionals of the need for pupils to participate in independent study pursuant to this 
subdivision. These sections shall not apply to independent study offered due to school closure or material 
decrease in attendance for 15 school days or less for affected pupils under one or more of the 
circumstances described in Education Code Sections 41422 and/or 46392, and 46393 for which the Charter 
School files an affidavit seeking an allowance of attendance due to emergency conditions. 

 
7. A current written agreement shall be maintained on file for each independent study pupil, including 

but not limited to, all the following: 

a. The manner, time, frequency, and place for submitting a pupil’s assignments, for reporting 
the pupil’s academic progress, and for communicating with a pupil’s parent or guardian 
regarding a pupil’s academic progress. 

b. The objectives and methods of study for the pupil’s work, and the methods used to 
evaluate that work. 

c. The specific resources, including materials and personnel, that will be made available to the 
pupil. These resources shall include confirming or providing access to all pupils to the 
connectivity and devices adequate to participate in the educational program and complete 
assigned work. 

d. A statement of the policies adopted pursuant to subdivisions (a) and (b) of Education Code 
Section 51747 regarding the maximum length of time allowed between the assignment and 
the completion of a pupil’s assigned work, the level of satisfactory educational progress, 
and 

e. the number of missed assignments allowed before an evaluation of whether or not the pupil 



8 

should be allowed to continue independent study. 
f. The duration of the independent study agreement, including the beginning and ending dates

for the pupil’s participation in independent study under the agreement. No independent
study agreement shall be valid for any period longer than one (1) school year.

g. A statement of the number of course credits or, for the elementary grades, other measures
of academic accomplishment appropriate to the agreement, to be earned by the pupil upon
completion.

h. A statement detailing the academic and other supports that will be provided to address the
needs of pupils who are not performing at grade level, or need support in other areas,
such as English learners, individuals with exceptional needs in order to be consistent
with the pupil’s individualized education program or plan pursuant to Section 504 of the
federal Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (29 U.S.C. Sec. 794), pupils in foster care or experiencing
homelessness, and pupils requiring mental health supports.

i. The inclusion of a statement in each independent study agreement that independent
study is an optional educational alternative in which no pupil may be required to
participate. In the case of a pupil who is referred or assigned to any school, class, or
program pursuant to Section 48915 or 48917, the agreement also shall include the
statement that instruction may be provided to the pupil through independent study only
if the pupil is offered the alternative of classroom instruction.

ii. For a pupil participating in an independent study program that is scheduled for more than
14 school days, each written agreement shall be signed, before the commencement of
independent study, by the pupil, the pupil’s parent, legal guardian, or caregiver, if the pupil is
less than 18 years of age, the certificated employee who has been designated as having
responsibility for the general supervision of independent study, and the certificated
employee designated as having responsibility for the special education programming of
the pupil, as applicable. Beginning in the 2022–23 school year, for a pupil participating in
an independent study program that is scheduled for less than 15 school days, each written
agreement shall be signed within 10 school days of the commencement of the first day of
the pupil’s enrollment in independent study, by the pupil, the pupil’s parent, legal guardian,
or caregiver, if the pupil is less than 18 years of age, the certificated employee who has
been designated as having responsibility for the general supervision of independent study,
and the certificated employee designated as having responsibility for the special education
programming of the pupil, as applicable. For purposes of this paragraph “caregiver” means
a person who has met the requirements of Part 1.5 (commencing with Section 6550) of
Division 11 of the Family Code.

• Written agreements may be signed using an electronic signature that complies
with state and federal standards, as determined by the California Department of
Education, that may be a marking that is either computer generated or
produced by electronic means and is intended by the signatory to have the same
effect as a handwritten signature. The use of an electronic signature shall have
the same force and effect as the use of a manual signature if the requirements
for digital signatures and their acceptable technology, as provided in Section
16.5 of the Government Code and in Chapter 10 (commencing with Section
22000) of Division 7 of Title 2 of the California Code of Regulations, are
satisfied.

8. The Charter School shall comply with the Education Code sections 51745 through 51749.3 and
the provisions of the Charter Schools Act of 1992 and the State Board of Education regulations
adopted there under.

9. The Principal may establish regulations to implement these policies in accordance with the law.

The School of Unlimited Learning Independent Study education component offers a unique opportunity for 
students to work “independent” of regular daily classroom attendance and without the requirement of 
meeting with their instructor on a daily basis. 



9 
 

 
Independent Study requires students to meet with a SOUL instructor on a weekly basis for a minimum of 
one hour to receive assignments which coincide with the student’s overall academic-credit needs detailed 
in their Master Agreement. No Independent Study agreement is valid for longer than one school year. 
Academic credit assignments and ADA tabulations for the student are based solely upon the teacher’s 
assessment of the student’s independently completed work. During each scheduled appointment the 
student will be given weekly course material that, when completed, will be graded and assigned credit 
toward graduation. Students are required to attend all scheduled appointments with their instructor and to 
participate in all standardized testing as required by the state, the district, or the school. Students will 
earn 1 credit towards graduation for every 20 hours of work assigned, with a maximum of 40 core 
academic credits per semester. Students are expected to attend regularly and maintain satisfactory 
progress on work completed in order to remain in this program. The students are required to attend 
instructional meetings with their teacher at least once a week for a minimum of one hour per week. The 
maximum length of time allowed between the assignment and the date the assignment is due is one week. 
Students failing to appear for two scheduled appointments or missing two assignments will be re-evaluated 
regarding their academic placement in this component. 

PERSONALIZED LEARNING: RULES, REGULATIONS & POLICIES 

Discipline Rules and Regulations 
Rules and regulations are established to maintain an atmosphere conducive to learning. Students who 
fail to comply with these rules and regulations will be counseled, reprimanded, suspended, or removed from 
the program. Each disciplinary action will be handled on a case-by-case basis.  

 
All students will comply with the regulations, pursue the required course of study, and respect the authority 
of the teachers, administration and support staff of the educational site. 

Attendance and participation at extracurricular activities are considered a part of the educational program. 
All rules of student conduct and dress code apply to extracurricular activities. 

 
Attendance 
The law no longer provides for “excused” absences. Students may have a “valid absence” but 
their attendance will be impacted and they will be required to make up any assignments missed. 
(EC48205). Valid absences can be defined as personal illness, attendance at funeral services for 
a member of the immediate family, part-day absences for medical/dental appointments, but will 
still be counted as an absence from school or class. 

Students must attend (instructional meetings) with their teacher for a minimum of 3 hours per week 
Teachers will set appointment times with students. Further, students must provide documentation from 
their parent/guardian verifying their daily completion of independent study assignments. In compliance with 
SOUL’s Independent Study policies for grades 9 through 12, the maximum length of time allowed between 
the assignment and the date the assignment is due is one week. 

 
Excused absences are not recognized in Independent Study. If for any reason the student cannot keep 
the appointed time, the student’s parent/guardian must contact the teacher, explain the reason for the 
missed appointment, and reschedule the appointment to make-up for the missed time. 

If a student is absent and the instructional time is not rescheduled, the teacher will evaluate the students 
continued enrollment, and take corrective action, if student fails to reschedule the meeting: Teacher 
contacts the student/parent. The meeting is rescheduled for the same week. 

SOUL’s four-step attendance policy is: 
Step 1 Student fails to attend the rescheduled meeting: Teacher puts the student on an “Attendance 

Warning” to address his/her attendance issues. Parents will be contacted. 



10 

Step 2 If the student has an absence following the warning, then the student is place on an 
“Attendance Agreement.” Students and parents will be notified of this action. 

Step 3 If the student fails to comply with the Attendance Agreement they will be referred to the Guidance 
Dean for a parent/student meeting to address their absences. 

Step 4 If the student has any further absences, per the policies described herein, it may be determined 
that it is not in the best interest of the student to continue in personalized learning, and they 
may be withdrawn from the program. 

Credits 
To complete graduation requirements in a timely manner, students are expected to complete 2 credits 
per week. To remain in personalized learning, students must complete a minimum of one credit of 
work per week. If the 
Students needs extra help or a place to study, the student can come in for tutoring. This extra session 
does not replace the students regularly scheduled instructional time. Individual or group tutorial for math and 
English may be offered to assist students who are having difficulty with these subjects. 

Independent study students must understand that their work is designed to be completed at home: 
• Student gets the assignments from the teacher
• Students do the assignments at home or come in for extra help if the assignment is too difficult.

Important: The regularly assigned instructional meeting is not time to do assignments.
Assignments are to be completed at home.

• Student returns at his/her appointed time. Teacher goes over the work with the student and
tests the student on their completed work.

• Students receive new assignment(s).

Failure to Meet Credit Requirement 
• First time student fails to meet the one-credit a week requirement: The teacher will contact the

parent
and discuss whether personalized learning is meeting the student’s needs.

• Second time student fails to meet the one-credit a week minimum: The teacher refers the
student and parent to the Guidance Office to review the academic progress of the student.

• Student fails to comply with the credit minimum: Per the policies described herein, it may be
determined that it is not in the best interest of the student to remain in personalized learning
and student may be withdrawn from personalized learning.

During each scheduled appointment the student will be given weekly course material that, when completed, 
will be graded and assigned credit toward graduation. 

• Students are required to attend all scheduled appointments with their instructor and to
participate in all standardized testing as required by the state, the district or the school.

• Students will earn 1 credit towards graduation for every 20 hours of work assigned.
• Students are expected to attend regularly and maintain satisfactory progress in order to remain

in the program.
• A student failing to appear for two scheduled appointments or missing two assignments as

described in the policies described herein, will be evaluated to determine whether it is in the
best interest of the student to remain in personalized learning and may be withdrawn from
personalized learning.



11 

SCHOOL OF UNLIMITED LEARNING GOVERNING COUNCIL MEETING 

Recommended Action 

Staff recommend Governing Council approval for full board consideration of the Suicide 
Prevention Policy. 

Background 

California Education Code (EC) Section 215, AB 2246 mandates that the Governing Board of 
any LEA that serves pupils in grades seven to twelve, inclusive, adopt a policy on pupil 
suicide prevention, intervention, and postvention. 

Fiscal Impact  

Action on this agenda item will have no fiscal impact. 

Date: September 9, 2025 Program: School of Unlimited Learning 

Agenda Item #:  9 Director:  Dr. Dion Varnado  

Subject: Suicide Prevention Policy Officer:    Jack Lazzarini 



12 

Youth Suicide Prevention Policy 

The School of Unlimited Learning (SOUL) recognizes that suicide is a leading cause of death among youth 
and that an even greater amount of California’s high school students report having considered and 
attempted suicide. During 2019, 15 percent of California seventh graders and 16 percent of ninth and 
eleventh graders reported they seriously considered attempting suicide. 

Suicide prevention requires vigilant attention from school communities (all school staff, students, 
parents) and public members. As a result, school communities have an ethical and legal responsibility to 
provide appropriate and timely response to suicidal ideation, attempts, and deaths. School leaders and 
staff must ensure campus is a safe and nurturing environment that mitigate suicidal ideation and 
behaviors in students and staff and that appropriate procedures, protocols, and supports are well 
promulgated and easily accessible to all. 

Recognizing that it is the responsibility of the school to protect the health, safety, and welfare of its 
students and staff, this policy aims to safeguard against suicide attempts, deaths, and other trauma 
associated with suicide, including ensuring adequate supports for students, staff, and families affected 
by suicidal behavior, attempts, and loss 

This policy is based on research and best practices in suicide prevention and has been adopted with the 
understanding that positive and nurturing school climates coupled with suicide prevention activities 
decrease suicide risk, increase help-seeking behavior, identify those who may be suicidal, and help 
decrease such behaviors. Empirical evidence refutes a common misconception that talking about suicide 
can increase risk or “place the idea in someone’s mind.” Therefore, it is critical to address all behaviors 
directly and in a timely manner. Of significant importance is the education of students to recognize their 
own mental health, equip them with information and knowledge to solicit help, and learn to recognize 
symptoms within themselves and their peers. 

Understanding the impact school climate has on suicidality is critically important as positive school 
climates have been linked to lower levels of violence, bullying victimization, and greater perceived 
safety. School climate is of particular importance since it affects the risk of suicidality among youth. This 
is most likely due to positive peer and teacher relationships that are promoted in schools with positive 
school climates along with high levels of safety and social support. The School of Unlimited Learning 
(SOUL) underscores the importance of all staff and students working together to create safe, respectful, 
nurturing, and welcoming campuses in which students feel comfortable seeking help for themselves or 
their peers. Leaders provide opportunities for continuous improvement and monitoring of school 
climate. 

In an attempt to reduce suicidal behavior and its impact on students and families, the School of 
Unlimited Learning (SOUL) has developed strategies for suicide prevention, intervention, and 
postvention, and the identification of the mental health challenges frequently associated with suicidal 
thinking and behavior. These strategies include professional development for all school personnel. 

Recognizing that early prevention and intervention can drastically reduce the risk of suicide, the School 
of Unlimited Learning (SOUL) has developed and implemented preventive strategies and intervention 
procedures that include the following: 



13 

Overall Strategic Plan for Suicide Prevention 

The School of Unlimited Learning (SOUL) consults school-employed professionals (e.g., school 
counselors, psychologists, social workers, nurses), administrators, other school staff members, 
parents/guardians/caregivers, students, local health agencies and mental health professionals, first 
responders, and community organizations in planning, implementing, evaluating, and updating the 
school’s strategies for suicide prevention and intervention. The School of Unlimited Learning (SOUL) also 
regularly convenes these stakeholders to review the policy, at a minimum every five years, and updates 
as necessary as required by EC Section 215. 

Employee Qualifications and Scope of Services 

The School of Unlimited Learning (SOUL) has ensured school employees adhere to EC Section 215 which 
mandates school employees to act only within the authorization and scope of their credential or license. 
While it is expected that school professionals are able to identify suicide risk factors and warning signs, 
screen and assess to identify suicide risk, and to provide ongoing supports to youth identified at risk, the 
care or treatment for suicidal ideation is typically beyond the scope of services offered in the school 
setting. 

Prevention 

This policy and all related communication, documents, materials, etc. include clear, respectful, people-
first language that encourages an environment free of stigma. As part of safe messaging for suicide, we 
use specific terminology when referring to actions related to suicide or suicidal behavior: 

Use Do Not Use 

“Died by suicide” 

or 

“Took their own life” 

“Committed suicide” 

Note: Use of the word “commit” can imply 
crime/sin 

“Attempted suicide” “Successful” or “unsuccessful” 

Note: There is no success, or lack of success, 
when dealing with suicide 

Examples of people-first language, include: 

• People with (…mental illness, personality disorder, depression, etc.)
• Person who has died by suicide
• Person thinking about suicide
• People who have experienced a suicide attempt



14 

Tips for Safe and Effective Messaging on Suicide Prevention: 

• Always provide suicide prevention resources in parent/student handbooks, district or school-
issued identification cards for staff and students, on district and school websites, and during any
mental health or suicide prevention skill-building activity for students or parents/families and
professional development for staff. The following are suggested resources to include:

o National Suicide Prevention Lifeline: 988
o Crisis Text Line: Text “help” to 741-741
o Teen Line: Text “TEEN” to 839863
o Trevor Project 1-866-488-7386 or text “START” to 678678
o Trans Lifeline 1-877-565-8860

Additional crisis line numbers can be found on the CDE’s Help for Students in Crisis web page at: 
https://www.cde.ca.gov/ls/mh/studentcrisishelp.asp. 

• Include information on warning signs as well as risk and protective factors.

• Avoid discussing details about methods of suicide.

• Explain complexity of suicide and avoid oversimplifying (i.e., identifying singular cause of
suicide).

• Focus on prevention and protective factors.

• Avoid sensational language (e.g., using terms as epidemic, skyrocketing, etc.) and graphic
images.

Suicide Awareness and Prevention Training for School Staff 

The School of Unlimited Learning (SOUL) have carefully reviewed available staff trainings to ensure the 
selected curriculum is evidence-based, evidence-informed, and aligned with best practices in suicide 
prevention. 

EC Section 215 mandates LEAs to provide training for staff. The School of Unlimited Learning (SOUL) has 
provided professional development for all school staff members. 

• At least annually, all staff receive training on mental health awareness and suicide prevention
that includes risk and protective factors, warning signs of suicide, intervention, referral
processes, and postvention.

• Staff training is reviewed and adjusted annually based on previous professional development
activities, emerging best practices, and feedback.

• The LEA has ensured training is available for new hires during the school year.

• Employed staff members attend a minimum of one-hour general suicide prevention training.
Core components of the general suicide prevention training shall include:

https://www.cde.ca.gov/ls/mh/studentcrisishelp.asp


15 

o How to identify youth who may be at risk for suicide including suicide warning signs, risk,
and protective factors.

o Appropriate ways to approach, interact, and respond to a youth who is demonstrating
emotional distress or having thoughts of suicide including skill building to ask directly about
suicide thoughts.

o School-approved procedures for responding to suicide risk (including programs and services
in a Multi-tiered System of Support (MTSS) and referral protocols). Such procedures will
emphasize the student should be under constant supervision and immediately referred for a
suicide risk assessment.

o School-approved procedures identifying the role educators, school staff, and volunteers play
in supporting youth and staff after a suicide or suicide death or attempt (postvention).

• In addition to the core components of suicide prevention, ongoing annual professional
development for all staff should include the following:

o The impact of traumatic stress on emotional and mental health with an emphasis on
reducing stigma associated with mental illness and that early prevention and intervention
can drastically reduce the risk of suicide.

o Common misconceptions about suicide.

o School and community mental health and suicide prevention resources.

o Appropriate messaging about suicide (correct terminology, safe messaging guidelines).

o Ways to identify youth who may be at risk for suicide including suicide warning signs, risk,
and protective factors.

o Appropriate ways to approach, interact, and respond to a youth who is demonstrating
emotional distress or having thoughts of suicide including skill building to ask directly about
suicide thoughts and warm handoffs.

o District-approved procedures for responding to suicide risk (including MTSS and referrals).
Such procedures will emphasize that the student should be constantly supervised and
immediately referred for a suicide risk assessment.

o District-approved procedures identifying the role educators play in supporting youth and
staff after a suicide or suicide death or attempt (postvention).

• The professional development includes additional information regarding groups of students who
may be at elevated risk for suicide or groups disproportionately affected by suicide thoughts and
behaviors. These groups include, but are not limited to, the following:

o Youth impacted by suicide and youth with a history of suicidal thoughts or behavior.



16 

o Youth with disabilities, mental illness, or substance use disorders.

o Youth experiencing homelessness or in out-of-home settings, such as foster care.

o Youth identifying as LGBTQ.

Parents, Guardians, and Caregivers Participation and Education 

In an effort to include parents/guardians/caregivers in all suicide prevention efforts, the School of 
Unlimited Learning (SOUL) has shared this suicide prevention policy and procedures widely and included 
in the parent/student handbooks. 

This suicide prevention policy is also prominently displayed on the School of Unlimited Learning (SOUL) 
web page. 

Parents/guardians/caregivers are invited to provide input on the development and implementation of 
this policy. Parents/guardians/caregivers are provided crisis resources including the National Suicide 
Prevention Lifeline, Crisis text line, and local crisis hotlines and includes information that 
hotlines/resources are not just for crisis but also for friends/family and referral. 

• All parents/guardians/caregivers have access to suicide prevention training that addresses the
following:

o Suicide warning signs, risk factors, and protective factors
o How to approach and talk with their children about thoughts of suicide
o How to respond appropriately to the youth who has suicidal thoughts

Communication with Parents, Caregivers, and Families: 

Parents, guardians, caregivers, and families play a vital role in the prevention of youth suicide. 

All parents are provided with information on suicide prevention resources including crisis hotlines, local 
warmlines, and also school and community-based supports. If parents, families, and/or caregivers 
identify or suspect a suicide risk, they are strongly encouraged to communicate with appropriate school 
staff (counselor, administration, nurse, school-employed mental health professional, etc.) for assistance. 
The LEA-based mental health professionals are equipped to help identify and support a student at risk of 
suicide and are trained to ensure the safety of all students. This may include collaborating with other 
professionals (primary care doctors, marriage and family therapists, etc.) to develop a course of action 
and/or safety plan. Parents, caregivers, and families are reminded that mental health and academic 
records are kept separately to ensure confidentiality and to help protect the privacy of education 
records. 

Student Participation and Education 

Effective suicide prevention efforts must also include student education and engagement. The School of 
Unlimited Learning (SOUL) and its partners has and will continue to carefully review potential student 
curricula to ensure it includes information on recognizing and responding to signs and symptoms (within 



17 

themselves and friends), learning coping skills, encourage help-seeking behavior and being 
knowledgeable of supports and resources. 

The School of Unlimited learning (SOUL) provides instruction to high school students on general mental 
health and suicide prevention. The instruction is developmentally appropriate, student-centered, and 
includes: 

• Recognizing behaviors (signs and symptoms) of mental health challenges and emotional distress.

• Recognizing life issues (risk factors) associated with suicide and mental health issues in oneself
and others.

• Learning coping strategies for dealing with stress and trauma.

• Learning about protective factors.

• Learning help-seeking strategies for oneself and others, including how to engage school-based
and community resources and refer peers for help.

• Emphasis on reducing the stigma associated with mental illness and the fact that early
prevention and intervention can drastically reduce the risk of suicide.

• Guidance regarding the district’s suicide prevention, intervention, and referral procedures.

The School of Unlimited Learning (SOUL) has shared supports and self-reporting procedures, so students 
are able to seek help if they are experiencing thoughts of suicide or if they recognize signs with peers. 
Although confidentiality and privacy are important, students should understand safety is a priority and if 
there is a risk of suicide, school staff are required to report. School-based mental health professionals 
are legally and ethically required to report suicide risk. When reporting suicidal ideation or an attempt, 
school staff must maintain confidentiality and only share information limited to the risk or attempt. 

The School of Unlimited Learning (SOUL) supports the creation and implementation of programs and/or 
activities on campuses that increase awareness about mental wellness and suicide prevention (e.g., 
Mental Health Awareness Weeks, Peer Counseling Programs, Freshman Success Programs, and National 
Alliance on Mental Illness on Campus High School Clubs [NCHS], and hotline numbers on student 
identification cards). 

Intervention, Screening/Assessment, Referral 

Intervention and Referral for Suicide Screening or Risk Assessment 

The School of Unlimited Learning (SOUL) has developed and disseminated protocols for screening, 
assessing, and referring students who may be experiencing suicidal thoughts and/or behavior. The 
following is included in the protocol: 

● Students experiencing suicidal ideation shall not be left unsupervised; students with ideation or
suicidal behaviors should be respectfully referred to the Counselor.



18 

● Collaboration and communication between the teacher/staff are critical during the supervision,
referral, and assessment processes.

● A referral process is prominently disseminated to all staff members so all know how to respond
to a crisis, refer students for further screening/assessment, understand the safety issues of
escorting a student, and are knowledgeable about school and community-based resources.

● The referral process includes steps to properly coordinate, consult and make a referral to the
local county mental health plan (MHP) on behalf of any student.

● The School of Unlimited Learning (SOUL) has established crisis intervention procedures to
ensure student safety and appropriate communications if a suicide death occurs or an attempt is
made by a student or adult on campus or at a school-sponsored activity.

● The school is required to notify, if appropriate and in the best interest of the student, the
student’s parents/guardians/caregivers as soon as possible and shall refer the student to mental
health resources in the school or community. Determination of notification to
parents/guardians/caregivers should follow a formal initial assessment to ensure that the
student is not endangered by parental notification.

Imminent Danger 

The School of Unlimited Learning (SOUL) recognizes that student safety is a priority. If the student is in 
imminent danger (e.g., has access to a gun, is on a rooftop, or in other unsafe conditions, etc.) staff 
members are required to request assistance from other school staff and call 911. The call shall NOT be 
made in the presence of the student and the student shall not be left unsupervised. Staff shall NOT 
physically restrain or block an exit. 

Parents, Guardians, Caregivers, and Families 

The School of Unlimited Learning (SOUL) has established and widely disseminated a referral process to 
all parents/guardians/caregivers/families, so they are aware of how to respond to a crisis and are 
knowledgeable about protocols and school, community-based, and crisis resources. 

Students 

The School of Unlimited Learning (SOUL) has established and widely disseminated a referral process to 
all students, so they know how to access support through school, community-based, and crisis services. 

Students shall be encouraged to notify a staff member when they are experiencing emotional distress or 
suicidal ideation, or when they have knowledge or concerns of another student’s emotional distress, 
suicidal ideation, or attempt.  

Parental Notification and Involvement 

The School of Unlimited Learning (SOUL) has identified a process for ensuring 
parent/guardian/caregiver/family notification when a student has been screened or screened/assessed 
for suicide risk regardless of outcome (no present risk to high-risk). 



19 

The School of Unlimited Learning (SOUL) has identified a process to ensure continuing care for the 
student identified to have suicidal ideation. The following steps should be followed to ensure continuity 
of care: 

● After a referral is made for a student, school staff are required to verify with the
parent/guardian/caregiver/family that follow-up treatment has been accessed.
Parents/guardians/caregivers/families will be required to provide documentation of care to the
school.

● If parents/guardians/caregivers/families refuse or neglect to access treatment for a student who
has been identified to be at-risk for suicide or in emotional distress, the suicide point of contact
(or other appropriate school or LEA staff member) will meet with the
parents/guardians/caregivers/families to identify barriers to treatment (e.g., cultural stigma,
financial issues), work to rectify the situation, and build understanding of the importance of
care. If follow-up care for the student is still not provided, school staff should consider
contacting Child Protective Services (CPS) to report neglect of the youth.

Action Plan for In-School or During School Sponsored Suicide Attempts 

If a suicide attempt is made during the school day on campus, it is important to remember that the 
health and safety of the student and those around them is critical. The following steps should be 
implemented for a suicide attempt on campus: 

● Remain calm, remember the student is overwhelmed, confused, and emotionally distressed.

● Move all other students out of the immediate area.

● Immediately contact the administrator or suicide prevention liaison.

● Call 911 and give them as much information about any suicide note, medications taken, and
access to weapons, if applicable.

● If needed, provide medical first aid until a medical professional is available.

● Parents/guardians/caregivers/families should be contacted as soon as possible.

● Do not send the student away or leave them alone, even if they need to go to the restroom.

● Listen and prompt the student to talk.

● Review options and resources of people who can help.

● Be comfortable with moments of silence as you and the student will need time to process the
situation.

● Provide comfort to the student.

● Promise privacy and help, and be respectful, but do not promise confidentiality.



20 

● Students should only be released to parents/guardians/caregivers/families or to a person who is
qualified and trained to provide help.

Action Plan for Out-of-School Suicide Attempts 

If a suicide attempt by a student is outside of school property, the following steps should be 
implemented (it is critical for the school to protect the privacy of the student and maintain a confidential 
record of the actions taken to intervene, support, and protect the student): 

● Contact the parents/guardians/caregivers/families and offer support.

● Discuss with the family how they would like the school to respond to the attempt while
minimizing widespread rumors among teachers, staff, and students.

● Obtain permission from the parents/guardians/caregivers/families to share information and
ensure the facts regarding the crisis is correct.

● Provide care and determine appropriate support to affected students.

● Offer to the student and parents/guardians/caregivers/families steps for re-integration to
school.

Re-Entry and Supporting Students after Mental Health Crisis 

Supporting Students after a Mental Health Crisis 

It is crucial that careful steps are taken to help provide the mental health support for the student and to 
monitor their actions for any signs of suicide. The School of Unlimited Learning (SOUL) has determined 
the following steps be implemented after the crisis: 

● Treat every threat with seriousness and approach with a calm manner; make the student a
priority.

● Listen actively and non-judgmentally to the student. Let the student express their feelings.

● Acknowledge the feelings and do not argue with the student.

● Offer hope and let the student know they are safe, and that help is available. Do not promise
confidentiality or cause stress.

● Explain calmly and get the student to a skilled mental health professional or designated staff to
further support the student.

● Keep close contact with the parents/guardians/caregivers/families and mental health
professionals working with the student.



21 

Re-Entry to School After a Suicide Attempt 

A student who has verbalized ideation or attempted suicide is at a higher risk for suicide in the months 
following the crisis. Having a streamlined and well-planned re-entry process ensures the safety and 
wellbeing of students who have previously attempted suicide and reduces the risk of another attempt. 
An appropriate re-entry process is an important component of suicide prevention. Involving students in 
planning for their return to school provides them with a sense of control, personal responsibility, and 
empowerment. 

The School of Unlimited Learning (SOUL) has determined the following steps be implemented upon the 
student’s re-entry: 

● The school or LEA administrator shall obtain a written release of information signed by
parents/guardians/caregivers/families and providers.

● School or LEA-based mental health professionals shall confer with the student and
parents/guardians/caregivers/families about any specific requests on how to handle the
situation.

● School or LEA-based mental health professionals shall confer with the student and
parents/guardians/caregivers/families to develop a safety plan.

● School or LEA-based mental health professionals shall inform the student’s teachers about
possible days of absences.

● Teachers and administrators shall allow accommodations for student to make up work
(understanding that missed assignments may add stress to student).

● Mental health professionals or trusted staff members shall maintain ongoing contact to monitor
student’s actions and mood.

● School or LEA-based mental health professionals shall work with
parents/guardians/caregivers/families to involve the student in an aftercare plan.

● School or LEA-based mental health professionals shall provide
parent’s/guardians/caregivers/families local emergency numbers for after school and weekend
emergency contacts.

Responding After a Suicide Death (Postvention) 

It is important to remember that staff members are likely grieving as well and consider the capacity of 
staff members to engage in sensitive discourse with students. When possible, provide additional 
support to staff to lead conversations in response to suicide deaths. 

A death by suicide of a student or staff member can have devastating consequences on the school 
community. Therefore, it is vital that we are prepared ahead of time in the event of such a tragedy. To 
help the school prepare for postvention, the school has reviewed the American Foundation for Suicide 
Prevention’s (AFSP’s) After a Suicide: A Toolkit for Schools (which can be accessed at the After a Suicide: 



22 

A Toolkit for Schools’ web page here: https://afsp.org/after-a-suicide-a-toolkit-for-schools) to develop 
our own suicide postvention response action plan for responding to a suicide death. This plan 
incorporates both immediate and long-term steps and objectives, including: 

● Identification of a staff member to confirm death and cause (usually school site administrator).

● Identification a staff member (administrator or school-based mental health professional) to
contact deceased’s family (within 24 hours).

● Notification to all staff members (ideally in-person or via phone, not via e-mail or mass
notification).

● Coordinate an all-staff meeting, to include:

o Notification (if not already conducted) to staff about suicide death.

o Emotional support and resources available to staff.

o Notification to students about suicide death and the availability of support services.

o Share limited information and ensure that is relevant and for which you have permission to
disclose. Staff shall not share explicit, graphic, or dramatic content, including the manner of
death.

● Remind and direct staff to respond to needs of students regarding the following:

o Review signs of emotional distress and suicide ideation.
o Review of protocols for referring students for support/assessment.
o Develop and provide supports to staff in responding to student reactions.
o Share school and community-based resources available to students.

● Identify students significantly affected by suicide death and other students that may be
considering imitative behavior.

o Staff shall immediately refer students who they suspect are considering imitative behavior
to an LEA or school-based mental health professional.

o If deemed safe, staff shall contact the students’ parents/guardians/caregivers/families.

● Identify students affected by suicide death but not at risk of imitative behavior.

o Staff shall immediately refer students who are affected by the suicide to a school-based
mental health professional.

o If deemed safe, staff shall contact the students’ parents/guardians/caregivers/families.

● Notification to larger school community about suicide death and the availability of support
services.

https://afsp.org/after-a-suicide-a-toolkit-for-schools


23 

● Consider as appropriate working with the family regarding funeral arrangements for family and
school community.

o If possible, suggest the funeral occur outside of school hours.

o Encourage parents/guardians of students to attend funeral/memorial with their children.

o Request family approval to attend and staff a table for resources to be available at the
funeral, if possible, to remind students and the community of available resources.

o Offer a safe space on campus for students to utilize if needed before/after funeral or
memorial service.

o Acknowledge there may be a high rate of absenteeism on the day of the funeral and school
officials should make appropriate accommodations for staff and students to attend.

● Respond to memorial requests in respectful and non-harmful manner; responses should be
handed in a thoughtful way and their impact on other students should be considered.

● Identify media spokesperson skilled to cover story without the use of explicit, graphic, or
dramatic content (visit https://reportingonsuicide.org/ for recommendations on safe
messaging). Research has proven that sensationalized media coverage can lead to contagious
suicidal behaviors.

● Utilize and respond to social media outlets:

o Identify what platforms students are using to respond to suicide death.
o Identify and encourage staff and students to monitor social media outlets.

● Include long-term suicide postvention responses:

o Consider important dates (i.e., anniversary of death, deceased birthday, graduation, or
other significant events) and how these will be addressed.

o Support siblings, close friends, teachers, and/or students of deceased.

o Consider long-term memorials and how they may impact students who are emotionally
vulnerable and suicidal.

The School of Unlimited Learning (SOUL) believes the practices outlined in this policy will assist in 
reducing the suicidal ideation and attempts of our school community members. As a partner in the 
community, we always welcome feedback and input on our policies and encourage you to share them as 
appropriate. 

https://reportingonsuicide.org/


24 

     SCHOOL OF UNLIMITED LEARNING GOVERNING COUNCIL MEETING 

Recommended Action  

Staff recommend Governing Council approval of Title IX Board Policy.  

Background  

Title IX prohibits discrimination on the basis of sex in education programs or activities 
receiving federal financial assistance. It states that no person experiences sex 
discrimination, including sex-based harassment or sexual violence, in federally funded 
education. 

Fiscal Impact  

Action on this agenda item will have no fiscal impact. 

Date: September 9, 2025 Program: School of Unlimited Learning 

Agenda Item #:  10 Director: Dr. Dion Varnado  

Subject: Title IX Policy Officer:    Jack Lazzarini 



25 
 

Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972 (“Title IX”) prohibits discrimination on the basis of sex in 
any federally funded education program or activity. Sexual harassment, which includes sexual violence, 
is a form of sex discrimination. Fresno EOC’s School of Unlimited Learning, as a recipient of federal 
funds, complies with Title IX and has designated the following individual to serve as the Title IX 
Coordinator: 

 
Rena Failla, Guidance Counselor Coordinator, School of Unlimited 
Learning 559-500-0961 
Rena.failla@fresnoeoc.org 

 
Any student, employee, or applicant for employment or admission to the Fresno EOC’s School of 
Unlimited Learning Charter High School who believes that he or she has been discriminated against on 
the basis of sex, may file a complaint with the Title IX Coordinator. The Title IX Coordinator will assist 
the complainant in identifying the appropriate school policy and corresponding grievance procedure to 
resolve the complaint in a prompt and equitable manner. The Title IX Coordinator may consult with 
Fresno EOC Human Resources, as needed, to resolve the complaint in the most effective manner. 

 
Fresno Economic Opportunities 
Commission 559-263-1070 

 
The following list of rights, as delineated in California Education Code 221.8, are based on the relevant 
provisions of the federal regulations implementing Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972 (20 
U.S.C. Sec. 1681 et seq.). 

(a) You have the right to fair and equitable treatment and you shall not be discriminated against 
based on your sex. 

(b) You have the right to be provided with an equitable opportunity to participate in all 
academic extracurricular activities, including athletics. 

(c) You have the right to inquire of the athletic director of your school as to the athletic opportunities 
offered by the school. 
(d) You have the right to apply for athletic scholarships. 
(e) You have the right to receive equitable treatment and benefits in the provision of all of the following: 

(1) Equipment and supplies. 
(2) Scheduling of games and practices. 
(3) Transportation and daily allowances. 
(4) Access to tutoring. 
(5) Coaching. 
(7) Practice and competitive facilities. 
(9) Publicity. 

(f) You have the right to have access to a gender equity coordinator to answer questions regarding 
gender equity laws. 

(g) You have the right to contact the State Department of Education and the California 
Interscholastic Federation to access information on gender equity laws. 

(h) You have the right to file a confidential discrimination complaint with the United States Office of 
Civil Rights or the State Department of Education if you believe you have been discriminated 
against or if you believe you have received unequal treatment on the basis of your sex. 
(i) You have the right to pursue civil remedies if you have been discriminated against. 
(j) You have the right to be protected against retaliation if you file a discrimination complaint. 

 
More information regarding Title IX rights of pupils and the public, and the responsibilities of the school, can 
be found on the following websites: 
Office for Equal Opportunity: 
https://www.eeoc.gov/eeoc/internal_eeo/ United States Department 
of Education Office of Civil Rights: 
https://www2.ed.gov/about/offices/list/ocr/know.html 

mailto:Rena.failla@fresnoeoc.org
https://www.eeoc.gov/eeoc/internal_eeo/
https://www2.ed.gov/about/offices/list/ocr/know.html


26 

     SCHOOL OF UNLIMITED LEARNING GOVERNING COUNCIL MEETING 

Recommended Action 

Staff recommend Governing Council approval of SOUL’s Bullying/Cyberbullying Prevention 
Policy. 

Background 

California Education Code sections 32261, 32265, 32270, and 48900 define bullying of 
students to include bullying committed by means of an electronic act and authorizes school 
officials to suspend or recommend for expulsion pupils who engage in bullying.  AB 86, 
passed January 1, 2009, gives schools authority to suspend or expel students who engage 
in cyber bullying. Districts are required to develop policy to detect and punish incidents of 
cyber bullying. Penal Code section 528.5, effective Jan. 1, 2011, makes it a crime to create 
fake Facebook or e-mail accounts ("e-personation") for the purpose of bullying someone. 

Fiscal Impact  

Action on this agenda item will have no fiscal impact. 

Date: September 9, 2025 Program: School of Unlimited Learning 

Agenda Item #: 11 Director: Dr. Dion Varnado  

Subject: Bullying/Cyberbullying Prevention 
Policy 

Officer:    Jack Lazzarini 



27 

Bullying/Cyberbullying Prevention Policy 

The School of Unlimited Learning believes that all students have a right to a safe and healthy school 
environment. The district, schools, and community have an obligation to promote mutual respect, 
tolerance, and acceptance. The School of Unlimited Learning will not tolerate behavior that infringes on 
the safety of any student. A student shall not intimidate or harass another student through words or 
actions. Such behavior includes direct physical contact, such as hitting or shoving; verbal assaults, such 
as teasing or name-calling; and social isolation or manipulation. The School of Unlimited Learning 
expects students and/or staff to immediately report incidents of bullying to the principal or designee.  

Staff members are expected to immediately intervene when they see a bullying incident. Each complaint 
of bullying should be promptly investigated. This policy applies to students on school grounds, while 
they are traveling to and from school or a school-sponsored activity off-site, during the lunch period 
whether on or off campus, and during a school-sponsored activity. To ensure bullying does not occur on 
school campuses, the School of Unlimited Learning will provide staff development training in prevention 
of bullying and cultivate acceptance and understanding in all students and staff to develop each school’s 
ability to maintain a safe and healthy learning environment.  

Teachers should discuss this policy with students in ways appropriate to their ages and should assure 
them that they need not endure any form of bullying. Students who bully are in violation of this policy 
and are subject to disciplinary action up to and including expulsion. The School of Unlimited Learning 
has adopted a Student Code of Conduct to be followed by every student while he or she is on school 
grounds, when traveling to and from school or a school sponsored activity, and during lunch period, 
whether on or off campus.  

The Student Code of Conduct includes, but is not limited to, the following actions and consequences: 

• Any student who engages in bullying may be subject to disciplinary action up to and including
expulsion.

• Students are expected to immediately report incidents of bullying to the principal or designee.

• Students can rely on staff to promptly investigate each complaint of bullying in a thorough and
confidential manner. If the complainant student or the parent of the student believes that the
investigation or complaint was not resolved appropriately, the student or the parent of the
student should contact the principal or the school office. The school system prohibits retaliatory
behavior against any complainant or any participant in the complaint process. The procedures
for intervening in bullying behavior include, but are not limited to, the following:

• All staff, students, and parents will receive a summary of the policy prohibiting bullying at the
beginning of the school year, as part of the student handbook and/or information packet, as
part of new student orientation, and as part of the school system’s notification to parents.

• The school will make reasonable efforts to keep confidential a report of bullying and the
results of the investigation.

• Staff members are expected to immediately intervene when they see a bullying incident occur.



28 

• People witnessing or experiencing bullying are encouraged to report the incident; such
reporting will not reflect on the victim or witnesses in any way.

BOARD POLICY: Bullying & Cyber-bullying 

Our school treats student safety as a high priority and does not tolerate bullying of any student. No 
student or group of students shall, through physical, written, verbal, or other means, harass, sexually 
harass, threaten, intimidate, cyber-bully, cause bodily injury to, or commit hate violence against any 
other student or school personnel. 

Cyber-bullying includes the transmission of harassing communications, direct threats, or other harmful 
texts, sounds, or images on the internet, social media, or other technologies using a telephone, 
computer, or any wireless communication device. Cyber-bullying also includes breaking into another 
person’s electronic account and assuming that person’s identity in order to damage that person’s 
reputation.  

Intervention 

Students are encouraged to notify school staff when they are being bullied or suspect that another 
student is being victimized. In addition, school leadership shall develop means for students to report 
threats or incidents confidentially and anonymously. School staff who witness bullying shall immediately 
intervene to stop the incident when it is safe to do so.  

As appropriate, school leadership shall notify the parents/guardians of victims and perpetrators. He/she 
also may involve school counselors, mental health counselors, and/or law enforcement. Students may 
submit to a teacher or administrator a verbal or written complaint of conduct they consider to be 
bullying. When a student is reported to be engaging in bullying off campus, school leadership shall 
investigate and document the activity and shall identify specific facts or circumstances that explain the 
impact or potential impact on school activity, school attendance, or the targeted student’s educational 
performance. 

When circumstances involve cyber-bullying, individuals with information about the activity are 
encouraged to save and print any electronic or digital messages sent to them that they feel constitute 
cyber-bullying and to notify a teacher, the principal, or other employee so that the matter may be 
investigated. If the student is using a social networking site or service that has terms of use that prohibit 
posting harmful material, school leadership also may file a complaint with the internet site or service to 
have the material removed.  

Any student who engages in bullying on school premises, or off campus in a manner that causes or is 
likely to cause a substantial disruption of a school activity or school attendance, shall be subject to 
discipline, which may include suspension or expulsion, in accordance with District policies and 
regulations.  

DEFINITIONS: 



29 

“Bullying” can be exhibited by an intentional physical, psychological, verbal, nonverbal, written, or 
electronic act or series of acts directed at another student or students, which occurs in and/or outside a 
school setting, that is severe, persistent or pervasive, and has the effect of doing any of the following:  

1. Substantial interference with a student’s education.

2. Creation of a threatening and hostile learning environment.

3. Substantial disruption of the orderly operation of the school.

Bullying is characterized by the following three (3) criteria: 

1. It is intentional or deliberate aggressive behavior or harm doing;

2. It is carried out repeatedly over time; and,

3. It occurs within an interpersonal relationship where there is an imbalance of power (e.g., one
(1) person is physically larger, stronger, mentally quicker, or socially more powerful).

Bullying takes many forms and can include a variety of behaviors. Bullying refers to direct or indirect 
action, which may include but is not limited to:  

1. Physical – touching, hitting, kicking, pushing, shoving, getting another person to hurt
someone.

2. Verbal –name-calling, teasing, taunting, gossiping, and spreading rumors.

3. Nonverbal – threatening, intimidation, obscene gestures, isolation, exclusion, stalking, cyber
bullying (bullying that occurs by use of electronic or communication devices through means of
social networking, e-mail, instant messaging, text messages, tweets, blogs, photo and video
sharing, chat rooms, bash boards, or web sites).

“Intimidation” is intentional behavior that would cause fear of injury or harm in a person of ordinary, 
reasonable sensibilities. 

“School setting” means in the school, on school grounds, in school vehicles, at a designated bus stop, in 
transit to and from school or at any off-site activity sponsored, supervised or sanctioned by the school. 

“Electronic communication” means a communication transmitted by means of an electronic or 
communication device, including, but not limited to, a telephone, cellular phone, or computer. 

“Harassment” is unwelcome verbal, written, graphic or physical conduct relating to an individual's 
gender, age, race, color, sexual orientation (known or perceived), gender identity expression (known or 
perceived), national origin, religion, disability, English language proficiency, socioeconomic status and/or 
political beliefs. Harassment does not have to include intent to harm, be directed at a specific target, or 
involve repeated incidents. A single incident of harassment may implicate more than one protected 
class. For example, a student may be targeted because of his race and sexual orientation.  

Harassment can create a hostile environment when it: 



30 

1. Is sufficiently severe, persistent or pervasive that it affects an individual's ability to participate
in or benefit from an educational program or activity or creates an intimidating, threatening or
abusive educational environment;

2. Has the purpose or effect of substantially or unreasonably interfering with a student's
education; or

3. Otherwise adversely affects an individual's learning opportunities, health, safety or well-
being. “Sexual harassment” is unwelcome conduct of a sexual nature. Sexual harassment can
include unwelcome sexual advances, requests for sexual favors, and other verbal, nonverbal, or
physical conduct of a sexual nature.

PROCEDURES:  

STEP 1: Prevention 

All schools will implement procedures to prevent and mitigate acts of bullying, harassment, and 
intimidation.  

1. Each school principal will provide an annual review and offer professional development to all
teachers and the entire school staff on the prevention, identification, reporting, investigation
and resolution of allegations of bullying and harassment.

2. Schools will inform students and parents/guardians that bullying, and harassment will not be
tolerated. Student training shall include the definitions of bullying and harassment, examples of
bullying and harassment, the reporting process, and consequences of participating in bullying
and harassment towards students and staff.

3. Schools will inform students and parents/guardians about the availability and use of the
Bullying and Harassment Reporting and Investigation Form during parent advisory meetings,
and through appropriate school communication (i.e., school web site, parent/student
handbook).

4. Bullying and Harassment Reporting and Investigation Forms (blank forms only) will be
available in the main office and other locations in each school.

5. Bullying and Harassment Reporting and Investigation Forms (blank forms only) will be
available on the District’s website and in the Parent Resource Centers.

STEP 2: Reporting 

A student or his/her parent/guardian or third party who believes s/he has been subjected to bullying 
and harassment is encouraged to immediately report the incident to the building principal or designee, 
or to any other member of the school staff, including teachers, guidance counselors, student support 
counselors, coaches, and administrators.  

The complainant or reporting employee is encouraged to use the Bullying and Harassment Reporting 
and Investigation Form, but oral and electronic complaints shall be acceptable. The principal or designee 
shall complete the Form if the complainant chooses to make an oral or electronic report.  



31 

All reports will be documented using the Bullying and Harassment Reporting and Investigation Form. 
Reports will be promptly and appropriately investigated by the principal or principal’s designee, 
consistent with the students’ due process rights, using the Bullying and Harassment Reporting and 
Investigation Form, within two (2) school days after receipt of the report.  

STEP 3: Investigation 

Principals or the principal’s designee will determine whether bullying or harassment occurred by taking 
the following steps:  

1. The investigation should consist of individual interviews with the complainant, the accused,
and others with knowledge relative to the incident. The investigator may also evaluate any other
information and materials relevant to the investigation.

2. The investigator shall attempt to secure statements from all participants in, and witnesses to,
the incident(s). The complainant shall not be required to meet face-to-face with the accused.

3. When a student with limited English proficiency is a party to a complaint, interpretation
and/or translation services shall be provided. The limited English proficiency of a complainant,
witness, or the accused is not an acceptable reason for failure to secure a statement from him
or her.

4. Inform the complainant that s/he may be accompanied by a parent/guardian during all steps
of the complaint procedure.

5. Ensure that complainants are notified of available resources, such as counseling, health, and
mental health services, and their right to file a complaint with local law enforcement.

6. Notify the complainant and the accused of the progress at appropriate stages of the
investigation.

7. Refer the complainant to the Superintendent if the building principal is the subject of the
report or complaint.

8. In cases involving potential criminal conduct, determine whether appropriate law
enforcement authorities should be notified.

9. Document findings from the investigation and actions taken on the Bullying and Harassment
Reporting and Investigation Form.

10. The obligation to conduct this investigation shall not be negated by the fact that a criminal
investigation of the incident is pending or has been concluded.

11. The obligation to conduct this investigation shall not be negated by the fact that the
complainant cannot identify the accused.

12. If bullying or harassment creates imminent danger or qualifies as a violation of the Code of
Student Conduct, notify the Superintendent and CEO immediately.

13. If the investigation determines that the accused engaged in conduct that constitutes a
violation of this policy, the principal or the principal’s designee shall take prompt and effective



32 

steps reasonably calculated to end the bullying or harassment, eliminate any hostile 
environment and its effects, and prevent the harassment from recurring.  

14. The Principal will submit a copy of the completed Bullying and Harassment Reporting and
Investigation Form to the School of Unlimited Learning office within 24 hours of the completion
of the investigation.

15. Copies of the forms must be maintained in the principal’s confidential file. These forms are
not to be filed in the student’s pupil pocket.

STEP 4: Parental Notification 

If the bullying or harassment is substantiated, the principal or principal’s designee will communicate 
with the parents/guardians of the victim and offender(s), and take the following steps:  

1. The parent/guardian of the victim will be informed of the specific steps that the school will
take to intervene in the reported behaviors, monitor future conduct, and protect the victim
from reprisal or retaliation.

2. The parent/guardian of the victim may be invited to participate in the development of an
intervention plan for their child.

3. The parent/guardian of the offender will be informed of the specific steps that the
school will take to intervene in the reported behaviors and monitor future conduct, as well as 
the proposed consequences as stipulated in the Code of Student Conduct.  

4. The parent/guardian of the offender may be invited to participate in the development of an
intervention plan for their child. The intervention plan must be documented.

5. The parents/guardians of the victim and offender(s) will be provided with a copy of the
intervention plan developed for their child. The intervention plan must be documented.

STEP 5: Behavioral Interventions 

School must provide intervention and support to victims, offenders, and/or bystanders to address acts 
of bullying and harassment. Suggested interventions include, but are not limited to, the following 
actions:  

1. Parent/student conferences;

2. One-to-one counseling for the victim, offender, and/or bystander with appropriate
professional staff;

3. Positive behavioral supports, such as, functional behavioral assessments and check in/check
out;

4. Increased adult supervision in hot spot areas and during transition times (e.g., admission and
dismissal, classroom changes, lunch, recess);

5. Social skills training, including role playing;

6. Positive incentives and reinforcements for appropriate or improved behavior;



33 

7. Development of a safety plan for the victim; and

8. Daily report.

STEP 6: Disciplinary action 

While all incidents of bullying and harassment require student interventions, some incidents may 
require disciplinary action/consequences for the offender(s). Appropriate disciplinary 
action/consequences for persons committing acts of bullying and harassment, for persons engaged in 
reprisal or retaliation, and for persons found to have made false accusations should be applied, when 
appropriate, after the investigation has determined that such an offense has occurred. The disciplinary 
action/consequences may vary depending on the severity of the bullying and harassment. A range of 
disciplinary actions/consequences may be found in the Code of Student Conduct.  

STEP 7: Follow-up 

1. Separate conferences for the victim and offender(s) will occur within ten (10) school days
after the conclusion of the investigation to ensure that the bullying and harassment has ceased,
and to determine whether there is a need for additional intervention or support. Individual
conferences may occur as part of the progress monitoring of the intervention plan.

2. A second conference will be held with the victim four (4) weeks after the initial conference to
ensure that the bullying and harassment has ceased.



34 

     SCHOOL OF UNLIMITED LEARNING GOVERNING COUNCIL MEETING 

Recommended Action  

Staff recommend Governing Council approval of SOUL’s Body Shaming Prevention Policy. 

Background  

California law Assembly Bill (AB) 10 requires all public and charter schools to adopt anti-
body shaming policies to protect students from negative comments and stigma about body 
size, shape, weight, or appearance. The California Department of Education (CDE) has 
created resources to help schools implement these requirements, which include promoting 
respect for diverse bodies, offering professional development for staff, and establishing 
prevention and response protocols for body shaming incidents. 

Fiscal Impact  

Action on this agenda item will have no fiscal impact. 

Date: September 9, 2025 Program: School of Unlimited Learning 

Agenda Item #:  12 Director: Dr. Dion Varnado  

Subject: Body Shaming Prevention Policy Officer: Jack Lazzarini 



35 

Body Shaming Prevention Policy 
Policy Statement: SOUL is committed to cultivating a school environment where every 
individual feels valued, accepted and safe. Body shaming in any form is strictly prohibited. 
This includes, but is not limited to, unsolicited verbal comments, non-verbal gestures, and 
digital content that mock, stigmatize, or draw attention to an individual’s physical appearance 
in a manner that is perceived as negative regardless of the intent. 

Scope: SOUL will protect the mental and emotional well-being of all students and staff, 
recognizing the impact body shaming has on school climate, relationships and learning. This 
will apply to all members of the SOUL community including students, staff, faculty, 
administrators, families and visitors and during all school activities. Body shaming may 
intersect with bullying, sexual harassment or other forms of discrimination. 

Prevention Strategies: SOUL is committed to fostering a safe, respectful and inclusive 
learning environment by preventing and addressing body shaming in all its forms. To prevent 
body shaming and provide a culture of belonging, SOUL will promote identity-affirming and 
culturally responsive practices in all classrooms. Body positivity and messages that promote 
respect for all bodies will be integrated into health and wellness education. Ongoing 
professional development for staff will include understanding the signs, impacts and system 
roots of body shaming, how to intervene in harmful behaviors, modeling inclusive language 
and respectful engagement, and engaging in reflective practices related to personal bias and 
self-awareness. 

Reporting and Response: Anyone who experiences or witnesses body shaming is 
encouraged to report to SOUL’s confidential and accessible reporting system for students and 
staff. All reports will be taken seriously and investigated promptly. Consequences for 
engaging in body shaming will follow the school’s discipline policy and may include restorative 
practices, counseling or other appropriate interventions. This policy will be reviewed regularly 
with input from students, staff and families. 

Student Supports and Resources: Students affected by body shaming will have access to 
school counselors and mental health resources. SOUL will partner with families to provide 
additional support as needed. Staff will receive guidance on making referrals for students 
impacted by body shaming. 

Monitoring and Evaluation: This policy will be reviewed annually and updated in accordance 
with state guidelines along with input from the school community. Updates will also consider 
data on reported incidents and outcomes. This policy will be posted on the school’s website 
and shared through parent/student orientations, staff meetings and school assemblies. It will 
be made available in multiple languages as needed. 



36 

   SCHOOL OF UNLIMITED LEARNING GOVERNING COUNCIL MEETING 

Recommended Action  

Staff recommend Governing Council approval SOUL’s 2025-2026 Parent Involvement Policy. 

Background 

As a requirement for Title I funding, each year SOUL updates its Annual Parent Involvement 
Policy, which stipulates times and dates, for parent meetings throughout the year. Attached is 
the 2025-26 SOUL Parent Involvement Policy, which outlines SOUL’s proposed parent 
meeting schedule for the current school year.  

In accordance with Federal Title 1 requirements, and the new criteria for the Local Control 
and Accountability Plan, SOUL’s written parent involvement policy describes how SOUL 
involves parents to improve student academic achievement and school performance. The 
Parent Involvement Policy includes a variety of ways that parents can become actively involved 
in their child’s educational experience at SOUL. 

Fiscal Impact  

Action on this agenda item will have no fiscal impact. 

Date: September 9, 2025 Program: School of Unlimited Learning 

Agenda Item #: 13 Director: Dr. Dion Varnado 

Subject: 2025-2026 Parent Involvement           
Policy  

Officer:    Jack Lazzarini 



37 

Approved by the School of Unlimited Learning Governing Council 
Rationale 

In accordance with Federal Title 1 requirements, the School of Unlimited Learning has developed a written parent 
involvement policy, which describes how SOUL involves parents to improve student academic achievement and 
school performance. The Parent Involvement Policy includes a variety of ways that parents can become actively 
involved in their child’s educational experience at SOUL. The Parent Involvement Policy is designed to help build 
the schools and parent’s capacity for increased parent involvement. In the spring of each year, SOUL will conduct 
an annual review of the content and effectiveness of its parent involvement policy. SOUL will use those findings to 
develop additional opportunities for parental involvement that will lead to increased student academic success. 

School Description 
The School of Unlimited Learning, or SOUL, is a public charter school serving Fresno’s youth, grades 9 
through 12. The private not-for-profit Fresno Economic Opportunities Commission operates the school in 
partnership with the Fresno Unified School District. The Fresno Economic Opportunities Commission is one of 
the nation’s leading community action agencies established to help individuals and families become self- 
sufficient. The Fresno Unified School District’s Board of Trustees approved the school’s charter petition on 
March 26, 1998. The Fresno Economic Opportunities Commission established this charter school to provide 
enhanced educational opportunities for students at risk of not completing high school. The State Board of 
Education approved the charter in July of 1998. 

Annual Approval 
Each year, after being reviewed by parents in the spring, the SOUL’s Parent Involvement Policy is submitted 
for review and approval each September to the School of Unlimited Learning Governing Council. Once 
approved, the plan is distributed to parents and reviewed at the first scheduled parent meeting after the 
Governing Council. 

PARENT INVOLVEMENT GOALS 

• Parents play a crucial role in the joint development of a plan for continuous school
improvement

• Positive working relationship exists between educators and parents.
• Close communication exists between school and home.
• Strong parent involvement is evident through attendance and participation at school- 

sponsored events.
• Parents are viewed as a vital component to the academic success of their students.

Rights of Parents 
1. To expect that their child will spend time at school in a safe, wholesome stimulating atmosphere engaged in

productive activity under the care and direction of a dedicated staff.
2. To be assured that school personnel will at no time preempt parental prerogative.
3. To be informed of district policy, school rules, and regulations.
4. To review their child’s record with a certificated staff member. To be informed, in regards to, schools receiving

Title 1 funds of their right to request information regarding the professional qualifications of their child’s teacher.
Also, any school that has been identified for Program Improvement or Corrective Action must promptly notify
parents regarding an explanation of the identification as well as other requirements specified in the Act.

PARENT INVOLVEMENT 



38 

Responsibilities of Parents 
1. To visit the school periodically to participate in conferences with teachers, counselors, or

administrators regarding the academic, attendance and behavioral status of their child.
2. To support their child by ensuring that he/she receives adequate sleep, nutrition, and appropriate

clothing before coming to school.
3. To apply and maintain consistent and adequate restraints in regards to their child’s overall behavior and

to
approve of reasonable behavioral guidelines as applied by school personnel.

4. To cooperate with the school in bringing about improvements designed to enhance the educational
program offered students.

5. To provide the school with current information regarding legal address, phone, medical data, and
other facts, which may help the school to serve their child.

6.  

PARENT INVOLVEMENT OPPORTUNITIES 

Parental involvement is not a requirement for acceptance to, or continued enrollment at, the Charter 
School. [Ref. Education Code Section 47605(n)] 

SOUL Governing Council 
Parent involvement is essential to the success of the School of Unlimited Learning. Parent and 
student representatives will be offered to participate in the School Site Governing Council. 

2025-2026 Parent Meetings 

1. Welcome Back Bash!
• August 27 4:00-6:00 PM

2. Fall Informational Parent Meeting
• September 18, 2025 3:00-4:00 PM

3. Career Readiness Parent Meeting
• November 20, 2025 3:00-4:00 PM

4. Winter Wonderland Event
• December 5, 2025 2:00-4:00 PM

5. LCAP Review, Grand Re-Opening & Fall Awards Assembly
• February 12, 2025- Time TBD

6. Spring Informational Meeting
• March 25, 2025-Time TBD

7. Spring Awards Assembly
• June 5, 2025 -Time TBD



39 

2025-2026 FAFSA Workshops: 

• September 12, 2025 - 3:00-4:00 PM
• October 24, 2025 - 3:00-4:00 PM
• January 30, 2025 - 3:00-4:00 PM
• February 20, 2025 - 3:00-4:00 PM
• March 20, 2025 - 3:00-4:00 PM

2025-2026 Fresno City College Meetings: 

• FCC Senior Parent Meeting:
o September 18, 2025  3:00-4:00 PM

• FCC Applications:
o October 7, 2025 12:30-3:00 PM

• FCC Advising:
o October 14, 2025 1:00-4:00 PM



40 

SCHOOL OF UNLIMITED LEARNING GOVERNING COUNCIL MEETING 

Date: September 9, 2025 Program: School of Unlimited Learning 

Agenda Item #: 14 Director: Dr. Dion Varnado 

Subject: 2025-26 Professional Development 
Plan 

Officer: Jack Lazzarini 

Recommended Action 

Staff recommend Governing Council approval of SOUL’s Professional Development Plan. 

Background 

Consistent with its charter goals and identified Western Association of Schools and Colleges 
(WASC) Action Plan, the School of Unlimited Learning creates an annual professional 
development plan each school year. The Plan is designed to help teachers increase student 
learning and the number of SOUL graduates. All proposed professional development 
activities are supported through eligible Federal Title I and Title II funds. SOUL’s professional 
development plan specifically addresses one or more of the following charter goals: 

• All students will demonstrate growth toward grade level in Reading and Math
• School will provide engagement opportunities for students and educational partners and

promote a positive school environment to encourage student success.
• SOUL students will have access to develop skills and knowledge necessary to be

responsible and productive citizens post-graduation.

Fiscal Impact 

Funding from SOUL’s Title II allocation, as well as 10% of SOUL’s Title IA allocation is set 
aside for Development activities as delineated in the 2025-2026 Professional Development 
Plan 



2025-2026  
Professional Development Calendar 

41 

August 2025 
Monday Tuesday Wednesday Thursday Friday 

1. 

4. 5. 6. 7. 8. 

11. 
All Staff Training  
(8:00 AM – 4:00 
PM)  

12.  
Teachers Literacy, 
ELD & SpEd 
Training  
(8:00 AM – 4:00 
PM) 

13.  
Teachers Literacy, 
ELD & SpEd 
Training  
(8:00 AM – 4:00 
PM) 

14. 
Teachers Literacy, 
ELD & SpEd 
Training  
(8:00 AM – 4:00 
PM) 

15. 
Teachers Literacy, 
ELD & SpEd 
Training  
(8:00 AM – 4:00 
PM) 

18. 

First Day of 
School! 

19. 20. 21. 22. 

25. 

PLC 
(2:45 PM – 4:00 
PM) 

26. 27. 28. 29.



2025-2026  
Professional Development Calendar 

42 

September 2025 
Monday Tuesday Wednesday Thursday Friday 

1. 

PLC 
(2:45 PM – 4:00 
PM) 

2. 

Instructional 
Strategies  
(3:45 - 5:00 PM) 

3. 4. 

Instructional 
Strategies  
(3:45 - 5:00 PM) 

5. 

8. 

Teachers Literacy, 
ELD & SpEd 
Training  
(8:00 AM – 4:00 
PM) 

9. 

Instructional 
Strategies  
(3:45 - 5:00 PM) 

10. 11. 

Instructional 
Strategies  
(3:45 - 5:00 PM) 

12. 

15. 

DA Improvement 
Team Meeting- 
2:45 – 4:30 PM 

16. 

Instructional 
Strategies  
(3:45 - 5:00 PM) 

17. 

Teachers Literacy, 
ELD & SpEd 
Training  
(8:00 AM – 4:00 
PM) 

18. 

Instructional 
Strategies  
(3:45 - 5:00 PM) 

19. 

22. 23. 

Instructional 
Strategies  
(3:45 - 5:00 PM) 

24. 25. 

Instructional 
Strategies  
(3:45 - 5:00 PM) 

26. 

29. 30. 

Instructional 
Strategies  
(3:45 - 5:00 PM) 



2025-2026  
Professional Development Calendar 

43 

October 2025 

Monday Tuesday Wednesday Thursday Friday 

1. 2. 

Instructional 
Strategies  
(3:45 - 5:00 PM) 

3. 

6. 

PLC 
(2:45 PM – 4:00 
PM) 

7. 

Instructional 
Strategies  
(3:45 - 5:00 PM) 

8. 

Teachers Literacy, 
ELD & SpEd 
Training  
(8:00 AM – 4:00 
PM) 

9. 

Instructional 
Strategies  
(3:45 - 5:00 PM) 

10. 

13. 14. 

Instructional 
Strategies  
(3:45 - 5:00 PM) 

15. 16. 

Instructional 
Strategies  
(3:45 - 5:00 PM) 

17. 

(BUY BACK DAY – 
NO STUDENTS) 

Teachers Literacy, 
ELD & SpEd 
Training  
(8:00 AM – 4:00 
PM) 

20. 

DA Improvement 
Team Meeting- 
2:45 – 4:30 PM 

21. 

Instructional 
Strategies  
(3:45 - 5:00 PM) 

22. 23. 

Instructional 
Strategies  
(3:45 - 5:00 PM) 

24. 

27. 28. 

Instructional 
Strategies  
(3:45 - 5:00 PM) 

29. 30. 

Instructional 
Strategies  
(3:45 - 5:00 PM) 

31.



2025-2026  
Professional Development Calendar 

44 

November 2025 
Monday Tuesday Wednesday Thursday Friday 

3. 

PLC 
(2:45 PM – 4:00 
PM) 

4. 

Instructional 
Strategies  
(3:45 - 5:00 PM) 

5. 6. 

Teachers Literacy, 
ELD & SpEd 
Training  
(8:00 AM – 4:00 
PM) 

Instructional 
Strategies  
(3:45 - 5:00 PM) 

7. 

10. 

VETERAN’S DAY – 
NO SCHOOL  

11. 

Instructional 
Strategies  
(3:45 - 5:00 PM) 

12. 13. 

Teachers Literacy, 
ELD & SpEd 
Training  
(8:00 AM – 4:00 
PM) 

Instructional 
Strategies  
(3:45 - 5:00 PM) 

14. 

17. 

DA Improvement 
Team Meeting- 
2:45 – 4:30 PM 

18. 

Instructional 
Strategies  
(3:45 - 5:00 PM) 

19. 20. 

Instructional 
Strategies  
(3:45 - 5:00 PM) 

21. 

24. 25. 26. 27. 28. 

Thanksgiving Break! 



2025-2026  
Professional Development Calendar 

45 

December 2025 
Monday Tuesday Wednesday Thursday Friday 

1. 

PLC 
(2:45 PM – 4:00 
PM) 

2. 

Instructional 
Strategies  
(3:45 - 5:00 PM) 

3. 4. 

Instructional 
Strategies  
(3:45 - 5:00 PM) 

5. 

8. 9. 

Instructional 
Strategies  
(3:45 - 5:00 PM) 

10. 

Teachers Literacy, 
ELD & SpEd 
Training  
(8:00 AM – 4:00 
PM) 

11. 

Instructional 
Strategies  
(3:45 - 5:00 PM) 

12. 

15. 16. 

Instructional 
Strategies  
(3:45 - 5:00 PM) 

17. 18. 

Teachers Literacy, 
ELD & SpEd 
Training  
(8:00 AM – 4:00 
PM) 

Instructional 
Strategies  
(3:45 - 5:00 PM) 

19. 

22. 23. 24. 25. 26. 

29. 30. 31. 

Winter Break! 

Winter Break! 



2025-2026  
Professional Development Calendar 

46 

January 2026 
Monday Tuesday Wednesday Thursday Friday 

1. 2. 

5. 6. 7. 8. 9. 

12. 

PLC 
(2:45 PM – 4:00 
PM) 

13. 

Instructional 
Strategies  
(3:45 - 5:00 PM) 

14. 15. 

Instructional 
Strategies  
(3:45 - 5:00 PM) 

16. 

19. 

M.L. KING JR. DAY-  
NO SCHOOL

20. 

Instructional 
Strategies  
(3:45 - 5:00 PM) 

21. 22. 

Instructional 
Strategies  
(3:45 - 5:00 PM) 

23. 

26. 

DA Improvement 
Team Meeting- 
2:45 – 4:30 PM 

27. 

Instructional 
Strategies  
(3:45 - 5:00 PM) 

28. 29. 

Instructional 
Strategies  
(3:45 - 5:00 PM) 

30. 

Winter Break! 

Winter Break! 



2025-2026  
Professional Development Calendar 

47 

February 2026 
Monday Tuesday Wednesday Thursday Friday 

2. 

PLC 
(2:45 PM – 4:00 
PM) 

3. 

Instructional 
Strategies  
(3:45 - 5:00 PM) 

4. 5. 

Instructional 
Strategies  
(3:45 - 5:00 PM) 

6. 

9. 

LINCOLN’S 
BIRTHDAY- 
NO SCHOOL 

10. 

Instructional 
Strategies  
(3:45 - 5:00 PM) 

11. 12. 

Instructional 
Strategies  
(3:45 - 5:00 PM) 

13. 

16. 

PRESIDENT’S DAY-  
NO SCHOOL 

17. 

Instructional 
Strategies  
(3:45 - 5:00 PM) 

18. 19. 

Instructional 
Strategies  
(3:45 - 5:00 PM) 

20. 

23. 

DA Improvement 
Team Meeting- 
2:45 – 4:30 PM 

24. 

Instructional 
Strategies  
(3:45 - 5:00 PM) 

25. 26. 

Instructional 
Strategies  
(3:45 - 5:00 PM) 

27.



2025-2026  
Professional Development Calendar 

48 

March 2026 
Monday Tuesday Wednesday Thursday Friday 

2. 

PLC 
(2:45 PM – 4:00 
PM) 

3. 

Instructional 
Strategies  
(3:45 - 5:00 PM) 

4. 5. 

Instructional 
Strategies  
(3:45 - 5:00 PM) 

6. 

9. 10. 

Instructional 
Strategies  
(3:45 - 5:00 PM) 

11. 12. 

Instructional 
Strategies  
(3:45 - 5:00 PM) 

13. 

(BUY BACK DAY – 
NO STUDENTS) 

Teachers Literacy, 
ELD & SpEd 
Training  
(8:00 AM – 4:00 
PM) 

16. 17. 

Instructional 
Strategies  
(3:45 - 5:00 PM) 

18. 19. 

Instructional 
Strategies  
(3:45 - 5:00 PM) 

20. 

23. 24. 

Instructional 
Strategies  
(3:45 - 5:00 PM) 

25. 26. 

Instructional 
Strategies  
(3:45 - 5:00 PM) 

27. 

30. 31. 

Spring Break! 



2025-2026  
Professional Development Calendar 

49 

April 2026 
Monday Tuesday Wednesday Thursday Friday 

1. 2. 3. 

6. 7. 8. 9. 10. 

13. 
PLC 
(2:45 PM – 4:00 
PM) 

DA Improvement 
Team Meeting- 
2:45 – 4:30 PM 

14. 15. 16. 17. 

20. 21. 22. 23. 24. 

27. 28. 29. 30. 

Spring 
Break! 

Spring Break! 



2025-2026  
Professional Development Calendar 

50 

May 2026 
Monday Tuesday Wednesday Thursday Friday 

1. 

4. 

PLC 
(2:45 PM – 4:00 
PM) 

5. 6. 7. 8. 

11. 12. 13. 14. 15. 

18. 19. 20. 21. 22. 

25. 

MEMORIAL DAY-  
NO SCHOOL 

26. 27. 28. 29.



2025-2026  
Professional Development Calendar 

51 

June 2026 

Monday Tuesday Wednesday Thursday Friday 

1. 

PLC 
(2:45 PM – 4:00 
PM) 

2. 3. 4. 5. 

8. 9. 10. 11. 12. 

15. 16. 17. 18. 19. 

Last Day of School! 

22. 23. 24. 25. 26. 

29. 30.



52 

   SCHOOL OF UNLIMITED LEARNING GOVERNING COUNCIL MEETING 

Recommended Action 

Staff recommends Governing Council approval of SOUL’s 2025-2026 Student Parent 
Handbook 

 Background  

The Student & Parent Handbook is reviewed, updated and adopted annually. 

Fiscal Impact  

Action on this agenda item will have no fiscal impact. 

Date: September 9, 2025 Program: School of Unlimited Learning 

Agenda Item #: 15 Director: Dr. Dion Varnado 

Subject: 2025-26 Student & Parent Handbook  Officer:  Jack Lazzarini 



53 

SCHOOL OF UNLIMITED LEARNING 

2025-2026 

Student & Parent Handbook 
2336 Calaveras Street 

Fresno, CA 93721 
(559) 500-1352



54 

Fresno Economic Opportunities Commission’s 
School of Unlimited Learning 

A PUBLIC CHARTER SCHOOL 

Chartered through Fresno Unified School District 

and 

fully accredited by the Western Association of Schools and Colleges 

Administered by 

Steven R. Lewis, Chief Executive Officer 
Jack Lazzarini, Programs Officer 

Dion Varnado ED.D, Principal/Academic Officer 

Approved by SOUL Governing Council 



55 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

SCHOOL OF UNLIMITED LEARNING GOVERNING COUNCIL . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3 

FRESNO EOC BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3 

STAFF AND FACULTY . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4 

SCHOOL DESCRIPTION . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5 

MISSION . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5 

VISION . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5 

EXPECTED SCHOOLWIDE LEARNING RESULTS . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6 

2025 – 2026 SCHOOL CALENDAR . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 8 

2025 – 2026 BELL SCHEDULE . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 9 

GRADUATION REQUIREMENTS . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 10 

COURSE OFFERINGS . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 11 

SPECIALIZED COURSE OFFERINGS . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 15 
Standardized Testing and Reporting Program 
Final Exams/Grades ............................................................................................... 17 

HYBRID LEARNING . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 18 

CSAL/SPORTS PROGRAM............................................................................................... 19 

INDEPENDENT STUDY . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. . . . . . . . . . . . . 20 
Personalized Attendance 
Personalized Study Credits 

SPECIAL EDUCATION SERVICES . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 25 

COLLEGE ENTRANCE INFORMATION ............................................................................ 25 

COUNSELING AND CASE MANAGEMENT SERVICES .................................................... 26 

FRESNO EOC PROGRAMS AND SERVICES ................................................................... 26 

PARENT & STUDENT INVOLVEMENT ............................................................................. 27 
Rights of Parents 
Responsibilities of Parents 
Parent Involvement Opportunities 
Rights of Students 
Responsibilities of Students 
Student Concerns 



56 

RULES, REGULATIONS & POLICIES ............................................................................... 29 

ATTENDANCE POLICY (Classroom-Based Program) . . . . . . . .. . . . . . . .. . . . . . . . . 29 

SATURDAY MORNING/WEDNESDAY EVENING SCHOOL .............................................. 30 

TRUANCY PROCEDURES & CONSEQUENCES . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 31 

DISCIPLINE RULES AND REGULATIONS . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 31 

DISCIPLINE POLICY . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 34 

LIABILITY OF PARENT OR GUARDIAN FOR WILLFUL PUPIL MISCONDUCT . . . 35 

DISCIPLINARY ACTION . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 36 

SUSPENSION/EXPULSION. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 37 

CLOSED CAMPUS POLICY  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . … . 40 

HARASSMENT POLICY . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 42 

BODY SHAMING PREVENTION POLICY 43 

DRESS CODE . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 44 

TAGGING POLICY . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 45 

LOCAL WELLNESS POLICY . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 46 

COMPUTER/INTERNET USE POLICY . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 48 
Use Agreement and Release of Agency From Liability (Students) 

EMERGENCY PROCEDURES .......................................................................................... 51 

STUDENT HEALTH & MEDICAL PROCEDURES .............................................................. 53 

CONCLUSION .................................................................................................................. 55 



57 

SCHOOL OF UNLIMITED LEARNING 
GOVERNING COUNCIL 

TERRY ALLEN ED.D., COUNCIL CHAIR  DION VARNADO, ED.D. 

BENITA WASHINGTON, COUNCIL VICE-CHAIR SANDY LOMELINO 

JIMI RODGERS, COUNCIL SECRETARY  COURTNEY GRIFFIN 

JEANNE STARKS  RENA FAILLA 

JULIO ROMERO Parent Representative 

BRUCE MCALISTER Student Representative 

DEBRA MCKENZIE Student Representative 

PATRICK TURNER 
LARRY METZLER 

FRESNO ECONOMIC OPPORTUNITIES 
BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

OLIVER BAINES, BOARD CHAIR BRUCE MCALISTER 

JOAQUIN ARAMBULA BARIGYE MCCOY 

ALYSIA BONNER DEBRA MCKENZIE 

EARL BROWN LISA MITCHELL 

ELIZABETH BUCKLEY LAUREN NIKKEL 

CHARLES GARABEDIAN, JR. ALENA PACHECO 

BRIAN KING ROBERT PIMENTEL 

REY LEON JIMI RODGERS 

DIANE LIRA MATT ROGERS 

LUIS MARTINEZ DAVID RUIZ 

STEVEN TAYLOR 



58 

STAFF AND FACULTY 2025/2026 

Dion Varnado, ED.D Principal/Chief Academic Officer 
Sandy Lomelino Vice-Principal 
Rena Failla Guidance Counseling Coordinator 
Courtney Griffin Guidance Dean 

Teachers 

Luis Baca Science 
Meghan Ballard Science/Health 
Gladys Banda Teacher on Special Assignment 
Michael Cantu English 
Kienan Clewis English 
Martin Mendez Spanish 
Yunhua (Mary) Moreno Math 
Zachary Reinhold Social Science 
Shannon Sani Math 
Johnny Vasquez Physical Education 
Andrew Williams Social Science 

Support Staff 

Patricia Billeadeau Student Resource and Data Specialist 
Carlos Custodio Maintenance 
Allison Nakazawa Registrar 
Michael Potts School Services Technician 
Gloria Rodriguez Receptionist/Home School Liaison 
Esperanza Trevino Tutor 
Mong Vang Case Manager 
Nidia Vargas College and Career Advisor 
Marilyn Wheeler Senior Administrative Assistant 



59 

A PUBLIC CHARTER SCHOOL 
Administered by the Fresno Economic Opportunities Commission 

DESCRIPTION 

The School of Unlimited Learning, or SOUL, is a public charter school serving Fresno’s youth, grades 9 
through 12. The private not-for-profit Fresno Economic Opportunities Commission operates the school in 
partnership with the Fresno Unified School District. The Fresno Economic Opportunities Commission is one 
of the nation’s leading community action agencies established to help individuals and families become self- 
sufficient. The Fresno Unified School District’s Board of Trustees approved the school’s charter petition on 
March 26, 1998. The Fresno Economic Opportunities Commission established this charter school to provide 
enhanced educational opportunities for students at risk of not completing high school. The State Board of 
Education approved the Charter in July of 1998. 

SOUL offers a classroom -based program, as well as an Individualized Learning program. Both programs, 
along with SOUL’s administrative offices, are located at 2336 Calaveras, Fresno, CA 92721. 

MISSION 

The mission of the School of Unlimited Learning is to provide holistic learning experiences in a manner and 
environment that enables students to obtain the skills, knowledge, and motivation to be self-directed, life-long 
learners as they mature towards adult self-sufficiency. 

VISION 

The vision for the Fresno Economic Opportunities Commission School of Unlimited Learning is for the 
student to be a self-directed learner, a collaborative worker, and a complex thinker who is equipped with the 
skills and self-confidence to be productive and self-sufficient as an adult through work and community 
service. The academic focus is on building skills in reading, writing, math and other core subjects. The 
school will document this process through a variety of assessment techniques. 

SCHOOL OF UNLIMITED LEARNING 



60 

EXPECTED SCHOOLWIDE LEARNING RESULTS 

In order to obtain skills, knowledge, and motivation to be self-directed, life-long learners as they mature 
toward self-sufficiency, the students at the School of Unlimited Learning will be: 

Effective Communicators 
• Demonstrate ability to read, write, speak and listen for a variety of reasons.

• Possess social and cultural literacy skills to function productively in today’s society.

Academic Achievers 
• Demonstrate growth in all core academic subjects

Critical Thinkers and Problem Solvers 
• Analyze, synthesize, and apply information.

• Apply problem-solving and decision-making skills to real life situations.

Information Processors 
• Demonstrate the ability to effectively access resources and information in a

complex and technological world.

Self-Directed Lifelong Learners 
• Set, pursue, and accomplish realistic and challenging goals.

• Develop a post-secondary (college and/or career preparation) plan that
clearly reflects the options and choices available to them upon graduation.

Responsible and Productive Citizens 
• Demonstrate healthy, responsible behavior and work collaboratively and

respectfully in an ethnically, culturally, linguistically and socio-economically
diverse community.

• Recognize and respect the rules and processes that govern society.



61 

To Students 
This handbook is a guide and reference for your use during this school year. Please read it thoroughly. It is 
expected that you will follow its rules and procedures and be knowledgeable of its contents. If you have any 
questions, please discuss them with the appropriate staff. 

To Parents/Guardians 
This handbook contains information that is very important to you and your child during the school year. Please 
review the information and ensure that your child is knowledgeable of its contents. If you have any questions or 
concerns, please call the school at (559) 500-1352. 

Visitors 
To promote a safe educational environment, the law (EC 32211) requires all visitors to report to the front desk upon 
entering a school campus during regular school hours (7:30 am to 4:00 pm). All visitors are required to check in at 
the reception desk. Your cooperation is appreciated in this matter as it will help the staff ensure student safety. 

Notice of Implied Agreement 
The registration of a student in the School of Unlimited Learning is deemed to be an agreement on his/her part and 
on the part of his/her parents or guardians to fully comply with all policies, rules, and regulations of the school as 
outlined in this handbook. While the handbook contains the policies, rules, and practices of the School of Unlimited 
Learning, some of them are provided in summary form only. Contact the principal if you have a question 
concerning a school policy, rule, or practice. 

Handbook as Contract 
It is presumed that the Parent/Guardian accepts all the conditions as set forth in the current 
Student/Parent/Teacher Handbook and agrees to comply with all school regulations. The Parent(s)/Guardian(s) 
are responsible for all regulations created by the school. In case of doubt, please contact the principal of the 
school. 

Admission Requirements 
The School of Unlimited Learning has an open enrollment/exit policy. Students are able to enter at any time during 
the school year, pending space availability. Enrollment shall be voluntary, and no tuition shall be charged. The 
School of Unlimited Learning is non-sectarian in its admission policies and its programs and shall not discriminate 
against any student based on ethnicity, national origin, gender or disability, and will follow Federal laws concerning 
discrimination. In the event that there are too many eligible applicants for the space available, a waiting list will be 
used. The school will use this list by a public random drawing to determine who is enrolled. In the event a student 
has been expelled from another school district, the School of Unlimited Learning shall reserve the right to review 
the student expulsion data to determine feasibility of placement. Parents/Guardians have the option to volunteer at 
SOUL. [Ref. Education Code Section 47605(n)] 

INTRODUCTION 



62 

2025-2026 School Calendar 
Institute & Buy Back Days (non-student days) 

October 17, 2025 & March 13, 2026  Holidays

SCHOOL BEGINS: August 18, 2025 
SCHOOL ENDS:  June 11, 2026 

JULY 2025 AUGUST 2025 SEPTEMBER 2025 
M T W TH F M T W TH F M T W TH F 

1 2 3 1 1 2 3 4 5 

7 8 9 10 11 4 5 6 7 8 8 9 10 11 12 

14 15 16 17 18 11 12 13 14 15 15 16 17 18 19 

21 22 23 24 25 18 
School 
Begins 

19 20 21 22 22 23 24 25 26 

28 29 30 31 25 26 27 28 29 29 30 

OCTOBER 2025 NOVEMBER 2025 DECEMBER 2025 
M T W TH F M T W TH F M T W TH F 

1 2 3 1 1 2 3 4 5 

6 7 8 9 10 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 

13 14 15 16 17 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 
Finals A 
Schedule 

18 
Finals B 

Schedule 

19 
Finals A 

Schedule 
20 21 22 23 24 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 

27 28 29 30 31 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 31 

JANUARY 2026 FEBRUARY 2026 MARCH 2026 
M T W TH F M T W TH F M T W TH F 

1 2 2 3 4 5 6 2 3 4 5 6 

5 6 7 8 9 9 10 11 12 13 9 10 11 12 13 

12 13 14 15 16 16 17 18 19 20 16 17 18 19 20 

19 20 21 22 23 23 24 25 26 27 23 24 25 26 27 

26 27 28 29 30 30 31 

APRIL 2026 MAY 2026 JUNE 2026 
M T W TH F M T W TH F M T W TH F 

1 2 3 1 1 2 3 4 5 

6 7 8 9 10 4 5 6 7 8 8 
Finals A 

Schedule 

9 
Finals B 

Schedule 

10 
Finals A 

Schedule 

11 
Finals B 

Schedule 
Last Day 

of School 

12 

13 14 15 16 17 11 12 13 14 15 15 16 17 18 19 

20 21 22 23 24 18 19 20 21 22 22 23 24 25 26 

27 28 29 30 25 26 27 28 29 29 30 

VACATION & HOLIDAYS 
Labor Day: September 1 Lincoln’s Birthday: February 9 
Veterans’ Day: November 11 Presidents’ Day: February 16 
Thanksgiving: November 24 – 28 Spring Break: March 30- April 6 
Winter Break: December 22- January 9 Memorial Day: May 25 
M.L. King, Jr. Day: January 19 Juneteenth: June 19 



63 

BELL SCHEDULE 2025-2026 

8:30 AM 

Regular Day S 

9:25 AM 

chedule 

Period 1 

Early Release Schedule 

8:30 AM 9:25 AM Period 1 

9:25 AM 9:30 AM Passing 

9:30 AM 10:25 AM Period 2 

10:25 AM 10:30 AM Passing 

10:30 AM 11:15 AM Advisory 

11:15 AM 11:20 AM Passing 

11:20 AM 12:15 PM Period 3 

12:15 PM 12:40 PM Lunch 

12:40 PM 12:45 PM Passing 

12:45 PM 1:40 PM Period 4 

1:40 PM 1:45PM Passing 

1:45 PM 2:40 PM Period 5 

Total daily minutes: 345 

9:25 AM 9:30 AM Passing 

9:30 AM 10:25 AM Period 2 

10:25AM 10:30 AM Passing 

10:30 AM 11:15 AM Advisory 

11:15 AM 11:20 AM Passing 

11:20 AM 12:15 PM Period 3 

12:15 PM 12:40 PM Lunch 

12:40 PM 12:45 PM Passing 

12:45 PM 1:40 PM Period 4 

1:40 PM 1:45PM Passing 

1:45 PM 2:40 PM Period 5 

2:40 PM 2:45 PM Passing 

2:45 PM 3:40 PM Period 6 

Total daily minutes: 405 

Finals A Schedule 

8:30 AM 9:25 AM Period 1 

9:25 AM 9:30 AM Passing 

9:30 AM 10:25 AM Period 2 

10:25AM 10:30 AM Passing 

10:30 AM 11:25 AM Period 3 

Total daily minutes: 175 

Finals B Schedule 

8:30 AM 9:25 AM Period 4 

9:25 AM 9:30 AM Passing 

9:30 AM 10:25 AM Period 5 

10:25AM 10:30 AM Passing 

10:30 AM 11:25 AM Period 6 

Total daily minutes: 175 



64 

A total of 230 units of credit must be earned for high school graduation. Five (5) units are granted for successfully 
(D or better) completing each semester in each of the core classes. 

1. To enter: 10th grade 11th grade 12th grade Graduation 
50 units 110 units 170 units 230 units 

(STUDENTS NORMALLY WILL BE RECLASSIFIED BY GRADE IF THE GRADE 
REQUIREMENTS ARE NOT MET, HOWEVER REQUIREMENT YEAR WILL NOT CHANGE) 

2. The following are the specific course requirements for graduation:

English Language Arts......................................................................... 40 units 
Modern World History........................................................................... 10 units 
United States History............................................................................ 10 units 
American Government......................................................................... 5 units 
Economics........................................................................................... 5 units 
Science................................................................................................ 30 units 
*Mathematics....................................................................................... 30 units 
Physical Education............................................................................... 20 units 
Health/Sociology for Living................................................................... 5 units 
District-approved Fine Arts or Foreign Language................................ 10 units 
Electives...............................................................................................  65 units 

Algebra and Foreign Language are currently being offered at all middle schools. Geometry is offered at several 
middle schools. Middle school students can enter high school with 30-40 units of high school graduation credit, 
e.g., Algebra 10 units, Geometry 10 units, and two years of foreign language 20 units.

* Mathematics requirements will include Algebra and Geometry.

*A-G Course Alignment Maps and CSU/UC admission requirements available upon request

HIGH SCHOOL GRADUATION REQUIREMENTS 



65 

All courses listed may not be offered every semester. 
MATHEMATICS 

Algebra 
Algebra IA courses cover topics such as symbolic reasoning, calculating with symbols, the properties and 
operations of the real numbers, solving and graphing linear equations and inequalities, and absolute value. 
Algebra IA courses present students with the opportunities to develop their algebraic skills and concepts and 
use them in a wide variety of problem-solving situations. 

Algebra IB courses cover topics such as real numbers, systems of linear equations and inequalities as well as 
linear, quadratic, exponential, and rational equations and functions, solving and graphing quadratic functions, 
and quadratic equations. Algebra IB courses present students with the opportunities to develop their algebraic 
skills and concepts and use them in a wide variety of problem-solving situations. 

Geometry 
Geometry courses cover topics that develop students’ knowledge in establishing criteria for congruence of 
triangles based on rigid motions; establishing criteria for similarity of triangles based on dilations and 
proportional reasoning; informally developing explanations of circumference, area, and volume formulas; 
applying the Pythagorean Theorem to the coordinate plane; proving basic geometric theorems; and extending 
work with probability. Geometry courses present students with the opportunity to explore more complex 
geometric situations and deepen their explanations of geometric relationships, as well as present and hear 
formal mathematical arguments. 

Algebra II 
Algebra II courses cover topics that allow students to build on their work with linear, quadratic, and exponential 
functions, and extend their knowledge of functions to include logarithmic, polynomial, rational, and radical 
functions. Algebra II courses present students with opportunities to relate arithmetic of rational expressions to 
arithmetic of rational numbers; expand understandings of functions and graphing to include trigonometric 
functions; synthesize and generalize functions and extend understanding of exponential functions to 
logarithmic functions; and relate data display and summary statistics to probability and explore a variety of 
data collection methods. 

Math Intervention 
Foundational Math Support courses occur in parallel to the core math course. These courses typically cover 
foundational topics such as basic skills with whole numbers and rational numbers, algebraic reasoning, and 
other topics that are foundational to the core course. Math support also provides scaffolding for students who 
are presented with new concepts in their core math course. Math Support courses present opportunities for 
students struggling in math to obtain targeted small group instruction and assistance to meet grade level 
expectations. 

Personal Finance 
Personal Finance courses cover topics such as budgeting, taxation, credit, banking service, insurance, buying 
and selling products and services, home and/or car ownership and rental, managing personal income, and 
investment. Personal courses present students with the opportunity to reinforce basic mathematics skills and 
link those skills to personal applications. 

COURSE OFFERINGS 



66 

SCIENCES 

Biology - Lab 
Biology courses cover topics such as structure and function, inheritance and variation of traits, matter and 
energy in organisms and ecosystems, interdependent relationships in ecosystems, natural selection, 
evolution, adaptation and biodiversity. Biology courses present students with the opportunity to develop and 
use biological models, identify cause and effect and recognize human impacts on the natural world. 

Earth Science 
Earth and space science courses cover topics associated with Earths place in the universe, Earths systems 
and Earth and human activity. Earth and space science courses present students with the opportunity to 
develop an understanding of processes that shape the world around them. This course also investigates how 
humans interact with the natural world by integrating California’s Environmental Principles and Concepts. 
Geoscience is another name used to identify the course. 

Environmental Science - Lab 
Physical science courses cover topics such as matter, motion and forces, energy and waves. Physical science 
courses present students with the opportunity to study physical science through the lens of the transfer or 
conversion of energy. This course integrates engineering and environmental principles into the study of the 
physical sciences. 

Physical Science - Elective 
Physical science courses typically cover topics such as matter, motion and forces, energy and waves. Physical 
science courses present students with the opportunity to study physical science through the lens of the transfer or 
conversion of energy. This course integrates engineering and environmental principles into the study of the 
physical sciences. 

HEALTH 

Health 
Holistic Health Education courses cover topics related to two or more of the six content areas of health education, 
as defined in the Health Education Content Standards: nutrition and physical activity; growth, development, and 
sexual health; injury prevention and safety; alcohol, tobacco, and other drugs; mental, emotional, and social health; 
and personal and community health. Holistic Health Education courses present students with the opportunity to 
develop the with knowledge and skills as required in the California Healthy Youth Act (Education Code §§ 51930- 
51939). 

PHYSICAL EDUCATION 
Physical Education courses cover topics such as aquatics, rhythms/dance, individual and dual activities, the 
mechanics of body movement, and the effects of fitness on dynamic health. Also, may include first aid, CPR, drug 
education and sex education. 

SOCIAL SCIENCE 

Modern World History 
World History courses cover topics such as the socio-economic, political, and ideological conditions of various time 
periods as well as significant historical events and cultural achievements of world regions. World History courses 
present students with the opportunity to learn about the achievements of civilizations and countries, particularly in 
the fields of science, technology, and the arts, and how they spread through cultural diffusion. Students will 
compare and contrast the development and beliefs of the major world religions, explain how they spread to other 
regions, and resulted in ideological conflicts throughout history. 



67 

US History 
United States History courses cover major turning points in American history and emphasize specific themes, such 
as the expanding role of the federal government and federal courts; the continuing tension between the individual 
and the state and between minority rights and majority power; and the emergence of a modern economy. United 
States history courses present students with the opportunity to study the impact of technology on American society 
and culture; change in the ethnic composition of American society; the movements toward equal rights for racial 
minorities and women; and the development of the United States as a world power. 

Government 
Government courses typically cover topics such as Constitution and the Bill of Rights; the Courts and the 
Governmental Process; Our Government Today; the Legislative and Executive Branches; Federalism; and State 
and Local Government. Government courses present students with an opportunity to develop a deeper 
understanding of the institutions of American government and prepare students to vote, to reflect on the 
responsibilities of citizenship, and to participate in community activities. 

Economics 
Economics courses cover fundamental economic concepts, comparative economic systems, microeconomics, 
macroeconomics, and international economic concepts. Economics courses present students with an opportunity 
to deepen their understanding of the basic economic problems and institutions of the nation and world in which 
they live and make reasoned decisions on economic issues such as citizens, workers, consumers, business 
owners and managers, and members of civic groups. 

Ethnic Studies 
Ethnic studies courses typically cover an in-depth study of one or more ethnic groups, including their history, 
culture, achievements, contributions, barriers and strategies to overcome these barriers, and status in the United 
States. Ethnic studies courses present students with an opportunity to learn about the characteristics of Americas 
ethnic groups and the similarities and differences of these groups in both their past and present experiences from 
multiple perspectives. 

LANGUAGE ARTS 

English 9 
English 9 courses cover topics that build students skills in reading, writing, speaking and listening. English 9 
courses present students with the opportunity to comprehend and evaluate complex texts across a range of types 
and disciplines, construct effective arguments in writing and speaking, and convey understanding as warranted by 
the task. English 9 courses also include supports appropriate for English learners and for students with special 
needs. 

English 10 
English 10 courses cover topics such as the study of fiction and non-fiction literature, argumentative writing, as well 
as creating multi-paragraph thematic essays and compositions. English 10 courses present students with the 
opportunity to improve their reading comprehension and knowledge acquisition, develop the skills to determine the 
purposes and themes of authors, and to recognize the techniques employed by authors to achieve their goals. 
English 10 courses also include supports appropriate for English learners and for students with special needs. 

English 11 
English 11 courses cover topics that continue to develop students writing skills, emphasizing clear, logical writing 
patterns, word choice, and usage, as students write and revise essays and learn the techniques of writing research 
papers. English 11 courses present students with the opportunity to continue to read, analyze, and question 
complex works of literature and other written materials that often form the backbone of the writing assignments. In 
English 11 courses, students argumentative writing use precise, knowledgeable claims and counter claims. English 
11 courses also include supports appropriate for English learners and for students with special needs. 



68 

English 12 
English 12 courses cover topics that continue to develop student’s mastery of writing skills, emphasizing clear, 
logical writing patterns, word choice, and usage. English 12 courses present students with the opportunity to write 
and revise critical and comparative analyses of classic and contemporary literature, literary non-fiction, non-fiction, 
and other genres. In English 12 courses, students will demonstrate knowledge of research techniques, including a 
sophisticated use of argument, evidence, and effective counter claims. English 12 courses also include supports 
appropriate for English learners and for students with special needs. 

English Intervention 
English support courses cover topics such as basic language skills and integrate reading, writing, speaking, 
and listening while emphasizing individual student progress. English support courses present students with the 
opportunity to build upon their vocabulary, spelling and grammar, writing and composition, reading silently or 
aloud, and improving listening and comprehension skills. English support courses may take place in a 
laboratory setting or resource center and course content depends on the student’s abilities entering the course. 

Foreign Language 

Spanish I 
World Languages I courses cover topics that allow students to lay the foundation of their proficiency in the areas of 
speaking, listening, reading, and writing of the target language for beginning World Language I courses present 
students with the opportunity to acquire the ability to use a language for real-world purposes in culturally- 
appropriate ways. World Language I courses are considered introductory courses aligned with the most current 
World Languages Standards. 

Spanish II 
World Languages II courses typically cover topics that allow students to continue to develop linguistic and cultural 
proficiency for real-world purposes. World Languages II courses present students with the opportunity to increase 
their proficiency in the areas of speaking, listening, reading, and writing of the target language. World Language II 
courses are a level beyond introductory courses and are aligned with the most current World Languages 
Standards. 



69 

Leadership 
Students develop their leadership skills in goal setting, time management, organization, communication, school and 
community service, interpersonal relations, problem solving, team building, and evaluation and reflection. 

Street Law Program 
(Must have teacher/counselor approval prior to enrollment) 
In partnership with Central California Legal Services, SOUL offers a Street Program to eligible students who have 
expressed an interest in pursuing a career in the legal services field. Students are introduced to the general Street 
Law curriculum, which covers a general introduction to law and the legal system, criminal law and juvenile justice, 
torts; consumer and housing law; family law; individual rights and liberties; rights and responsibilities in the 
workplace; and immigration law. The class focuses on learning the practical applications of law, but the students 
will also complete an overarching project where we will ask them to identify an issue facing their peers, their 
school, or their community and design a strategy to address the issue that will be presented by the end of the 
school year. 

Film Appreciation 
Theatre/Film History and Literature and History/appreciation of Theatre Arts and Film courses typically cover 
the history and development of theatre across time and culture, the artistic elements of responding and 
connecting through examination of historical texts and theatrical literature. Students acquire an understanding 
of theatre/film as a communications tool and its dynamic role in cultural development. This course is for 
students who desire knowledge in the history of drama, plays, Theatre, and writers. The course may include 
the study of outstanding examples in the fields of motion pictures, radio, and television. The course includes 
instruction in reading, writing, critique processes, and research. 

CTE Careers 
This course recruits’ students into a variety of sectors and/or pathways, allowing them to make a more 
confident decision about which one to pursue. It is a pre-introductory class and the class does not contribute to 
the 300 hours requirement of a pathway. 

Career Workforce 
In partnership with Workforce Connection, eligible students will be enrolled in the Workforce Connection Young 
Adult Program. This comprehensive class offers tutoring, career assessments, interview preparation, job skills 
training, and finally, a paid internship. The program is designed to equip students with the practical skills and 
confidence necessary to thrive in today’s competitive job market. 

Work Based Learning 
This course provides students with practical, real-world training and hands-on experience to prepare them for 
future careers while building essential employability skills for life after graduation. Following the completion of an 
online course aligned with their chosen career path, students will engage in hands-on learning experiences within 
the community. The Work-Based Learning (WBL) component is made possible through strong partnerships with 
local businesses and community organizations, which generously offer opportunities for internships and job 
shadowing. Students typically participate in these experiences twice a week, committing 6–8 hours per week 
outside of their regular coursework. 

Intro to Trades 
In partnership with Fresno EOC Valley Apprenticeship Connections, students interested in pursuing careers in the 
trades will be introduced to the essential skills and knowledge needed to thrive in a variety of trade industries. This 
program combines classroom learning with hands-on experience, providing participants with both practical insights 
and real-world skills. Students will have the chance to explore fields such as carpentry, plumbing, and electrical 
work, and more—guided by seasoned professionals dedicated to mentoring the next generation of tradespeople. 

SPECIALIZED COURSE OFFERINGS 



70 

Robotics 
The course will cover conceptual and algebra-based physics, mechanical components, computer-aided design 
of mechanical systems, engineering problem solving, JAVA computer programming, electronics theory and 
design, and control systems concepts and implementation. 

Art 
Introductory course that includes skill building and knowledge building in a variety of concepts and principles. 

Child Development/Child Care 
The child development course will help students develop an understanding of the healthy development of 
children and of the developmental stages of infants and toddlers. 

Electives 

Drivers Education 
The course curriculum includes lessons on traffic laws, road safety, driver responsibilities, and how to avoid 
accidents. 

First Aid/CPR 
The primary things covered in almost all courses include dealing with cuts and wounds, which is common in school. 
Children are also taught bandaging wounds and cardiopulmonary resuscitation. Details about rescue breaths and 
choking maneuvers are also a part of the course. 

Historical Literature 
This course delves into human history through the lens of literature that brings historical figures to life. Students will 
explore a diverse range of texts—including biographies, autobiographies, historical fiction, and primary writings by 
historical figures—to gain insight into the lives, struggles, and legacies of individuals who shaped the world. From 
ancient rulers and revolutionary leaders to everyday voices caught in extraordinary times, the course examines 
how literature captures the complexity of historical experience. 

*College courses are available and assigned on an individual basis.



71 

Standardized Testing and Reporting Program 
SOUL follows all California State Standardized testing and reporting procedures. These tests are mandatory per 
the State of California unless a parent exempts their child through a written request to the school. 

Classroom-Based Final Exam Policy 
It is the policy of SOUL NOT to allow early final exams. If you have a question, please contact your student’s 
counselor. Teachers are required to give final exams at the end of each semester. 

Grades 
The cumulative grade point average is computed by awarding grade points for all classes passed on a 4 point 
scale. 

Homework (Absent) 
If a classroom-based program student is absent from school, it is the student’s responsibility to check with their 
teacher to see what work was missed. They can arrange to stay after school for make-up work. If a student 
knows in advance, he/she will be absent the parent can contact the Vice Principal for a “Short Term” Independent 
Study contract. Students and parents must sign paperwork. See “Short Term Independent Study Procedures” 
page 23. 

Progress Reports 
Progress reports are given to each classroom-based student on the ninth week of each semester. Students may 
also request a progress report. Grades and progress can also be viewed on Pathways Student and/or Parent 
Portals. Contact the Guidance Office for log-in information. 

Drop/Credit Policy 
In the classroom-based program, a student earns 5 credits per class after the “successful completion of a 
semester.” (Successful completion is defined as earning a grade of D (60%) or better when all scores for the 
semester are calculated in each course. First semester ends the day prior to Winter Break. Second semester 
ends the last day of school.) 

If a student transfers or is dropped from the classroom-based program at any time prior to the end of the semester, 
they may not be eligible to receive any credit earned at SOUL for that semester. The parents can take the 
withdrawal form and final grades to any school to enroll their student for the completion of the semester. 

If a student transfers from the SOUL classroom-based program to the SOUL Personalized Learning program due 
to medical/emotional reasons as verified in writing by a medical doctor, partial credit from classes may be 
transferred if the student has a passing score (60% or higher) as of the transfer date. 

A student enrolled at the SOUL Personalized Learning program can earn a maximum of 40 credits per semester. A 
student is required to complete 2 credits per week. 

With approval, a Personalized Learning student may get administrative permission to complete 3 credits per week. 
They may also earn additional credits for elective courses taken outside of the personalized learning curriculum 
through enrollment in hybrid courses. 



72 

Grade Reports 
First Semester 
End of 1st quarter, deficiency notices will be sent home. 
End of 2nd quarter, report cards will be sent home. 

Second Semester 
End of 3rd quarter, deficiency notices will be sent home. 
End of 4th quarter, report cards will be sent home. 

Fifth-Year Policy 
Students who are 18 years old and/or have completed four years of high school, but are deficient in credits, can 
return to SOUL for a fifth year with administrative approval. Students that have an IEP or 504 plan will be 
considered on an individual basis. Students must remain in good standing for consideration of 5th year approval. 

In the 2025-2026 school year SOUL will offer a hybrid program which includes classroom-based elective 
courses that can be taken in conjunction with their core personalized learning classes. The hybrid classes will 
focus on career development, special interests and intervention with a hands-on approach. 

HYBRID LEARNING 



73 

Eligibility Participation Guidelines 
This Fall SOUL is bringing competitive sports back to its program by rejoining the Charter School Athletic 
League (CSAL). 
The Charter School Activities League (CSAL) was formerly started by SOUL as another means to improve 
students’ commitment to education and provide positive alternatives in the form of recreational/social activities. 
This athletic component provides healthy, structured competition between charter schools, continuation 
schools, and other organized youth groups in the greater Fresno area. This program provides opportunities for 
students to compete with their peers and enjoy a fun, wholesome recreational environment. SOUL students 
are encouraged to participate on CSAL teams. Parents are invited to show their support for the school and 
their children by attending CSAL sporting events and taking an active role in the events. 
Any SOUL student medically cleared to participate in a CSAL sporting event shall be ruled ineligible if he/she 
on the day of competition: 

• Has been assigned detention
• Has an “F” in any class
• Has broken a student contract in the last 5 days
• Is serving Alternative Placement Community Service
• Missed their assigned Personalized Learning appointment (that week)
• Has been “Suspended” or sent home for the day for any reason
• Is out ill on the day of the event
• Shows up just prior to game time on the day of the event

CSAL/Sports Program 



74 

Updated July 2025 

School of Unlimited Learning (the “Charter School”) may offer non-classroom based instruction to meet the short- 
or long-term educational needs of pupils enrolled in the Charter School. Independent study is an optional 
educational alternative in which no pupil may be required to participate and is designed to teach the knowledge and 
skills of the core curriculum. The Charter School shall provide appropriate existing services and resources to 
enable pupils to complete their independent study successfully. The following written policies have been adopted 
by the School of Unlimited Learning Board of Directors for implementation at Charter School: 

1. For pupils in all grade levels and programs offered by the Charter School, the maximum length of time that
may lapse between the time an assignment is made and the date by which the pupil must complete the
assigned work shall be five (5) school days.

2. The Principal or designee shall conduct an evaluation to determine whether it is in the best interests of the
pupil to remain in independent study upon the following triggers:

a. When any pupil fails to complete two (2) assignments during any period of five (5) school days.

b. In the event a student’s educational progress falls below satisfactory levels as determined by ALL of
the following indicators:

i. The pupil’s achievement and engagement in the independent study program, as indicated
by the pupil’s performance on applicable pupil-level measures of pupil achievement and
pupil engagement set forth in Education Code Section 52060(d) paragraphs (4) and (5).

ii. The completion of assignments, assessments, or other indicators that evidence that the
pupil is working on assignments.

iii. Learning required concepts, as determined by the supervising teacher.
iv. Progressing toward successful completion of the course of study or individual course, as

determined by the supervising teacher.

A written record of the findings of any evaluation conducted pursuant to this policy shall be treated as a 
mandatory interim pupil record. The record shall be maintained for a period of three years from the date of 
the evaluation and, if the pupil transfers to another California public school, the record shall be forwarded 
to that school. 

3. The Charter School shall provide content aligned to grade level standards that is substantially equivalent to
in-person instruction. For high school grade levels this shall include access to all courses offered by the
Charter School for graduation and approved by the UC or CSU as creditable under the A-G admissions
criteria.

4. The Charter School has adopted tiered reengagement strategies for the following pupils:

a. All pupils who are not generating attendance for more than 10 percent of required minimum
instructional time over four continuous weeks of the Charter School’s approved instructional
calendar.

b. Pupils found not participatory in synchronous instructional offerings pursuant to Education Code
Section 51747.5 for more than 50 percent of the scheduled times of synchronous instruction in a
school month as applicable by grade span; or

c. Pupils who are in violation of the written agreement pursuant to Education Code Section 51747(g).

These procedures shall include local programs intended to address chronic absenteeism, as applicable, 
with at least all of the following: 

2025-2026 Independent Study Board Policy & 
Independent Study Policies and Procedures 



75 

d. Verification of current contact information for each enrolled pupil.
e. Notification to parents or guardians of lack of participation within one (1) school day of the

recording of a non-attendance day or lack of participation.
f. A plan for outreach from the school to determine pupil needs, including connection with health and

social services as necessary.
g. A clear standard for requiring a pupil-parent-educator conference to review a pupil’s written

agreement, and reconsider the independent study program’s impact on the pupil’s achievement and
well-being, consistent with the policies adopted pursuant to paragraph (4) of subdivision (g) of
Education Code Section 51747.

5. The following plan shall be in place in accordance with Education Code Section 51747(e) for synchronous
instruction and live interaction:

a. For pupils in grades 9-12, inclusive, the plan to provide opportunities for at least weekly
synchronous instruction for all pupils throughout the school year by each pupil’s teacher or teachers
of record shall be as follows: Students must attend (instructional meetings) with their teacher at
least once a week for a minimum of one hour per week. Teachers will set appointment times with
students.

6. The following plan* shall be utilized to transition pupils whose families wish to return to another program or
school expeditiously, and, in no case, later than five (5) instructional days: If a parent, or adult student,
wishes to transfer from the School of Unlimited Learning Independent Study program at any time, they may
request a withdrawal slip and transcripts which will be available within five (5) instructional days.

* The tiered reengagement strategies, plan for synchronous instruction and live interaction, and plan to transition
pupils whose families to return to in-person instruction shall not apply to pupils who participate in an independent
study program for fewer than 16 schooldays in a school year and pupils enrolled in a holistic school for classroom- 
based instruction who, under the care of appropriately licensed professionals, participate in independent study due
to necessary medical treatments or inpatient treatment for mental health care or substance abuse. Local
educational agencies shall obtain evidence from appropriately licensed professionals of the need for pupils to
participate in independent study pursuant to this subdivision. These sections shall not apply to independent study
offered due to school closure or material decrease in attendance for 15 school days or less for affected pupils
under one or more of the circumstances described in Education Code Sections 41422 and/or 46392, and 46393 for
which the Charter School files an affidavit seeking an allowance of attendance due to emergency conditions.

7. A current written agreement shall be maintained on file for each independent study pupil, including but not
limited to, all the following:

a. The manner, time, frequency, and place for submitting a pupil’s assignments, for reporting the
pupil’s academic progress, and for communicating with a pupil’s parent or guardian regarding a
pupil’s academic progress.

b. The objectives and methods of study for the pupil’s work, and the methods used to evaluate that
work.

c. The specific resources, including materials and personnel, that will be made available to the pupil.
These resources shall include confirming or providing access to all pupils to the connectivity and
devices adequate to participate in the educational program and complete assigned work.

d. A statement of the policies adopted pursuant to subdivisions (a) and (b) of Education Code Section
51747 regarding the maximum length of time allowed between the assignment and the completion
of a pupil’s assigned work, the level of satisfactory educational progress, and

e. the number of missed assignments allowed before an evaluation of whether or not the pupil should
be allowed to continue in independent study.

f. The duration of the independent study agreement, including the beginning and ending dates for the
pupil’s participation in independent study under the agreement. No independent study agreement
shall be valid for any period longer than one (1) school year.



76 

g. A statement of the number of course credits or, for the elementary grades, other measures of
academic accomplishment appropriate to the agreement, to be earned by the pupil upon
completion.

h. A statement detailing the academic and other supports that will be provided to address the needs of
pupils who are not performing at grade level, or need support in other areas, such as English
learners, individuals with exceptional needs in order to be consistent with the pupil’s
individualized education program or plan pursuant to Section 504 of the federal Rehabilitation Act of
1973 (29 U.S.C. Sec. 794), pupils in foster care or experiencing homelessness, and pupils requiring
mental health supports.
i. The inclusion of a statement in each independent study agreement that independent study is an

optional educational alternative in which no pupil may be required to participate. In the case of a
pupil who is referred or assigned to any school, class, or program pursuant to Section 48915
or 48917, the agreement also shall include the statement that instruction may be provided to
the pupil through independent study only if the pupil is offered the alternative of classroom
instruction.

ii. For a pupil participating in an independent study program that is scheduled for more than 14
school days, each written agreement shall be signed, before the commencement of independent
study, by the pupil, the pupil’s parent, legal guardian, or caregiver, if the pupil is less than 18 years
of age, the certificated employee who has been designated as having responsibility for the
general supervision of independent study, and the certificated employee designated as having
responsibility for the special education programming of the pupil, as applicable. Beginning in
the 2022–23 school year, for a pupil participating in an independent study program that is
scheduled for less than 15 school days, each written agreement shall be signed within 10
school days of the commencement of the first day of the pupil’s enrollment in independent
study, by the pupil, the pupil’s parent, legal guardian, or caregiver, if the pupil is less than 18
years of age, the certificated employee who has been designated as having responsibility for
the general supervision of independent study, and the certificated employee designated as
having responsibility for the special education programming of the pupil, as applicable. For
purposes of this paragraph “caregiver” means a person who has met the requirements of Part
1.5 (commencing with Section 6550) of Division 11 of the Family Code.

• Written agreements may be signed using an electronic signature that complies with
state and federal standards, as determined by the California Department of Education,
that may be a marking that is either computer generated or produced by electronic
means and is intended by the signatory to have the same effect as a handwritten
signature. The use of an electronic signature shall have the same force and effect as the
use of a manual signature if the requirements for digital signatures and their acceptable
technology, as provided in Section 16.5 of the Government Code and in Chapter 10
(commencing with Section 22000) of Division 7 of Title 2 of the California Code of
Regulations, are satisfied.

8. The Charter School shall comply with the Education Code sections 51745 through 51749.3 and the
provisions of the Charter Schools Act of 1992 and the State Board of Education regulations adopted there
under.

9. The Principal may establish regulations to implement these policies in accordance with the law.

The School of Unlimited Learning Independent Study education component offers a unique opportunity for students 
to work “independent” of regular daily classroom attendance and without the requirement of meeting with their 
instructor on a daily basis.  

Independent Study requires students to meet with a SOUL instructor on a weekly basis for a minimum of one hour 
to receive assignments which coincide with the student’s overall academic-credit needs detailed in their Master 
Agreement. No Independent Study agreement is valid for longer than one school year. Academic credit 
assignments and ADA tabulations for the student are based solely upon the teacher’s assessment of the student’s 
independently completed work. During each scheduled appointment the student will be given weekly course 
material that, when completed, will be graded and assigned credit toward graduation. Students are required to 
attend all scheduled appointments with their instructor and to participate in all standardized testing as required by 



77 

the state, the district, or the school. Students will earn 1 credit towards graduation for every 20 hours of work 
assigned, with a maximum of 40 core academic credits per semester. Students are expected to attend regularly 
and maintain satisfactory progress on work completed in order to remain in this program. The students are 
required to attend instructional meetings with their teacher at least once a week for a minimum of one hour per 
week. The maximum length of time allowed between the assignment and the date the assignment is due is one 
week. Students failing to appear for two scheduled appointments or missing two assignments will be re-evaluated 
regarding their academic placement in this component. 

PERSONALIZED LEARNING: RULES, REGULATIONS & POLICIES 

Discipline Rules and Regulations 
Rules and regulations are established to maintain an atmosphere conducive to learning. Students who fail to 
comply with these rules and regulations will be counseled, reprimanded, suspended, or removed from the program. 
Each disciplinary action will be handled on a case-by-case basis.  

All students will comply with the regulations, pursue the required course of study, and respect the authority of the 
teachers, administration and support staff of the educational site. 

Attendance and participation at extracurricular activities are considered a part of the educational program. All rules 
of student conduct and dress code apply to extracurricular activities. 

Attendance 
The law no longer provides for “excused” absences. Students may have a “valid absence” but their 
attendance will be impacted and they will be required to make up any assignments missed. (EC48205). 
Valid absences can be defined as personal illness, attendance at funeral services for a member of the 
immediate family, part-day absences for medical/dental appointments, but will still be counted as an 
absence from school or class. 

Students must attend (instructional meetings) with their teacher for a minimum of 3 hours per week Teachers will 
set appointment times with students. Further, students must provide documentation from their parent/guardian 
verifying their daily completion of independent study assignments. In compliance with SOUL’s Independent Study 
policies for grades 9 through 12, the maximum length of time allowed between the assignment and the date the 
assignment is due is one week. 

Excused absences are not recognized in Independent Study. If for any reason the student cannot keep the 
appointed time, the student’s parent/guardian must contact the teacher, explain the reason for the missed 
appointment, and reschedule the appointment to make-up for the missed time. 

If a student is absent and the instructional time is not rescheduled, the teacher will evaluate the students continued 
enrollment, and take corrective action, if student fails to reschedule the meeting: Teacher contacts the 
student/parent. The meeting is rescheduled for the same week. 

SOUL’s four-step attendance policy is: 
Step 1 Student fails to attend the rescheduled meeting: Teacher puts the student on an “Attendance Warning” to 

address his/her attendance issues. Parents will be contacted. 
Step 2 If the student has an absence following the warning, then the student is place on an “Attendance 

Agreement.” Students and parents will be notified of this action. 
Step 3 If the student fails to comply with the Attendance Agreement they will be referred to the Guidance Dean for 

a parent/student meeting to address their absences. 
Step 4 If the student has any further absences, per the policies described herein, it may be determined that it 

is not in the best interest of the student to continue in personalized learning, and they may be 
withdrawn from the program. 



78 

Credits 
To complete graduation requirements in a timely manner, students are expected to complete 2 credits per week. 
To remain in personalized learning, students must complete a minimum of one credit of work per week. If the 
Students needs extra help or a place to study, the student can come in for tutoring. This extra session does not 
replace the students regularly scheduled instructional time. Individual or group tutorial for math and English may be 
offered to assist students who are having difficulty with these subjects. 

Independent study students must understand that their work is designed to be completed at home: 
• Student gets the assignments from the teacher
• Students do the assignments at home or come in for extra help if the assignment is too difficult.

Important: The regularly assigned instructional meeting is not time to do assignments. Assignments are
to be completed at home.

• Student returns at his/her appointed time. Teacher goes over the work with the student and tests the
student on their completed work.

• Students receive new assignment(s).

Failure to Meet Credit Requirement 
• First time student fails to meet the one-credit a week requirement: The teacher will contact the parent

and discuss whether personalized learning is meeting the student’s needs.
• Second time student fails to meet the one-credit a week minimum: The teacher refers the student and

parent to the Guidance Office to review the academic progress of the student.
• Student fails to comply with the credit minimum: Per the policies described herein, it may be

determined that it is not in the best interest of the student to remain in personalized learning and
student may be withdrawn from personalized learning.

During each scheduled appointment the student will be given weekly course material that, when completed, will be 
graded and assigned credit toward graduation. 

• Students are required to attend all scheduled appointments with their instructor and to participate in all
standardized testing as required by the state, the district or the school.

• Students will earn 1 credit towards graduation for every 20 hours of work assigned.
• Students are expected to attend regularly and maintain satisfactory progress in order to remain in the

program.
• A student failing to appear for two scheduled appointments or missing two assignments as described

in the policies described herein, will be evaluated to determine whether it is in the best interest of the
student to remain in personalized learning and may be withdrawn from personalized learning.



79 

SPECIAL EDUCATION SERVICES 

Special education students are part of the total school community with equal access to educational, co-curricular, 
and social activities of the school. The IEP team determines appropriate special education services for each 
special education student accessing the school curriculum. These special education services may include case 
management/consultation with special education staff, skill development in existing tutorials, and consultation with 
Speech professionals, along with Health/Nursing, Counseling, Hearing-Impaired, Visually Impaired, and Orthopedic 
Impaired assistance. 

Special education staff (ISGI, school psychologist) will work collaboratively with other members of the staff to 
provide an array of educational options to meet the varied needs of all students at the school. The delivery model 
at the School of Unlimited Learning may include monthly consultation, direct services based on IEP needs, skills 
development in existing tutorial programs, consultation and collaboration, alternative materials and/or curriculum, 
physical accommodations, modified teaching strategies, curriculum and material adaptation, and in-service training 
for other staff members. Special education staff may work with students and/or staff in the general education 
classroom to the maximum extent it is possible to allow for a Least Restrictive Environment. If the IEP team feels 
the above services are not adequately meeting the student’s identified needs the student will be referred to an 
appropriate FUSD special education program. 

Students referred to SOUL or requesting enrollment, will go through an IEP process prior to enrollment to define 
appropriate services and placement. Personalized Learning will be an option if agreed upon by the IEP team and 
will be closely monitored for adequate progress. 

COLLEGE ENTRANCE INFORMATION 

Free Application for Federal Student Aid (FAFSA) 
A financial aid application is now required by the State of California to be completed by all students in grade 
12. All students will receive information on how to complete and submit a FAFSA or California Dream Act
application prior to grade 12 through workshops and/or written communication. The Career Center will assist
your student and family in meeting this requirement. An “opt out” form can be completed by the parent upon
request.

College Grants and Scholarships 
Scholarships and financial aid are available through a wide variety of public and private sources. They are 
generally awarded based on financial need, or academic, athletic, musical, or other specialized achievements. 
Others are awarded on future promise, or a combination of all these factors. It is never too early to begin a 
portfolio of information specifically required for scholarships. Students and parents who are interested in more 
information should contact the student’s case manager, the counseling office, the College and Career Advisor, or 
the admissions offices of colleges, universities, and career/vocational oriented schools in which they are interested. 
Students should not wait until the second semester to seek scholarship information. Many deadlines may occur 
before January. 

*A-G Course Alignment Maps and CSU/UC admission requirements available upon request.



80 

COUNSELING AND CASE MANAGEMENT SERVICES 

At the School of Unlimited Learning we take special interest in the overall success of our students during their stay 
in our program, both academically and socially. We realize that a student’s progress can be greatly affected by 
issues occurring beyond the classroom. 

Case Management 
To help our families in these areas, Case Management Services are provided to every student upon 
enrollment. Our Case Managers work diligently to assist in the following areas: 

• Crisis Intervention
• Service Referrals (educational, financial, medical, legal, etc.)
• Conflict Mediation
• Truancy
• Academics
• Acting as Liaison between school, student and family
• Goal Setting
• Career Planning and higher education by referral to our College and Career Advisor

CSU Fresno and Fresno Pacific University 
Social Work and Counseling interns may be available to provide additional case management services for 
identified students. 

Career Counseling 
Throughout the San Joaquin Valley, public and private high schools are realizing the importance of school-based 
career centers. Schools now realize that preparing students academically is only half the battle. School staff must 
take on the responsibility of preparing each student for his/her career as well. 

Students enrolled in the hybrid classes can receive career exploration and career awareness education within the 
classes. In addition, SOUL has a Career Center that provides career services for all our students, including those 
enrolled in SOUL’s Personalized Learning program. 

Career Center individualized services include, but are not limited to: 
• Career Assessment Workshops
• Job Readiness Skills Workshops (motivation, job search, applications, resumes, interviews,

work behavior, etc.)
• Guest Speakers
• Continuing Education Opportunities (field trips, financial aid, on-line school searches, etc.)
• Computer Based Instruction
• School and Business Partnerships and more!!

Fresno Economic Opportunities Commission 
Programs and Services 

For a complete list of Fresno EOC programs, please visit: www.fresnoeoc.org/programs 

Follow us on Facebook 
facebook.com/Fresno EOC 

http://www.fresnoeoc.org/programs


81 

Approved by the School of Unlimited Learning Governing Council 
Rationale 
In accordance with Federal Title 1 requirements, the School of Unlimited Learning has developed a written parent 
involvement policy, which describes how SOUL involves parents to improve student academic achievement and 
school performance. The Parent Involvement Policy includes a variety of ways that parents can become actively 
involved in their child’s educational experience at SOUL. The Parent Involvement Policy is designed to help build 
the schools and parent’s capacity for increased parent involvement. In the spring of each year, SOUL will conduct 
an annual review of the content and effectiveness of its parent involvement policy. SOUL will use those findings to 
develop additional opportunities for parental involvement that will lead to increased student academic success. 

School Description 
The School of Unlimited Learning, or SOUL, is a public charter school serving Fresno’s youth, grades 9 
through 12. The private not-for-profit Fresno Economic Opportunities Commission operates the school in 
partnership with the Fresno Unified School District. The Fresno Economic Opportunities Commission is one of 
the nation’s leading community action agencies established to help individuals and families become self- 
sufficient. The Fresno Unified School District’s Board of Trustees approved the school’s charter petition on 
March 26, 1998. The Fresno Economic Opportunities Commission established this charter school to provide 
enhanced educational opportunities for students at risk of not completing high school. The State Board of 
Education approved the charter in July of 1998. 

Annual Approval 
Each year, after being reviewed by parents in the spring, the SOUL’s Parent Involvement Policy is submitted 
for review and approval each September to the School of Unlimited Learning Governing Council. Once 
approved, the plan is distributed to parents and reviewed at the first scheduled parent meeting after the 
Governing Council. 

PARENT INVOLVEMENT GOALS 

• Parents play a crucial role in the joint development of a plan for continuous school
improvement

• Positive working relationship exists between educators and parents.
• Close communication exists between school and home.
• Strong parent involvement is evident through attendance and participation at school- 

sponsored events.
• Parents are viewed as a vital component to the academic success of their students.

Rights of Parents 
1. To expect that their child will spend time at school in a safe, wholesome stimulating atmosphere engaged in

productive activity under the care and direction of a dedicated staff.
2. To be assured that school personnel will at no time preempt parental prerogative.
3. To be informed of district policy, school rules, and regulations.
4. To review their child’s record with a certificated staff member. To be informed, in regards to, schools receiving

Title 1 funds of their right to request information regarding the professional qualifications of their child’s teacher.
Also, any school that has been identified for Program Improvement or Corrective Action must promptly notify
parents regarding an explanation of the identification as well as other requirements specified in the Act.

PARENT INVOLVEMENT 



82 

Responsibilities of Parents 
1. To visit the school periodically to participate in conferences with teachers, counselors, or administrators

regarding the academic, attendance and behavioral status of their child.
2. To support their child by ensuring that he/she receives adequate sleep, nutrition, and appropriate clothing

before coming to school.
3. To apply and maintain consistent and adequate restraints in regards to their child’s overall behavior and to

approve of reasonable behavioral guidelines as applied by school personnel.
4. To cooperate with the school in bringing about improvements designed to enhance the educational program

offered students.
5. To provide the school with current information regarding legal address, phone, medical data, and other facts,

which may help the school to serve their child.
6.  

PARENT INVOLVEMENT OPPORTUNITIES 

Parental involvement is not a requirement for acceptance to, or continued enrollment at, the Charter School. 
[Ref. Education Code Section 47605(n)] 

SOUL Governing Council 
Parent involvement is essential to the success of the School of Unlimited Learning. Parent and student 
representatives will be offered to participate in the School Site Governing Council. 

SOUL Parent Meetings 
Parent meetings will be held regularly throughout the year. Meeting times and dates will be determined by parents 
completing a questionnaire when enrolling their child or at Back to School Night. They will focus on information 
pertinent to parents, such as school improvement efforts, mandated testing, school policies and procedures, etc. 

RIGHTS OF STUDENTS 
1. To attend school unless removed under due process as specified in California Education Code.
2. To attend school in a secure academic and social climate, free of fear and violence.
3. To enjoy the full benefit of their teacher’s instruction efforts, free of distraction by disruptive students.
4. To have ready access to a designated teacher/advisor.
5. To examine personal records upon reaching the age of sixteen.
6. To be fully informed of school rules and regulations.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF STUDENTS 

1. To attend school and classes regularly and on time.
2. To be prepared for class with appropriate materials and assignments.
3. To know and obey school rules and regulations.
4. To respect the rights of school personnel, fellow students, and the public in general.
5. To demonstrate pride in the appearance of school buildings and school grounds.

STUDENT CONCERNS 

Any student with a problem or concern may submit a Student Concern Form to the Principal. A meeting to resolve 
the issue will be held within five days of receipt of the Concern Form. The Concern forms are available outside the 
Career Center and online www.fresnoeoc.org/soul. 

http://www.fresnoeoc.org/soul


83 

ATTENDANCE POLICY (Classroom-Based Program) 

Goal 
To encourage consistent attendance on the part of our student body and positive participation on the part of 
the parents/guardians, thereby reducing truancy at SOUL and developing a stronger sense of accountability 
within the families. 

• A parent must call the school to inform the Case Manager of the students whereabouts if they are not in
school. (559) 500-1352

• Do I need to call every day my child is absent? Yes
• Any students with three or more consecutive absences should have a note from a health care provider.

Tardy Policy 
Students are expected to be inside the door of the classroom and in their seats ready to learn prior to the tardy 
bell ringing. Any student not in class before the tardy bell rings will be issued detention. 

Absences Defined 
Students are expected to attend class every day. The law no longer provides for “excused” absences. 
Students may have a “valid absence” but their attendance will be impacted and they will be required to 
make up any assignments missed. (EC48205). Valid absences can be defined as personal illness, 
attendance at funeral services for a member of the immediate family, part-day absences for medical/dental 
appointments, but will still be counted as an absence from school or class. 

Parent conferences will be scheduled for any student who demonstrates excessive absences for any reason. 
Invalid absences (truancy) occur when a student misses one or more classes/days without a valid reason. The 
police may detain students who are off campus without a valid excuse. Disciplinary action for cutting class, skipping 
school, or being habitually tardy or truant will be determined by the Guidance Dean’s office. 

Maximum Number of Absences 
When a student has nine absences, he/she is placed on an attendance contract. If the student breaks the 
attendance contract due to an invalid absence, the student is subject to being withdrawn from SOUL. The 
maximum number of total absences that a student can have in any given class per semester is 17. When the 
student incurs their 18th absence, in any given class they will be withdrawn from that class and will not receive any 
credit for that class. When a student incurs their 18th full day absence they will be withdrawn from SOUL. Students 
with a valid reason for being absent from school may participate in the Short-Term Independent Study Program. 

Short-Term Independent Study 
There are times throughout the year that a student may be absent for more than one day due to illness, travel, or 
unexpected family crises. SOUL’s classroom-based program offers a short-term independent study option for 
students who need to be absent for a period of more than two (2) school days but fewer than 10 school days. 
During their short-term absence from school, students are assigned independent work, which is supervised by their 
parent/guardian and due upon their designated return to school. Students who successfully complete the assigned 
work will not be marked absent during the days missed. Students who fail to submit completed assignments by due 
date designated on their independent study Master Agreement will be marked absent for all days missed. Students 
interested in the Short-Term Independent Study program must meet with the Vice Principal and complete all 
necessary paperwork before they can participate. 

Absences that are considered valid are NOT excused absences and will continue to count towards the students’ 
final attendance record. Absences may be considered valid for reasons specified in the California Education Code: 

Illness 
Quarantine 
Medical, dental, optometry, or chiropractic services 
Funeral for a member of the family 

RULES, REGULATIONS & POLICIES 



84 

Jury duty 
Justifiable personal reasons, including but not limited to: 

a. An appearance in court
b. Observance of a holiday or ceremony of his/her religion
c. Attendance at religious retreats (limited to four hours per semester)
d. An employment conference when the pupil’s absence has been requested in writing by the parent

or guardian and approved by the Principal or a designated representative pursuant to uniform
standards established by the governing board

e. When the pupil is the custodial parent of a child who is ill or has a medical appointment during
school hours.

Saturday Morning / Wednesday Evening School Schedule 

Students assigned to Wednesday or Saturday School may attend once per month during the following months: 

Month Day Date Day Date 

September Wednesday 
Evening 
4:00 – 6:00 pm 

September 10, 2025 Saturday 
Morning 
9:00 am – 12:00 pm 

September 13, 2025 

October Wednesday 
Evening 
4:00 – 6:00 pm 

October 8, 2025 Saturday 
Morning 
9:00 am – 12:00 pm 

October 11, 2025 

November Wednesday 
Evening 
4:00 – 6:00 pm 

November 12, 2025 Saturday 
Morning 
9:00 am – 12:00 pm 

November 15, 2025 

February Wednesday 
Evening 
4:00 – 6:00 pm 

February 11, 2026 Saturday 
Morning 
9:00 am – 12:00 pm 

February 21, 2026 

March Wednesday 
Evening 
4:00 – 6:00 pm 

March 11, 2026 Saturday 
Morning 
9:00 am – 12:00 pm 

March 14, 2026 

April Wednesday 
Evening 
4:00 – 6:00 pm 

April 8, 2026 Saturday 
Morning 
9:00 am – 12:00 pm 

April 11, 2025 

May Wednesday 
Evening 
4:00 – 6:00 pm 

May 13, 2026 Saturday 
Morning 
9:00 am – 12:00 pm 

May 16, 2026 



85 

Our Expectations 
Regarding student attendance, the School of Unlimited Learning retains the following expectations for all 
participating parties: 

Staff 
The staff of the School of Unlimited Learning will provide our students every opportunity to attend school on a 
regular basis, and in a timely manner. 

Student 
Every SOUL student will attend school and classes regularly and on time, and they will be prepared for class with 
appropriate materials and assignments. 

Parent/Guardians 
The parent/guardian of every SOUL student will encourage his/her child to attend school and class on a regular 
basis, in a timely manner, and will provide their child every opportunity to avoid “truancy”. 

TRUANCY PROCEDURES & CONSEQUENCES 
The following action(s) may be taken: 
*Staff will phone the home of every absent student daily to inform the parent/guardian of their child’s absences
*Case manager and/or teacher/student conference
*Parent notification by telephone or home visit by case manager
*Referral to tutorial class to make up tardy/absence (Wednesday / Saturday School)
*Detention
*Parent conference
*Referral to counseling, as appropriate
*School site alternative placement/community service
*Shortened day/modified schedule/modified program
*Student/parent contacts by case manager or Guidance Dean; student placement on contract

• Referral to Principal
• Additional parent notification by telephone, letter, or home visit
• Referral to Charter School Attendance Review Board, possible withdrawal

Education Code Sections 48291 and 48293 provide that parents/guardians who fail to send their children to school 
shall be subject to criminal complaint and, upon conviction, payment of a fine. 

DISCIPLINE RULES AND REGULATIONS 

Rules and regulations are established to maintain an atmosphere conducive to learning. Students who fail to 
comply with these rules and regulations will be counseled, reprimanded, suspended, or removed from the program. 
Each disciplinary action will be handled on a case-by-case basis. 
All students will comply with the regulations, pursue the required course of study, and respect the authority of the 
teachers and administration of the educational site. 
Attendance and participation at extracurricular activities are considered a part of the educational program. All rules 
of student conduct and dress code apply to extracurricular activities. 

Food/Beverages 
Food and beverages are not permitted in the theater or classrooms. Food and beverages are allowed during 
breakfast and lunch in the lunch/recreation room. 



86 

Use of Tobacco and Vaping 
The use of tobacco and/or vaping products or paraphernalia on the school grounds is illegal by state law. Any 
items found will be confiscated. Students found with such items may be subject to additional searches and 
disciplinary consequences. Vape detectors were installed in both the boy’s/girl’s restrooms. Any student present 
in the restrooms when the vape detector alarm is activated will be detained and asked to submit a voluntary 
search. Students refusing the voluntary search will be presumed to be under the influence or in possession of 
vape products and subject to SOUL’s drug use/drug possession policy. 

Smoke/Vape and Tobacco Free Policy 

As of January 13, 2025, the School of Unlimited Learning (SOUL) will be a Smoke/Vape and Tobacco-Free 
campus. This policy has been adopted by our campus to improve the health and safety of all students, faculty, 
staff and visitors. The use of cigarettes, e-cigarettes, vape pens or other devices that deliver a vaporized 
liquid, cigars, snuff, water pipes, pipes, hookahs, chew, unregulated electronic nicotine delivery systems, and 
any other non-combustible tobacco products will be strictly prohibited. 

Dion Varnado ED.D. 
Principal/Chief Academic Officer 

Littering 
Students are expected to help keep our school premises clean. Littering is prohibited. Littering includes throwing 
paper, food products, or any trash on school grounds. 

Defacing Property 
Any student or the parent/guardian of minor students will be held liable for all school property that is defaced. All 
incoming students, along with a parent/guardian, will be asked to read and sign the SOUL School Tagging Policy 
form. This form will outline the consequences for defacing the building and school property or any student’s 
personal items. This form will be placed in every student’s case management file. Any cost incurred from defacing 
property will be paid by student/family. All markers; e.g., sharpies, magic makers, or felt pens are prohibited. 
Students are not to bring markers to school. They will be confiscated and not returned. 

Use of Office Supplies 
Office supplies and equipment are for staff use (e.g.: copy machine, hole punchers, paper clips, telephones, etc.). 
Student use of office supplies, telephones and/or equipment must be by permission and under the supervision of 
appropriate staff. 

Use of School Telephones 
A student may be given permission to use their Case Manager’s phone if, in the judgment of available staff, the call 
is absolutely necessary. Only in an emergency should the Case Manager be contacted to interrupt a student in the 
classroom to deliver personal messages. 

Profanity 
The use of profanity is not permitted on school grounds. For the purpose of this handbook, profanity is defined as 
any type of obscene or vulgar language that is offensive to others. 



87 

Use of Electronic Devices, such as Cell phones, Smart Watches and Earbuds/Headphones 
Use of an electronic device of any kind is strictly prohibited on campus except in the recreation room during 
breakfast or lunch. The School of Unlimited Learning will not be responsible for lost or stolen property. 

Cell Phone Policy Guidelines 
The use of cell phones and/or electronic devices is prohibited in classrooms. Assembly Bill No. 32116 
requires “the governing body of a school district, county office of Education, or a charter school to, by 
July 1, 2025, develop and adopt, and to update every 5 years, a policy to limit or prohibit the use by it’s 

pupils of smart phones while the pupils are at a schoolsite or while the pupils are under the 
supervision and control of an employee or employees of that school district, county office of 

education, or charter school, as provided”. 

• As students enter the building, they will be asked to turn off their electronic devices and turn them in
before going to class. There will be a central area downstairs with reasonable accommodations for
every student’s electronic devices (cell phones, headphones/earbuds, watch phones, etc).
“Personalized Learning” students will turn in their electronic devices to their teacher prior to their
appointment starting, and will retrieve them at the conclusion of their appointment. “Seat Based”
students will be able to access their devices during lunch period, but will be required to turn them back
in at the conclusion of lunch period.

• If a student fails to turn in an electronic device, it will be assumed that they are not in possession of any
electronic device.

• If a student is found to be in possession of an electronic device while on campus (other than during
lunch period) they will be assigned detention and will be asked to bring their device to their respective
teacher. Their teacher will make sure that the Guidance Dean (or available Admin Staff) collects the
electronic device. The device shall be released to the student’s Parent/Guardian, or available family
member listed on student’s emergency card.

• Any student refusing to turn in an electronic device will be sent home for the day for defiance of
authority by the Guidance Dean, or available Admin Staff. Said student will be placed on student
contract in regard to use of an electronic device during class, and defiance of authority.



88 

The following offenses represent the School of Unlimited Learning’s Discipline Policy. All students who 
possess and/or commit the actions listed under the Discipline Policy are immediately suspended and 
recommended for expulsion unless, following a hearing, the particular circumstances of the case show that 
expulsion is inappropriate. A student may also be expelled for continual or serious misconduct. 

FIREARMS 
Possession, brandishing, sale or furnishing any firearm: 
*First Offense: Student will be recommended for expulsion.

DANGEROUS OBJECTS (KNIVES, EXPLOSIVES) 
Possession of any knife, explosive or other dangerous object, including but not limited to Swiss-Army style 
knives, exacto knives, box cutters, single-edged razor blades, pepper spray, aerosol cans: 
*First Offense: The student will be recommended for suspension.
*Second Offense: The student will be recommended for expulsion.

Brandishing any explosive, dangerous object or knife: 
*First Offense: The student will be recommended for expulsion.

OTHER PROHIBITED ITEMS: 
Laser pointers, tobacco or nicotine products (including but not limited to cigarettes, vape products, snuff, 
smokeless tobacco, chew packets and betel), prescription and non-prescription drugs, aerosol cans and drug 
paraphernalia. 

SEXUAL HARASSMENT: 
Sexual harassment is a violation of state and federal laws and disciplinary consequences will be applied. 

SEXUAL BATTERY/ASSAULT: 
Sexual battery, which involves unlawful and unwanted touching of another or sexual assault, is a violation of 
penal code and will result in a recommendation for expulsion. 

CONTROLLED SUBSTANCES (ILLEGAL DRUGS, ALCOHOL, INTOXICANTS 
Using or possessing a controlled substance (illegal drugs, alcohol, intoxicants) or being under the influence: 
*First Offense: The student will be suspended and recommended for placement/completion of a drug
counseling program.
*Second Offense: The student will be recommended for expulsion.

SELLING OR FURNISHING A CONTROLLED SUBSTANCE (ILLEGAL DRUGS, ALCOHOL,INTOXICANTS): 
*First Offense: The student will be recommended for expulsion.

FIGHTING 
Fighting, attempting to fight: 
*First Offense: The student will be recommended for suspension

THREATS / BULLYING / RACIAL SLURS 
Repeated threats to fight, bullying, or racial slurs will result in disciplinary actions: 
*First Offense: Student will be recommended for suspension.
*Second Offense: The student will be recommended for expulsion.
SERIOUS BODILY INJURY/TERRORIST THREATS
For causing serious bodily injury, striking or threatening a student or district employee or making terrorist
threats:

DISCIPILINE POLICY 



89 

*First Offense: The student will be recommended for expulsion.
(Any offenses involving drugs, alcohol, dangerous objects, causing serious bodily injury or making terrorist
threats will be reported to the proper legal authorities).
THESE REGULATIONS APPLY AT ANY SCHOOL RELATED ACTIVITY INCLUDING, BUT NOT LIMITED
TO:

1. On school grounds (this includes the parking lot, lockers, as well as vehicles )
2. Going to or coming from school, including the bus stop
3. On breakfast or lunch break
4. At, going to, or coming from a school-sponsored activity

LIABILITY OF PARENT OR GUARDIAN FOR WILLFUL PUPIL MISCONDUCT 

California Education Code (EC) Section 48904(a)(1) provides that the parent or guardian of a minor is liable for all 
damages caused by the willful misconduct of the minor that results in the injury or death of any pupil, school district 
or private school employee, or school volunteer. The parent or guardian is also liable for damages to real or 
personal property belonging to the school district or private school, or personal property belonging to a school 
employee, resulting from the willful misconduct of the minor. The liability of the parent or guardian shall not exceed 
$10,000, adjusted for inflation per EC section 48904 (a)(2). 

EC Section 48904 (a)(1) also specifies that the parent or guardian of a minor is liable for any reward offered by a 
local agency pursuant to Government Code Section 53069.5 for information leading to the identification and 
apprehension of the minor who willfully damages or destroys property, or whose willful misconduct results in injury 
or death to any person. This liability also shall not exceed $10,000, adjusted for inflation per EC Section 
48904(a)(2). 



90 

The following are the disciplinary sanctions that may be invoked by the staff of the School of Unlimited Learning. 

Detention 
A student is assigned detention for violating school rules and regulations. An assigned detention will last 25 
minutes. Detention takes priority over all other school obligations. Students are required to report to detention that 
same day unless another date and time has been assigned or prearranged. No one is excused from detention 
without prior approval from the Principal or Principal designee. Students who do not serve detention when it is 
assigned are subject to additional penalties. 

Alternative Placement/Community Service 
The School of Unlimited Learning works to provide positive corrective measures through its Alternative 
Placement/Community Service Program. 

Student Contract 
Student contracts are utilized as a means to reinforce disciplinary actions. Students are placed on a contract to 
emphasize the importance of a change from unacceptable to acceptable behavior. The Student Contract spells out 
for the student the type of behavior that is acceptable. The contract is used prior to punitive measures in an 
attempt to correct behavioral problems before they escalate into offenses that lead to suspension and/or withdrawal 
from the program. Violation of the contracts results in a referral to the Principal or Principal designee. Violation 
may lead to community service, mandatory student/parent counseling with a case manager, or withdrawal from the 
program. 

Suspension 
Suspension, the temporary removal of the student from the student body, is a serious disciplinary sanction. A 
student is suspended for violating the California Educational Code, or the School of Unlimited Learning’s Displine 
Policy. The student may be referred to parental supervision for the period of suspension or may be assigned on- 
campus suspension under the supervision of school personnel. A suspended student is removed from all extra- 
curricular and co-curricular activities for a designated period of time. It is the responsibility of the student to 
complete any assignments missed during their suspension. 

Expulsion 
Upon recommendation, the Principal pursues a student’s expulsion from the school. A student may be expelled for 
continual or serious misconduct. A student can be expelled for a serious offense or for a series of infractions 
detrimental to the order of the school. Students of the School of Unlimited Learning may be expelled from the 
charter school for persistent non-compliance with the terms of this charter or the rules, procedures, and policies 
outlined in the SOUL parent/student handbook. SOUL maintains a holistic set of student discipline policies. These 
policies are distributed as part of the school’s parent/student handbook and clearly describe the school’s 
expectations regarding attendance, mutual respect, substance abuse, violence, safety, work habits, and acceptable 
behavior. 

SOUL’s procedures for handling student discipline, suspension, and expulsion from the program are clearly 
defined. Prior to enrollment, each student and his/her parent/guardian are required to verify that they have 
reviewed and understand the school policies. Students that have either violated the school’s discipline policies, 
who have caused a serious disruption to the educational process, and/or who present a safety threat may be 
suspended for up to 5 school days. The school notifies and confers with the student’s parent/guardian as soon as 
possible regarding the suspension as provided below. If the violation of the discipline policy constitutes a serious 
offense, and/or if the student presents an ongoing threat to the safety of the school in general, the Principal will 
make a recommendation to expel the student from the school. In such cases, the school sends a written notice of 
the facts, allegations, and student/parent rights to the parent/guardian and a hearing regarding the offense is held 
before the Principal or his/her designee as described below. The Principal may determine that the student be 
expelled or offered reinstatement, as appropriate. These processes are amended as required by law to protect the 
rights of students with disabilities or exceptional needs. 

DISCIPLINARY ACTIONS 



91 

SUSPENSION OR EXPULSION 

Education Code 48900 - Conditions for Suspension, Expulsion 
A pupil shall not be suspended from school or recommended for expulsion unless the superintendent or the 
principal of the school in which the pupil is enrolled determines that the pupil has violated section 48900, 
section 48900.2, section 48900.3, or section 48900.4 of the California Education Code: (1) While open school 
grounds; (2) While going to or coming from school; (3) During the lunch period whether on or off campus or (4) 
During, or while going to or coming from a school sponsored activity or under the supervision of school staff. 
A student may be suspended or expelled for an action when it is determined that the pupil has committed an 
act as defined pursuant to any of subdivisions listed in CA Education Code 48900-48927. For a full list please 
visit www.cde.ca.gov. 
This policy will apply to students in grades 9-12. Hereafter, all students who possess and/or commit the actions 
listed under the SOUL Displine Policy may be suspended and recommended for expulsion, unless the 
circumstances of the case show that expulsion is inappropriate following a hearing. 

Enforcement of Discipline 
A pupil may not be suspended or expelled from the program, for any of the acts enumerated unless that act is 
related to SOUL School academia, activities and/or attendance under the jurisdiction of the Fresno Economic 
Opportunities Commission. A pupil may be suspended or expelled for the enumerated acts related to school 
academics, activities, or attendance that occur anytime, including but not limited to, any of the following: while on 
school grounds, while going to or coming from school, during the lunch period (whether on or off the campus), 
during, or while going to or coming from a school sponsored activity. 
The principal or designee takes appropriate action to eliminate possession, use, or sale of alcohol and other 
drugs and related paraphernalia on school grounds, at school events, or in any situation in which the school is 
responsible for the conduct and well-being of students. Student possession, sales, and/or use of drugs or alcohol, 
and the results thereof, is subject to disciplinary procedure that result in suspension and/or expulsion. 
The Principal will determine whether the student will be expelled from the school based on the procedures below. A 
student may be expelled for continual or serious misconduct outlined in the SOUL parent/student handbook and 
consistent with the enumerated offenses). A student can be expelled for a serious offense, or for a series of 
infractions detrimental to the order of the school. 
All acts of violence committed and instances of possession of weapons are recorded per pupil, on their record. In 
every case, students who violate the enumerated offenses are referred to the appropriate law enforcement 
authorities. Parents/guardians acknowledge review of the SOUL’s Displine Policy by their signature on said policy 
during an orientation upon student enrollment. 

Suspension Procedures 
Suspensions shall be initiated according to the following procedure: 
1. Conference

Suspension shall be preceded, if possible, by a conference conducted by the Principal or his/her designee with
the student and his or her parent and, whenever practical, the teacher, supervisor, or SOUL employee who
referred the student. The conference may be omitted if it is determined that an emergency situation exists. An
“emergency situation” involves a clear and present danger to the lives, safety, or health of students or SOUL
personnel. If a student is suspended without this conference, both the parent/guardian and student shall be
notified of the student’s right to return to school for the purpose of a conference. At the conference, the student
shall be informed of the reason for the disciplinary action and the evidence against him or her and shall be given
the opportunity to present his or her version and evidence in his or her defense. This conference shall be held
within two school days unless the student waives this right or is physically unable to attend for any reason
including, but not limited to, incarceration or hospitalization. No penalties may be imposed on a student for
failure of the student’s parent or guardian to attend a conference with SOUL officials. Reinstatement of the
suspended student shall not be contingent upon attendance by the student’s parent or guardian at the
conference.

2. Notice to Parents/Guardians
At the time of the suspension, the Principal or his/her designee shall make a reasonable effort to contact the

http://www.cde.ca.gov/


92 

parent/guardian by telephone or in person. Whenever a student is suspended, the parent/guardian shall be 
notified in writing of the suspension and the date of return following suspension. This notice shall state the 
specific offense committed by the student. In addition, the notice will also state the date and time when the 
student may return to school. If SOUL officials wish to ask the parent/guardian to confer regarding matters 
pertinent to the suspension, the notice may request that the parent/guardian respond to such requests without 
delay. 

3. Suspension Time Limits/Recommendation for Expulsion
Suspensions, when not including a recommendation for expulsion, shall not exceed five (5) consecutive
school days per suspension. Upon a recommendation of expulsion by the Principal or his/her
designee, the student and the student’s guardian or representative will be invited to a conference to
determine if the suspension for the pupil should be extended pending an expulsion hearing. This
determination will be made by the Principal or his/her designee upon either of the following: 1) the student’s
presence will be disruptive to the education process; or 2) the pupil poses a threat or danger to others. Upon
either determination, the pupil’s suspension will be extended pending the results of an expulsion hearing.

Expulsion Procedures 
Students recommended for expulsion are entitled to a hearing before the Principal or his/her designee to determine 
whether the student should be expelled. Unless postponed for good cause, the hearing shall be held within thirty 
(30) school days after the Principal or his/her designee determines that the student has committed an expellable
offense.
In the event the Principal hears the case, he/she will make a recommendation to the Board for a final decision
whether to expel.
Written notice of the hearing shall be forwarded to the student and the student’s parent/guardian at least ten (10)
calendar days before the date of the hearing. Upon mailing the notice, it shall be deemed served upon the student.
The notice shall include:

The date and place of the expulsion hearing. 
A statement of the specific facts, charges and offenses upon which the proposed expulsion is based; 
A copy of the SOUL disciplinary rule which relates to the alleged violation. 
Notification of the student’s or parent/guardian’s obligation to provide information about the student’s status at 
SOUL to any other school district or school to which the student seeks enrollment. 
The opportunity for the student or the student’s parent/guardian to appear in person or to employ and be 
represented by counsel or a non-attorney advisor. 
The right to inspect and obtain copies of all documents to be used at the hearing. 
The opportunity to confront and question all witnesses who testify at the hearing. 
The opportunity to question all evidence presented and to present oral and documentary evidence on the 
student’s behalf including witnesses. 

Presentation of Evidence 
While technical rules of evidence do not apply to expulsion hearings, evidence may be admitted and used as proof 
only if it is the kind of evidence on which reasonable persons can rely in the conduct of serious affairs. A 
recommendation by the Principal to expel must be supported by substantial evidence that the student committed 
an expellable offense. Findings of fact shall be based solely on the evidence at the hearing. While hearsay 
evidence is admissible, no decision to expel shall be based solely on hearsay. Sworn declarations may be admitted 
as testimony from witnesses of whom the disciplinary committee or designee determines that disclosure of their 
identity or testimony at the hearing may subject them to an unreasonable risk of physical or psychological harm. 
If, due to a written request by the expelled student, the hearing is held at a public meeting, and the charge is 
committing or attempting to commit a sexual assault or committing a sexual battery, a complaining witness shall 
have the right to have his or her testimony heard in a session closed to the public. 
The Principal will make a final determination regarding expulsion. Following a decision to expel, written notice of 
the decision to expel shall be sent, including the adopted findings of fact, to the student or parent/guardian. This 
notice shall also include the following: 1) Notice of the specific offense committed by the student; and 2) Notice of 
the student’s or parent/guardian obligation to inform any new district in which the student seeks to enroll of the 
student’s status with SOUL. A written notice of the decision to expel shall also be sent to the authorizing district. 



93 

This notice shall include the following: 1) The student’s name; 2) the specific expellable offense committed by the 
student. 
The final decision shall be made within ten (10) school days following the conclusion of the hearing. The Decision 
may be appealed to the Board. Any decision on the appeal by the Board is final. 
If the Principal decides against expulsion, the student shall immediately be returned to his or her educational 
program. 

Special Procedures for the Consideration of Suspension/Expulsion of Students with Disabilities. 
A student receiving special education services can be suspended for less than 10 days to the same extent 
applied to students without disabilities. Parents are immediately informed of disciplinary action via telephone 
and in writing. Fresno Unified Special Education personnel is also informed of the disciplinary action including 
the date, incident and number of days the student is suspended. The Special Education staff will begin a review of 
the IEP when the student has accumulated 8 suspension days. 
If a student is suspended 10 days or more, a parent meeting is held, parents are informed of their right to appeal 
the disciplinary action, and given the rights and responsibilities for students with disabilities. Fresno Unified Special 
Education personnel is informed and an IEP meeting is held to conduct the manifest determination and the 
functional behavior assessment. 
If the IEP team determines that the behavior is not related to the disability, the student may be suspended or 
withdrawn, as would a non-disabled student. Special education services would continue to be provided, including a 
behavior plan that would allow him/her to continue progress toward the IEP and general education goals. 
If the IEP team determines that the behavior is related to the disability, the student is not suspended, withdrawn, or 
recommended for expulsion. The team decides on an appropriate program and service options, along with the 
development of an appropriate behavior plan. 

Services During Suspension 
Students suspended for more than ten (10) school days in a school year continue to receive services so as to 
enable the student to: 
a) Continue to participate in the general education curriculum, although in another setting.
b) To make progress toward the goals set out in the child's IEP, and receive a functional behavioral assessment or
functional analysis.
c) Receive behavioral intervention services and modifications that are designed to address the behavior violation
so that it does not recur. These services may be provided on an interim basis in an alternative, educational setting.

Procedural Safeguards/Manifestation Determination 
Within ten (10) school days of a recommendation for expulsion or any decision to change the placement of a child 
with a disability because of a violation of a code of student conduct, the SOUL staff, the parent, and relevant 
members of the IEP Team review all relevant information in the student's file, including the child's IEP, any teacher 
observations, and any relevant information provided by the parents to determine: 
a) If the conduct in question was caused by, or had a direct and substantial relationship to the child's disability.
b) If the conduct in question was the direct result of the local educational agency's failure to implement the IEP.
If the Charter School, the parent, and relevant members of the IEP Team determine that either of the above is
applicable for the child, the conduct is determined to be a manifestation of the child's disability.
If the Charter School, the parent, and relevant members of the IEP Team make the determination that the conduct
was a manifestation of the child's disability, the IEP Team does the following:
a) Conducts a functional behavioral assessment or a functional analysis assessment, and implements a behavioral
intervention plan for said child, provided that the Charter School had not conducted such an assessment prior to
the behavior that resulted in a change of placement;
b) Reviews the child’s behavioral intervention plan if the child already has such a plan (or develop one if necessary)
and discuss what, if any, modifications would be necessary to address the behavior.
c) Returns the child to the placement from which the child was removed, unless the parent and the Charter School
agree to a change of placement as part of the modification of the behavioral intervention plan.
If the Charter School, the parent, and relevant members of the IEP team determine that the behavior was not a
manifestation of the student’s disability and that the conduct in question was not a result of the failure to implement
the IEP, then the Charter School may apply the relevant disciplinary procedures to children with disabilities in the
same manner and for the same duration as the procedures would be applied to students without disabilities.



94 

CLOSED CAMPUS POLICY 
The School of Unlimited Learning is a closed campus. This is to assist in creating a safe educational setting. At no 
point during the school day are students permitted to leave campus for any reason without an off-campus permit 
issued by appropriate staff. 



95 

Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972 (“Title IX”) prohibits discrimination on the basis of sex in any 
federally funded education program or activity. Sexual harassment, which includes sexual violence, is a form of 
sex discrimination. Fresno EOC’s School of Unlimited Learning, as a recipient of federal funds, complies with 
Title IX and has designated the following individual to serve as the Title IX Coordinator: 

Rena Failla, Guidance Counselor Coordinator, School of Unlimited Learning 
559-500-0961
Rena.failla@fresnoeoc.org

Any student, employee, or applicant for employment or admission to the Fresno EOC’s School of Unlimited 
Learning Charter High School who believes that he or she has been discriminated against on the basis of sex, 
may file a complaint with the Title IX Coordinator. The Title IX Coordinator will assist the complainant in 
identifying the appropriate school policy and corresponding grievance procedure to resolve the complaint in a 
prompt and equitable manner. The Title IX Coordinator may consult with Fresno EOC Human Resources, as 
needed, to resolve the complaint in the most effective manner. 

Fresno Economic Opportunities Commission 
559-263-1070

The following list of rights, as delineated in California Education Code 221.8, are based on the relevant 
provisions of the federal regulations implementing Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972 (20 U.S.C. 
Sec. 1681 et seq.). 

(a) You have the right to fair and equitable treatment and you shall not be discriminated against based on
your sex.
(b) You have the right to be provided with an equitable opportunity to participate in all academic
extracurricular activities, including athletics.
(c) You have the right to inquire of the athletic director of your school as to the athletic opportunities offered
by the school.
(d) You have the right to apply for athletic scholarships.
(e) You have the right to receive equitable treatment and benefits in the provision of all of the following:

(1) Equipment and supplies.
(2) Scheduling of games and practices.
(3) Transportation and daily allowances.
(4) Access to tutoring.
(5) Coaching.
(7) Practice and competitive facilities.
(9) Publicity.

(f) You have the right to have access to a gender equity coordinator to answer questions regarding gender
equity laws.
(g) You have the right to contact the State Department of Education and the California Interscholastic
Federation to access information on gender equity laws.
(h) You have the right to file a confidential discrimination complaint with the United States Office of Civil
Rights or the State Department of Education if you believe you have been discriminated against or if you
believe you have received unequal treatment on the basis of your sex.
(i) You have the right to pursue civil remedies if you have been discriminated against.
(j) You have the right to be protected against retaliation if you file a discrimination complaint.

More information regarding Title IX rights of pupils and the public, and the responsibilities of the school, can be 
found on the following websites: 
Office for Equal Opportunity: https://www.eeoc.gov/eeoc/internal_eeo/ 
United States Department of Education Office of Civil Rights: 
https://www2.ed.gov/about/offices/list/ocr/know.html 

mailto:Rena.failla@fresnoeoc.org
https://www.eeoc.gov/eeoc/internal_eeo/
https://www2.ed.gov/about/offices/list/ocr/know.html


96 

Fresno EOC’S School of Unlimited Learning 
Uniform Discrimination/Harassment Complaint 
Procedure 

The School of Unlimited Learning is committed to providing a learning environment that is free from illegal 
harassment. Harassment of any student by any other student or employee is prohibited. The school will 
treat allegations of harassment seriously and will review and investigate such allegations in a prompt, 
confidential, and thorough manner. A charge of harassment shall not, in and of itself, create a 
presumption of wrongdoing; however, any substantiated acts of harassment will result in disciplinary 
actions, up to and including withdrawal. 

1. Harassment occurs when an individual is subjected to treatment, or a school environment which is
hostile or intimidating because of the individual’s race, creed, color, national origin, ancestry, physical
disability, mental condition, marital status, age, sex or sexual preference, or any other basis protected
under federal, state and local law.

The School of Unlimited Learning has the primary responsibility to insure compliance with applicable 
state and federal laws and regulations and has established procedures to address allegations of unlawful 
discrimination and complaints alleging violation of state or federal laws governing educational programs. 

The School of Unlimited Learning shall investigate and seek to resolve complaints using policies and 
procedures known as the Uniform Complaint Procedures (UCP) adopted by our board. Unlawful 
discrimination complaints may be based on actual or perceived sex, sexual orientation, gender, ethnic 
group identification, race, ancestry, national origin, religion, color, or mental or physical disability, or age, 
or on a person’s association with a person or group with one or more of these actual or perceived 
characteristics, in any program or activity that receives or benefits from state financial assistance. The 
UCP shall also be used when addressing complaints alleging failure to comply with state and/or federal 
laws in Adult Education, Consolidated Categorical Aid Programs, Career Technical, Technical Education, 
Training Programs, Child Care and Developmental Programs, Special Educational Programs, and Federal 
Safety Planning Requirements. 

In accordance with SOUL’s Uniform Complaint Procedures we shall follow uniform complaint procedures 
when addressing complaints alleging unlawful discrimination against protected group. Protected groups 
put forth under Title IX and in California are enumerated by Education Code §§ 200 and 220, Government 
Code §§ 11135, and include actual or perceived sex, sexual orientation, gender, ethnicity, race, ancestry, 
national origin, religion, color, mental or physical disability, and age, as well as association with members 
of a protected class. Additionally, it is the policy of the State of California, pursuant to Section 200, that 
all persons should enjoy freedom from discrimination and/or harassment of any kind in the educational 
institutions of the state. This also includes sexual harassment, which is a form of sexual discrimination. 
UCP forms are available upon request from administration. 

The Agency designates the individual(s) identified below as the employee(s) responsible for coordinating 
the Agency’s response to complaints and for complying with state and federal civil rights laws. The 
individual(s) also serve as the compliance officer(s) specified in Nondiscrimination/Harassment as the 
responsible employee to handle complaints regarding sex discrimination. The individual(s) shall receive 
and coordinate the investigation of complaints and shall ensure Agency compliance with law. 

Fresno Economic Opportunities 
Commission 559-263-1070 



97 

Body Shaming Prevention Policy 
Policy Statement: SOUL is committed to cultivating a school environment where every individual 
feels valued, accepted and safe. Body shaming in any form is strictly prohibited. This includes, but 
is not limited to, unsolicited verbal comments, non-verbal gestures, and digital content that mock, 
stigmatize, or draw attention to an individual’s physical appearance in a manner that is perceived as 
negative regardless of the intent. 

Scope: SOUL will protect the mental and emotional well-being of all students and staff, recognizing 
the impact body shaming has on school climate, relationships and learning. This will apply to all 
members of the SOUL community including students, staff, faculty, administrators, families and 
visitors and during all school activities. Body shaming may intersect with bullying, sexual harassment 
or other forms of discrimination. 

Prevention Strategies: SOUL is committed to fostering a safe, respectful and inclusive learning 
environment by preventing and addressing body shaming in all its forms. To prevent body shaming 
and provide a culture of belonging, SOUL will promote identity-affirming and culturally responsive 
practices in all classrooms. Body positivity and messages that promote respect for all bodies will be 
integrated into health and wellness education. Ongoing professional development for staff will include 
understanding the signs, impacts and system roots of body shaming, how to intervene in harmful 
behaviors, modeling inclusive language and respectful engagement, and engaging in reflective 
practices related to personal bias and self-awareness. 

Reporting and Response: Anyone who experiences or witnesses body shaming is encouraged to 
report to SOUL’s confidential and accessible reporting system for students and staff. All reports will 
be taken seriously and investigated promptly. Consequences for engaging in body shaming will follow 
the school’s discipline policy and may include restorative practices, counseling or other appropriate 
interventions. This policy will be reviewed regularly with input from students, staff and families. 

Student Supports and Resources: Students affected by body shaming will have access to school 
counselors and mental health resources. SOUL will partner with families to provide additional support 
as needed. Staff will receive guidance on making referrals for students impacted by body shaming. 

Monitoring and Evaluation: This policy will be reviewed annually and updated in accordance with 
state guidelines along with input from the school community. Updates will also consider data on 
reported incidents and outcomes. This policy will be posted on the school’s website and shared 
through parent/student orientations, staff meetings and school assemblies. It will be made available 
in multiple languages as needed. 



98 

DRESS CODE POLICY 

The staff at SOUL appreciate the individuality and unique qualities of each of our students, yet also recognize the 
need for student conformity to school, community and job site standards of dress. Accordingly, nothing in this 
code shall be construed as prohibiting the staff from occasionally requiring individual students to comply with a 
change in garb or personal expression if, in the opinion of the staff, the individual’s appearance is disruptive to the 
educational process. 

A student will not be prevented from attending school or a school function, or otherwise be discriminated against, 
as long as his/her dress and appearance does not disrupt the educational process and complies with requirements 
for health and safety. 

Any apparel, hairstyle or cosmetic that draws undue attention to the wearer and tends to detract from the 
educational process will not be tolerated. 

• All clothing must be clean and worn appropriately.
• Headwear including hairnets and plastic caps, will not be allowed at school. Hats or caps must be removed

in all buildings/classrooms.
• Sunglasses are not to be worn in the buildings/classroom.
• Shoes must be worn on campus and at school functions.
• Attire with lettering or drawings that depict sexually suggestive expressions or actions, profanity, obscenity,

depict drugs, alcohol, tobacco, gang or neighborhood affiliations, or degrades the integrity of the individual
may not be worn at school or school functions.

• Cat Suits, underwear type sleeveless shirts, tube tops, and halter-tops, spaghetti straps and braless
dresses or tops are not acceptable.

• All see-through apparel and any attire that exposes the midriff are not acceptable. This includes radically
altered clothing.

• Dresses, skirts, and shorts must be at least the length of walking shorts. All shorts must have a minimum
6" in-seam.

• Attire that may be used as a weapon may not be worn, e.g.; steel toed boots, chains, items with spikes or
studs.

• Gang-related symbols, insignia, or any apparel that tends to intimidate others are not to be worn.
• Tank tops must be at least 2" wide at the shoulder.
• Under garments must be covered at all times.
• Baggy pants must not exceed more than 5 inches when gathered from around the knee while the student is

standing up.
• Pants must be worn no lower than 2 inches below waist.
• Piercings are acceptable as long as they are not disruptive to the educational environment. A student may

be asked to remove a piercing if it becomes disruptive.
• No solid Red or Blue attire above the waist.

Consequences 

First Incident:  Student may be sent home to change or given a loaner shirt at school. If student goes home, 
upon return, he/she will be given a tardy and detention for the day. If student does not 
return, the absence will be considered a ditch. 

Second Incident: Same as first incident. 

Third Incident: Student will be put on student contract. 

Possible program changes could include termination from the school and referral back to the appropriate district 
alternative education department. 



99 

SCHOOL OF UNLIMITED LEARNING 
TAGGING POLICY 

Students caught with and/or in possession of ANY of the following items will be subject to consequences up to 
and including Suspension and/or Expulsion from the School of Unlimited Learning. They include: 

1. Back Packs with ANY form of tagging on them.
2. Binders with ANY form of tagging on them.
3. SOUL School books, binders, journals, written assignments, etc
4. Personal books, binders, journals, written assignments, etc.
5. Tagging Materials (permanent markers, spray cans, felt pens, etc.)

This policy was enacted in an effort to ensure our school maintains a consistently safe and productive 
environment for both students and staff. 



100 

The School of Unlimited Learning’s 
LOCAL SCHOOL WELLNESS POLICY 

2025/2026 

Objectives 

The School of Unlimited Learning recognizes the link between a healthy diet and a student’s ability to learn 
effectively and achieve high standards in school. SOUL also recognizes its role, as part of the larger 
community, to promote family health and provide a sound foundation for future physical well-being. 

SOUL Believes: 

1. In providing the most healthy and appealing food choices possible on school premises, significantly
contributing to the nutritional well-being of students and staff.

2. That the nutritional quality of breakfast, lunch, snacks, and beverages that it serves should bconsidered
as carefully as its selection of educational support materials.

3. That foods prepared and served in ways that provide a pleasant atmosphere for students and staff will
encourage a fundamental experience toward building friendships, celebrating our diversity, and
developing life-long healthy eating patterns.

Goals and Strategies 

1. Ensure that a healthy and nutritious breakfast and lunch is made available to every student so that they
are prepared to perform in the classroom at an optimum level.
a. SOUL shall maintain the financial stability of its Food Service Program.
b. SOUL shall develop a coordinated and comprehensive outreach and promotion plan to ensure

maximum participation in the school meal program.
c. SOUL shall ensure that all students be made aware of the availability of a free lunch through its

participation in the CEP Provision program.
2. Ensure the nutritional quality and quantity of all foods served or made available to students and staff.

a. The Child Nutrition Service program will increase the availability of fresh fruits and vegetables,
using California grown produce when feasible, as part of the school food service program.

b. The District shall exercise control over all vending machines on it’s property including vendors,
locations, contents, and appearance.

c. Vending machines accessible to students shall only dispense SB 19 compliant foods and
beverages.
iii. Vending machines accessible to staff shall dispense SB 19 compliant and non-compliant

foods and beverages in
appropriate proportion. 

3. The Child Nutrition Service program will serve food in quantities appropriate to the needs of students at
their age level.

4. Ensure meals are served in a pleasant environment.
5. Ensure that nutrition education becomes an integral part of its educational program.

a. SOUL shall create increased training opportunities for all staff on basic nutrition and nutrition
education.

b. Teachers shall be provided with training and resources to integrate nutritious eating
experiences, gardens, and nutrition education into the curriculum for math, science, history, and
language arts at all grade levels.

c. SOUL shall establish a garden giving students the opportunity to plant, harvest, prepare, cook,
and eat food they have grown. Incentives will be offered to school staff who utilize the gardens.

5. Ensure all food and beverage not served through Child Nutrition Services meet basic nutrition
standards.



101 

a. Non-nutritious foods, including but not limited to candy, soft drinks, and chewing gum, cannot be
sold by or to students during their official school day (defined as one half hour before the official
school day begins, until one half hour after the official school day ends).

b. SOUL will encourage alternative fundraising strategies such as sales of non-food items,
promotion of physical activity, and/or sales of nutritious food items.

6. Ensure students are offered expanded opportunity for physical activity and promote lifelong physical
activity.
a. Increase the amount of class time spent engaging in moderate-to- vigorous activity through

curriculum and/or teacher training.
b. The Physical Education Program will decrease time spent on competitive sports (which can

exclude potential participants) and increase emphasis on teaching fitness and lifelong
recreational aerobic activities.

7. Create/expand community partnerships to increase the range of physical activity options available to
students and staff, on and off campus.
a. Bring in local experts that specialize in sports or activities not traditionally taught during P.E.

classes or an after-school setting, such as local law enforcement teaching self-defense.
b. Partner with fitness clubs and off-campus physical activity classes allowing students and staff

access to special rates.
c. Increase the amount of physical activity related enrichment classes.

8. Establish and sustain a Child Nutrition and Physical Education Advisory

Committee (CNPEAC). 
a. The Child Nutrition and Physical Education Advisory Committee will discuss nutrition and

physical education related topics of concern in the school community and help make policy
recommendations to the Board of Education.

b. The Advisory Committee shall include, but not limit itself to, the following members:
1. A minimum of one Community/Parent representative.
2. A Child Nutrition Services representative.
3. The Principal.
4. Two teachers with at least one being the physical education teacher.
5. An independent evaluator.

c. The Advisory Committee shall meet at least six times during the year at hours convenient for
public participation.

Approved by SOUL Governing Council 



102 

ACCEPTABLE USE AGREEMENT AND RELEASE OF AGENCY FROM LIABILITY (STUDENTS) 

Fresno Economic Opportunities Commission (hereafter referred to as “Agency”) authorizes students to use 
technology at the School of Unlimited Learning owned or otherwise provided by the Agency as necessary for 
instructional purposes. The use of Agency technology is a privilege permitted at the discretion of Fresno Economic 
Opportunities Commission and is subject to the conditions and restrictions set forth in applicable Agency policies, 
administrative regulations, and this Acceptable Use Agreement. The Agency reserves the right to suspend access 
at any time, without notice, for any reason. 

The Agency expects all students to use technology responsibly in order to avoid potential problems and liability. 
The Agency may place reasonable restrictions on the sites, material, and/or information that students may access 
through the system. 

Each student who is authorized to use Agency technology and his/her parent/guardian shall sign this Acceptable 
Use Agreement as an indication that they have read and understand the agreement. 

Definitions 
The Agency’s technology includes, but is not limited to, computers, the Agency’s computer network including 
servers and wireless computer networking technology (wifi), the Internet, email, USB drives, wireless access points 
(routers), tablet computers, smartphones and smart devices, telephones, cellular telephones, wearable technology, 
any wireless communication device including emergency radios, and/or future technological innovations, whether 
accessed on or off site or through Agency-owned or personally owned equipment or devices. 

Student Obligations and Responsibilities 
Students are expected to use Agency technology safely, responsibly, and for educational purposes only. The 
student in whose name Agency technology is issued is responsible for use at all times. Students shall not share 
their assigned online services account information, passwords, or other information used for identification and 
authorization purposes, and shall use the system only under the account to which they have been assigned. 

Students are prohibited from using Agency technology for improper purposes, including, but not limited to, use of 
Agency technology to: 

1. Access, post, display, or otherwise use material that is discriminatory, libelous, defamatory, obscene,
sexually explicit, or disruptive

2. Bully, harass, intimidate, or threaten other students, staff, or other individuals ("cyberbullying")
3. Disclose, use, or disseminate personal identification information (such as name, address, telephone

number, Social Security number, or other personal information) of another student, staff member, or other
person with the intent to threaten, intimidate, harass, or ridicule that person

4. Infringe on copyright, license, trademark, patent, or other intellectual property rights
5. Intentionally disrupt or harm Agency technology or other Agency operations (such as destroying Agency

equipment, placing a virus on Agency computers, adding or removing a computer program without
permission from a teacher or other Agency personnel, changing settings on shared computers)

6. Install unauthorized software
7. "Hack" into the system to manipulate data of the Agency or other users
8. Engage in or promote any practice that is unethical or violates any law or Board policy, administrative

regulation, or Agency practice

Privacy 
Since the use of Agency technology is intended for educational purposes, students shall not have any expectation 
of privacy in any use of Agency technology. 

The Agency reserves the right to monitor and record all use of Agency technology, including, but not limited to, 
access to the Internet or social media, communications sent or received from Agency technology, or other uses. 



103 

Such monitoring/recording may occur at any time without prior notice for any legal purposes including, but not 
limited to, record retention and distribution and/or investigation of improper, illegal, or prohibited activity. Students 
should be aware that, in most instances, their use of Agency technology (such as web searches and emails) 
cannot be erased or deleted. 

All passwords created for or used on any Agency technology are the sole property of the Fresno EOC. The 
creation or use of a password by a student on Agency technology does not create a reasonable expectation of 
privacy. 

Personally Owned Devices 
No personally owned devices are allowed to access Agency technology. 

Reporting 
If a student becomes aware of any security problem (such as any compromise of the confidentiality of any login or 
account information) or misuse of Agency technology, he/she shall immediately report such information to the 
teacher or other school personnel. 

Consequences for Violation 
Violations of the law or this agreement may result in revocation of a student's access to Agency technology and/or 
discipline, up to and including suspension or expulsion. In addition, violations of the law, as outlined in this 
agreement, may be reported to law enforcement agencies as appropriate. 

Network Etiquette and Privacy 
You are expected to abide by the generally accepted rules of network etiquette. These rules include, but are not 
limited to: 

• BE POLITE: Never send, or encourage others to send abusive messages.
• USE APPROPRIATE LANGUAGE. You are a representative of your school and your district on a

public system. Never swear, use vulgarities, or any other inappropriate language.
• PRIVACY: Do not reveal your home address, phone number, name or addresses of family members,

or the addresses or phone numbers of other students or colleagues.
• DISRUPTIONS: Do not use the network in any way that would disrupt the use of the network by others,
• REPRESNTATION: Do not send anonymous messages or represent a message to have been written

by another. All correspondence should be clearly identified as to its originator.

Use-Agreement 
The School of Unlimited Learning has actively pursued making advanced technology and increased access to 
learning opportunities available to its students. Prior to using the computer and the Internet, students and 
parent/guardians must sign a “use-agreement”. Student users must always receive permission from their 
instructors before using the network or accessing any specific file or application. 

Security 
If you identify a security problem in the building in Agency networks, notify the system administrator at once. 
Never demonstrate the problem to others. Never use another individual’s account. Never tell anyone else 
your password. Any user identified as a security risk will be denied access to the network and may be liable 
for disciplinary action or prosecution. 

Vandalism 
Vandalism is defined as any malicious attempt to physically deface, disable, or destroy computers, peripherals, 
or other network hardware or to harm or destroy data of another user or any agencies or networks that are 
connected to the system. This includes, but is not limited to, the creation or transmission of computer viruses. 
Any vandalism will result in loss of network privileges, disciplinary action, or possible legal referral. See the 
EOC School of Unlimited Learning Tagging Policy handout. 



104 

Parent or Legal Guardian Acknowledgment 

If the student is under 18 years of age, a parent/guardian must also read and sign the agreement. 

As the parent/guardian of the above-named student, I have read, understand, and agree that my child shall comply 
with the terms of the Acceptable Use Agreement. By signing this Agreement, I give permission for my child to use 
Agency technology and/or to access the school's computer network and the Internet. I understand that, despite the 
Agency’s best efforts, it is impossible for the school to restrict access to all offensive and controversial materials. I 
agree to release from liability, indemnify, and hold harmless the school, Agency, and Agency personnel against all 
claims, damages, and costs that may result from my child's use of Agency technology, or the failure of any 
technology protection measures used by the Agency. Further, I accept full responsibility for supervision of my 
child's use of his/her access account if and when such access is not in the school setting. 



105 

Each year, the School of Unlimited Learning revises and submits for approval a safe school plan, which 
delineates school safety procedures and emergency drill information, including a schedule for fire drills, 
lockdown procedures, and a school evacuation process. The safe school plan is available for review to 
anyone upon request. SOUL’s 2025-2026 Safe School plan was reviewed and approved at the SOUL 
Governing Council in March 2025. 

Emergency drills for various kinds of disasters are part of the school experience conducted on a regular 
basis. Emergency procedures for fire, earthquake, and other natural disasters will be provided to students. 
The most common drill is fire drills. All students must understand the seriousness of the drills. There will be 
at least four fire drills per school year to increase student efficiency when leaving the classroom in the event 
of a fire. Parents/guardians may assist in their child’s safety by reinforcing the following rules: 
• Exit the classroom according to the teacher’s instructions.
• Walk! Do not run!
• Exit and remain silent.
• Do not push or shove.
• Once out of the classroom and in the designated area, remain in line quietly, until the teacher/staff
dismisses you.

School of Unlimited Learning- 2nd Floor 

EMERGENCY PROCEDURES 

Teachers’ 
Office 

Classroom 4 Classroom 3 

College & 
Career 
Advisor Classroom 2 

Administrative 
Assistant 

Vice Principal 
& 

Independent 
Study 

Student 
Resource 
Center 

Principal’s 
Office 

Classroom 1 



106 

Student 
Resource & 
Data 
Specialist 

Recreation 
Center 

Kitchen 

Women’s Rest Room 

Staff 
RR 

Reception 

Men’s 
Rest 
Room 

Janitorial 
Storage 

Theater 

Stage 

Storage 

School of Unlimited Learning - 1st Floor 

Guidance Guidance Case 
Office Dean Manager 

Re
gis

tra
r 

Ca
se

 M
an

ag
er 

Ca
lav

er
as

 S
tre

et 



107 

PLEASE FILL OUT THE EMERGENCY CARD COMPLETELY. IF THERE IS A CHANGE IN ADDRESS, 
TELEPHONE, OR EMPLOYMENT NOTIFY US IMMEDIATELY SO THAT WE CAN CHANGE THE 
EMERGENCY CARD. 

Medication 
Education Code Section 49423 defines the requirements for administration of medication at school as: 
(a) Notwithstanding Section 49422, any pupil who is required to take, during the regular schoolday,
medication prescribed for him or her by a physician and surgeon or ordered for him or her by a physician
assistant practicing in compliance with Chapter 7.7 (commencing with Section 3500) of Division 2 of the
Business and Professions Code, may be assisted by the school nurse or other designated school personnel
or may carry and self-administer prescription auto-injectable epinephrine if the school district receives the
appropriate written statements identified in subdivision (b).
(b) (1) In order for a pupil to be assisted by a school nurse or other designated school personnel
pursuant to subdivision (a), the school district shall obtain both a written statement from the physician
and surgeon or physician assistant detailing the name of the medication, method, amount, and time
schedules by which the medication is to be taken and a written statement from the parent, foster parent,
or guardian of the pupil indicating the desire that the school district assist the pupil in the matters set forth
in the statement of the physician and surgeon or physician assistant.

(2) In order for a pupil to carry and self-administer prescription auto-injectable epinephrine pursuant to
subdivision (a), the school district shall obtain both a written statement from the physician and surgeon
or physician assistant detailing the name of the medication, method, amount, and time schedules by
which the medication is to be taken, and confirming that the pupil is able to self-administer auto- 
injectable epinephrine, and a written statement from the parent, foster parent, or guardian of the pupil
consenting to the self-administration, providing a release for the school nurse or other designated
school personnel to consult with the health care provider of the pupil regarding any questions that may
arise with regard to the medication, and releasing the school district and school personnel from civil
liability if the self-administering pupil suffers an adverse reaction as a result of self-administering
medication pursuant to this paragraph.

(3) The written statements specified in this subdivision shall be provided at least annually and more
frequently if the medication, dosage, frequency of administration, or reason for administration
changes.

(c) A pupil may be subject to disciplinary action pursuant to Section 48900 if that pupil uses auto- 
injectable epinephrine in a manner other than as prescribed.
(Amended by Stats. 2010, Ch. 512, Sec. 6. (SB 1069) Effective January 1, 2011.) 
The medication must be clearly labeled with the name of the student, name of the medication and the 
dosage. At the beginning of each school year or upon entry to a school, a “Medication at School” form must 
be completely renewed. 

Aspirins and other over-the-counter medications cannot be given unless specified in writing from a physician. 

Immunizations 
All students entering SOUL will be required to submit written proof of all immunization records and a 
completed copy of a negative TB skin test from a physician, clinic or the Health Department before they can 
attend class. 

STUDENT HEALTH & MEDICAL PROCEDURES 



108 

Accidents 
If a serious injury occurs on the school grounds or during transportation, the parents will be notified and 
asked to pick up the child for their own observation or examination by their family physician. Parents will be 
promptly notified of all injuries not considered minor. If the parents cannot be reached, the student will only 
be released to a person named on the emergency card. It is critical that the emergency card information is 
accurate. If a student needs immediate emergency attention, 911 will be called. 

The School of Unlimited Learning does not provide medical coverage for your child. This means that you are 
responsible for all medical bills if your child is injured during school activities. 

First Aid and Illness 
If a student becomes ill or injured at school he/she will receive every care and consideration possible. 
Parents will be contacted for injuries of a serious nature, or if a student is too ill to remain at school. 

Physical Education Medical Excuse 
A written prescription from a physician should be brought to the office for an excuse from physical education 
class. This note should indicate length of time to be excused, diagnosis, and physician’s signature. 



109 

CONCLUSION 

It is our intention to provide your child with an opportunity to learn and thrive in a supportive environment, 
with as few distractions as possible. 

The staff of the School of Unlimited Learning is dedicated to helping each student succeed in school, work, 
and every aspect of his or her daily life. An individualized plan, prepared with student involvement, and is 
tailored to meet each student’s needs for successful completion of the program. Students are responsible for 
good behavior, regular school attendance, and compliance with any agreement that he or she signs. 

The school, the student, and the parents working cooperatively will ensure a meaningful and successful 
experience for the students at the School of Unlimited Learning. 



110 

   SCHOOL OF UNLIMITED LEARNING GOVERNING COUNCIL MEETING 

Recommended Action 

Staff recommend Governing Council approval of SOUL’s 2025-2026 CalSTRS Policy 
Adoption. 

 Background 

CalSTRS is the California State Teacher Retirement System. This State pension fund is 
available to state certificated public school teachers and administrators. Membership in 
CalSTRS is an expected benefit of being a public school educator. 

Fiscal Impact 

Joining CalSTRS requires a contribution equivalent to 19.1% of educators’ salaries by the 
Local Education Agency from their state allocation. Members are also required to make a 
pre-tax contribution of 10.25% of their salary.  

Date: September 9, 2025 Program: School of Unlimited Learning 

Agenda Item #: 16 Director: Dr. Dion Varnado 

Subject: 2025-26 CalSTRS Policy Adoption  Officer:    Jack Lazzarini 



CalSTRS Activation – Instructions 

111 

Read the following information and instructions 
before completing the CalSTRS Activation Packet 
(ES1796). Type or print in dark ink and initial all 
corrections. For timely processing, complete all 
fields and signatures and submit all supporting 
documents. 

BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
Prior to submitting retirement reports and contributions 
to CalSTRS, a new Charter School, Pre-K-12 School 
District or Community College District must apply for 
CalSTRS activation of a reporting account called Report 
Unit ID (RU ID). Application for CalSTRS Activation 
ES1796 Form must be fully completed and submitted 
with supporting documents. 

CalSTRS offers the following benefit programs to 
members. For more details on these programs please 
follow the links here. The default retirement plan for 
CalSTRS Activation is DB and DBS. If you are interested 
in offering CB please contact us for more information. 

• Defined Benefit Program - DB
• Defined Benefit Supplement Program - DBS
• Cash Balance Benefit Program - CB
• Pension2® Voluntary Supplemental Savings

Plan 

INSTRUCTIONS AND DEFINITIONS 
SECTION 1: SCHOOL INFORMATION 

• School Name – School/District/College name
• CDS Code – 14-digit County-District-School

Code is a unique number assigned to a
California public school by the California
Department of Education (CDE).

• County – The county boundary of the school’s
location

• School Type – Select the most appropriate type
of school

o Community College District
o Non-Charter Pre-K-12 School or

School District
o Other School Types - ROP, JPA, Adult

Schools
o Charter School

• For Charter School, provide the following:
o Charter Number – 4-digit tracking

number assigned by the State Board of
Education (SBE)

o Chartering Authority – The
administrative authority whose
governing board approved the charter
petition. Chartering Authority can either
be the School District, the County Office
of Education (COE), or the State Board.

o CMO – Charter Management
Organization or the non-profit public
benefit organization of the charter
school

• Mailing Address – The mailing address of the
school

• Site Address – The physical location of the
school

• Activation Contact Name(s) – Name(s) of the
point of contact for activation application

• Email(s) – Email address(es) of the Activation
Contact Name(s)

• Telephone(s) – Phone number(s) of the
Activation Contact Name(s)

SECTION 2: CALSTRS RETIREMENT REPORTING 
• Report Unit ID – This is assigned by the County

Office of Education (COE). The 5-digit code
consists of the first 2 for the County Code, and
next 3 for the school’s unit code.

• CalSTRS Start Date – The start date of
CalSTRS service due for CalSTRS reporting
and contributions

• School Open Date – The opening date of
school operation; first day of classroom
instruction

• Retirement Processing Office – The District,
Third Party/Back Office Vendor, or the CMO
office processing retirement data and submitting
retirement reports to COE.

• Retirement Mailing Address – The mailing
address of the Retirement Processing Office

• Retirement Contact Names(s) – The contact
person(s) at the Retirement Processing Office

• Retirement Email(s) – The email address(es) of
the Retirement Contact Name(s)

• Retirement Telephone(s) – The phone
number(s) of the Retirement Contact Name(s)

• Payroll Processing Office – The District, Third
Party/Back Office Vendor, or the CMO office
processing payroll and/or submitting retirement
contributions to COE.

• Payroll Mailing Address – The mailing address
of the Payroll Processing Office

• Payroll Contact Names(s) – The contact
person(s) at the Payroll Processing Office

• Payroll Email(s) – The email address(es) of the
Payroll Contact Name(s)

• Payroll Telephone(s) – The phone number(s)
of the Payroll Contact Name(s)

https://www.calstrs.com/defined-benefit-program
https://www.calstrs.com/defined-benefit-supplement-program
https://www.calstrs.com/cash-balance-benefit-program
https://www.calstrs.com/pension2


CalSTRS Activation – Instructions 

112 

SECTION 3: EMPLOYER PICK-UP OF MEMBER 
CONTRIBUTIONS (EPMC) 
If employer chose to implement the provisions of EPMC, 
mark the following checkbox AND provide the required 
information. 

☐ The Governing Board has pursued action to provide
EPMC for employees who are members of CalSTRS.

• Date Adopted by the Governing Board – The
date when the governing board adopted the
EPMC Resolutions

• Effective Date – The effective date of the
adopted EPMC Resolutions; EPMC effective
date may be equal to and not later than
CalSTRS Start Date.

• Board Minutes or Memorandum – The
approved board minutes or executed
memorandum adopting the EPMC Resolutions

• Executed Resolutions – EPMC Resolutions
with signatures and dates. See Examples page
for Resolution language.

SECTION 4: PRE-TAX DEDUCTIONS FOR VOLUNTARY 
RECEIVABLE 
If employer chose to implement the provisions of Pre- 
Tax Deductions for Voluntary Receivable, mark the 
following checkbox AND provide the required 
information. 

☐ The Governing Board has pursued action to provide
Pre-Tax Deductions for Voluntary Receivable for
employees who are members of CalSTRS.

• Date Adopted by the Governing Board – The
date when the governing board adopted the Pre-
Tax Deductions for Voluntary Receivable
Resolutions

• Effective Date – The effective date of the
adopted Pre-Tax Deductions for Voluntary
Receivable Resolutions may not be later than;
the resolutions effective date may be equal to
and not later than CalSTRS Start Date.

• Board Minutes or Memorandum – The
approved board minutes or executed
memorandum adopting Pre-Tax Deductions for
Voluntary Receivable Resolutions

• Executed Resolutions – Resolutions with
signatures and dates. See Examples page for
Resolution language.

SECTION 5: REQUIRED SIGNATURE 
Official School Representative – School Administrator, 
CBO, CEO, Principal, Superintendent. Print name and 
title of the official representative; affix signature and 
date. 

SECTION 6: SUPPORTING DOCUMENTS 
Supporting documents must be submitted along with this 
activation form. 

Charter Schools: 
1. Board Minutes, Memorandums, Resolutions or any

form of official documents from the authorizing
governing board substantiating the adoption of the
charter petition, operational agreement, this
application, the EPMC Resolutions, and the Voluntary
Deductions Resolutions

2. Electronic Copy of all official documents including but
not limited to charter petition, any material revisions,
memorandum of understanding or operational
agreement, official board documents per Item 1, CDE
registration

3. Email this completed form with Items 1 and 2 to
CharterSchoolQuestions@calstrs.com.

Non-Charter Schools, Community Colleges: 
1. Board Minutes, Memorandum, Resolutions or any

form of official documents from the authorizing
governing board substantiating the adoption of the
proposal to establish the school district/community
college entity, operational agreement, this application,
the EPMC Resolutions, the Voluntary Deductions
Resolutions

2. Electronic Copy of all official documents including but
not limited to official proposals, any material
revisions, memorandum of understanding or
operational agreement, official board documents per
Item 1, CDE registration or Board of Community
Colleges (for CCDs)

3. Email this completed form with Items 1 and 2 to
EmployerHelp@calstrs.com.

QUESTIONS AND SUBMISSION 
Please submit completed Application for CalSTRS 
Activation packet ES1796 and all supporting documents 
via email. 

Charter schools, please contact 
CharterSchoolQuestions@CalSTRS.com. 

Non-charter schools, including community colleges, 
please contact EmployerHelp@CalSTRS.com. 

mailto:CharterSchoolQuestions@calstrs.com
mailto:EmployerHelp@calstrs.com
mailto:CharterSchoolQuestions@CalSTRS.com
mailto:EmployerHelp@CalSTRS.com


CalSTRS Activation – Examples 

113 

IRS APPROVED MODEL OF EMPC RESOLUTION 

WHEREAS, the School of Unlimited Learning School District [Fresno] County Superintendent of Schools] has the 
authority to implement the provisions of section 414(h)(2) of the Internal Revenue Code (IRC); and 
WHEREAS, the Teachers’ Retirement Board of the California State Teachers’ Retirement System (CalSTRS) adopted its 
resolution of IRC section 414(h)(2) on May 17, 1985; and 
WHEREAS, the Internal Revenue Service has stated on August 27, 1985, that the implementation of the provisions of IRC 
section 414(h)(2) pursuant to the resolution of the Teachers' Retirement Board would satisfy the legal requirements of IRC 
section 414(h)(2); and 
WHEREAS, the School of Unlimited Learning School Board [Fresno] County Superintendent of Schools] has determined 
that even though the implementation of the provisions of IRC section 414(h)(2) is not required by law, the tax benefit 
offered by IRC section 414(h)(2) should be provided to its employees who are members of CalSTRS. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED: 
I. That the School District [County Superintendent of Schools] will implement the provisions of IRC section 414(h)(2)

by making employee contributions to CalSTRS on behalf of its employees who are members of CalSTRS.
“Employees contributions” shall mean those contributions to CalSTRS which are deducted from the salary of
employees and are credited to individual employees’ accounts.

II. That the contributions made by the School District [County Superintendent of Schools] to CalSTRS, although
designated as employee contributions, are being paid by the School District [County Superintendent of Schools] in
lieu of contributions by the employees who are members of CalSTRS.

III. That employees shall not have the option of choosing to receive the contributed amounts directly instead of
having them paid by the School District [County Superintendent of Schools] to CalSTRS.

IV. That the School District [County Superintendent of Schools] shall pay to CalSTRS the contributions designated as
employee contributions from the same source of funds as used in paying salary.

V. That the amount of the contributions designated as employee contributions and paid by the School District
[County Superintendent of Schools] to CalSTRS on behalf of an employee shall be the entire contribution required
of the employee by the Teachers’ Retirement Law (California Education Code sections 22000 et seq.)

VI. That the contributions designated as employee contributions made by the School District [County Superintendent
of Schools] to CalSTRS shall be treated for all purposes, other than taxation, in the same way that member
contributions are treated by CalSTRS.

VII. That the School District [County Superintendent of Schools] shall make no contributions designated as employee
contributions until CalSTRS has developed and implemented procedures for administering the provisions of
Section 414(h)(2) of the Internal Revenue Code and until CalSTRS has officially notified the School District
[County Superintendent of schools] that it will accept contributions pursuant to Section 414(h)(2) of the Internal
Revenue Code.

PRE-TAX DEDUCTIONS FOR VOLUNTARY RECEIVABLE RESOLUTION 

WHEREAS, Internal Revenue Code (IRC) Section 414(h)(2) permits employer “pickup” of the employee portion of 
contributions to a retirement plan, thereby resulting in tax deferral of employee contributions; and 
WHEREAS, under the California State Teachers’ Retirement System (CalSTRS) plan conditions, members may be 
allowed to redeposit contributions previously withdrawn plus interest and/or purchase permissive service credit; 
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that in order to permit tax deferral for these additional amounts, an employee 
shall enter into a binding irrevocable payroll deduction authorization and such employee shall not have the option of 
choosing to receive the amounts directly instead of having them paid by the employer to CalSTRS; 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that additional amounts herein specified, through payroll deduction from salary, are 
designated as being picked up by the employer and paid by the employer in accordance with CalSTRS retirement plan 
requirements. 



114 

Application for CalSTRS 
Activation 
ES1796 REV 05/20 California State Teachers’ Retirement System 

P.O. Box 15275, MS 17 
Sacramento, CA 95851-0275 

800-228-5453 
CalSTRS.com 

This activation is for Defined Benefit (DB) and Defined Benefit Supplement (DBS) Retirement Plans. 
If you would like to offer the Cash Balance (CB) Retirement Plan, please contact us for more information. 

Section 1: School Information 
SCHOOL NAME 
School of Unlimited Learning 

CDS CODE 
10 62166 1030642 

COUNTY 
Fresno 

SCHOOL TYPE 
☐ COMMUNITY COLLEGE DISTRICT: CDS CODE not applicable
☐ NON-CHARTER PRE-K-12 SCHOOL
☐ OTHER SCHOOL TYPE (ROP, JPA, ADULT EDUCATION, CHILD CARE) 
X CHARTER SCHOOL: Please provide the following additional information for Charter School Type only:

CHARTER NUMBER:  0149 
CHARTERING AUTHORITY:  Fresno Unified 
CMO:  NA 

MAILING ADDRESS 
1900 Mariposa Street Suite 107   Fresno, CA  93721 

SITE ADDRESS 2336 Calaveras  Fresno, CA  93721 

ACTIVATION CONTACT NAME(S) 
1. Steve Warnes 

2. Dion Varnado 

EMAIL(S) 
1. Steve.warnes@fresnoeoc.org 

2. Dion.varnado@fresnoeoc.org 

TELEPHONE(S) 
1. 559-263-1030 

2. 559-500-5076 



Section 2: CalSTRS Retirement Reporting Information 

115 

REPORT UNIT ID ASSIGNED BY COE 10-338

CALSTRS START DATE 

SCHOOL OPEN DATE August 18, 2025 

RETIREMENT PROCESSING OFFICE Fresno EOC Human Resources Office 

RETIREMENT MAILING ADDRESS 1920 Mariposa Street, suite 111 Fresno, CA  93721 

RETIREMENT CONTACT NAME(S) 

2. 
RETIREMENT EMAIL(S) 1. 

2. 
RETIREMENT TELEPHONE(S) 

PAYROLL PROCESSING OFFICE Fresno EOC Payroll 

PAYROLL MAILING ADDRESS 1900 Mariposa Street 

PAYROLL CONTACT NAME(S) 1.Eva Lopez 

2.Steve Warnes 
PAYROLL EMAIL(S) 1.Eva.lopez@fresnoeoc.org 

2.Steve.warnes@fresnoeoc.org 
PAYROLL TELEPHONE(S) 559-263-1030

Section 3: Employer Pick-Up of Member Contributions - Tax Treatment of Member 
Contributions 
Employer “pick-up” of member contributions (EPMC) is a program set forth in the provision of Internal 
Revenue Code section 414(h)(2) whereby employee contributions are non-taxable when they are 
reported as paid by the employer. The EPMC may be picked up for the purpose of deferring taxes 
provided the contributions are deducted from the member’s salary. These contributions are still 
considered part of the employee’s compensation for everything except tax treatment. 

If an employer chooses to implement the provisions of EPMC, the governing board of that employer must 
take formal action to adopt a resolution in conformance with the IRS approved model resolution. 
Adoption of the EPMC resolution requires all CalSTRS members to be covered. If a resolution for EMPC 
is not adopted, only non tax-deferred contributions can be reported to CalSTRS. 

Select One: 

☐ The Governing Board is not pursuing action to provide EPMC for employees who are members of
CalSTRS at this time.

☐ The Governing Board has pursued action to provide EPMC for employees who are members of
CalSTRS. Please provide the following:
• Date Adopted by the Governing Board
• EPMC Pre-Tax Receivable Effective Date
• Required Board Documents:

o Board minutes or official memorandum adopting pre-tax EPMC
o Executed EPMC Resolution – see Examples page for resolution language



Section 4: Pre-Tax Deductions for Voluntary Receivable Resolution (see 

116 

Examples page for explanation) 
The Internal Revenue Service (IRS) has ruled that CalSTRS members may elect to have their payments 
for voluntary receivables (redeposits or previously withdrawn contributions, permissive or nonqualified 
service credit purchase) qualify as tax-deferred payments if certain conditions are met, including that the 
employer must adopt a resolution to offer tax-deferred payroll deduction installment payments to 
employees for voluntary receivables. If an employer does not adopt a resolution for tax-deferred payroll 
deductions, only non tax-deferred payroll deductions may be offered for voluntary income. 

For more information regarding employer reporting of payroll deductions for accounts receivables, please 
refer to Employer Directive 2010-02 available for download at CalSTRS.com/employer-and- 
administrative-directives. 

Select One: 

☐ The Governing Board is not pursuing action to provide pre-tax deductions for voluntary
receivables for employees who are members of CalSTRS at this time.

☐ The Governing Board has pursued action to provide pre-tax deductions for voluntary receivables
for employees who are members of CalSTRS. Please provide the following:
• Date Adopted by the Governing Board
• Voluntary Deductions Pre-Tax Receivable Effective Date
• Required Board Documents:

o Board minutes or official memorandum adopting Pre-Tax Deductions for Voluntary
Receivable

o Executed Pre-Tax Deductions for Voluntary Receivable Resolution - see Examples page for
resolution language

Section 5: Required Signature 

I certify under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of California that the foregoing is true and 
correct. I understand that perjury is punishable by imprisonment for up to four years (Penal Code section 
126). 

I understand it is unlawful to fail to disclose a material fact or to make any knowingly false material 
statements for the purpose of altering a benefit administered by CalSTRS and it may result in penalties, 
including restitution, up to one year imprisonment and a fine of up to $5,000 (Education Code section 
22010). 

PRINT NAME OF OFFICIAL SCHOOL REPRESENTATIVE 

POSITION TITLE 

OFFICIAL’S SIGNATURE SIGNATURE DATE 



Section 6: Supporting Documents 

117 

Please attach the following supporting documents with the completed activation form. 

Charter School 
1. Governing Board Minutes, Official Memorandum or Resolutions on the following:

a. Adopting the Final Charter Petition
b. Adopting the option to offer CalSTRS Retirement Plans and CalSTRS Activation Application
c. If pursuing Pre-Tax EPMC: Adopting the EPMC Resolutions
d. If pursuing Pre-Tax Voluntary Deductions: Adopting the Voluntary Receivable Resolutions

2. Electronic Copy of the following:
a. Charter Petition – Final and approved version
b. Executed Memorandum of Understanding or Operational Agreement
c. Executed EPMC Resolution
d. Executed Voluntary Receivable Resolution
e. Registration to the California Department of Education - Application or Notice for a CDS Code

3. Email completed packet to CharterSchoolQuestions@CalSTRS.com

Community College District, Non-Charter Schools Pre-K-12 School/School District, JPA, ROP, 
Adult Education, Child Care: 
1. Governing Board Minutes, Official Memorandum or Resolution on the following:

a. Adopting the proposal to form and establish the school
b. Adopting the operations agreement or board policy
c. Adopting the option to offer CalSTRS Retirement Plans and CalSTRS Activation Application
d. If pursuing Pre-Tax EPMC: Adopting the EPMC Resolution
e. If pursuing Pre-Tax Voluntary Deductions: Adopting the Voluntary Receivable Resolution

2. Electronic Copy of Memorandum of Understanding, Operational Agreement, or Board Policy
3. Electronic Copy of the official registration to the State:

a. For Pre-K-12: Registration to California Department of Education - Application or Notice for a
CDS Code

b. For Community College: Registration to California Community Colleges
4. Email completed packet to EmployerHelp@CalSTRS.com

mailto:CharterSchoolQuestions@CalSTRS.com
mailto:EmployerHelp@CalSTRS.com


118 

Pre-Tax Deductions for Voluntary Receivable Resolution 
v 05/2024 

IRS Approved Model of Pre-Tax Deductions for Voluntary Receivable Resolution 

WHEREAS, Internal Revenue Code (IRC) Section 414(h)(2) permits employer “pickup” of the employee portion of 
contributions to a retirement plan, thereby resulting in tax deferral of employee contributions; and 

WHEREAS, under the California State Teachers’ Retirement System (CalSTRS) plan conditions, members may be 
allowed to redeposit contributions previously withdrawn plus interest and/or purchase permissive service credit; 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that in order to permit tax deferral for these additional amounts, an 
employee shall enter into a binding irrevocable payroll deduction authorization and such employee shall not have 
the option of choosing to receive the amounts directly instead of having them paid by the employer to CalSTRS; 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that additional amounts herein specified, through payroll deduction from salary, are 
designated as being picked up by the employer and paid by the employer in accordance with CalSTRS retirement 
plan requirements. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the governing board of the School of Unlimited Learning 

Resolution Effective Date:10/01/2025 

Board Adoption Date: 09/22/2025 

Signature and Title of Board Official: 

Date Signed by the Board Official: 

Pre-Tax Deductions for Voluntary Receivable Resolution 
The Internal Revenue Service (IRS) has ruled that CalSTRS members may elect to have their payments for 
voluntary receivables (redeposits or previously withdrawn contributions, permissive or nonqualified service credit 
purchase) qualify as tax deferred payments if certain conditions are met, including that the employer must adopt a 
resolution to offer tax deferred payroll deduction installment payments to employees for voluntary receivables. If 
an employer does not adopt a resolution for tax deferred payroll deductions, only non-tax deferred payroll 
deductions may be offered for voluntary income. 

If the Employer’s governing board has pursued action to provide pre-tax deductions for voluntary receivables for 
employees, Voluntary Receivable Resolution must be executed by the Employer’s governing board. 



119 

EPMC - Tax Treatment of Member Contributions 
v 05/2024 

IRS Approved Model of EMPC Resolution 

WHEREAS, the School of Unlimited Learning School District  Fresno County Superintendent of Schools has the 
authority to implement the provisions of section 414(h)(2) of the Internal Revenue Code (IRC); and 

WHEREAS, the Teachers’ Retirement Board of the California State Teachers’ Retirement System (CalSTRS) 
adopted its resolution of IRC section 414(h)(2) on May 17, 1985; and 

WHEREAS, the Internal Revenue Service has stated on August 27, 1985, that the implementation of the 
provisions of IRC section 414(h)(2) pursuant to the resolution of the Teachers' Retirement Board would satisfy the 
legal requirements of IRC section 414(h)(2); and 

WHEREAS, the School of Unlimited Learning School Board [Fresno]County Superintendent of Schools] has 
determined that even though the implementation of the provisions of IRC section 414(h)(2) is not required by law, 
the tax benefit offered by IRC section 414(h)(2) should be provided to its employees who are members of 
CalSTRS. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED: 

I. That the School District [County Superintendent of Schools] will implement the provisions of IRC section
414(h)(2) by making employee contributions to CalSTRS on behalf of its employees who are members of
CalSTRS. “Employees contributions” shall mean those contributions to CalSTRS which are deducted
from the salary of employees and are credited to individual employees’ accounts.

II. That the contributions made by the School District [County Superintendent of Schools] to CalSTRS,
although designated as employee contributions, are being paid by the School District [County
Superintendent of Schools] in lieu of contributions by the employees who are members of CalSTRS.

III. That employees shall not have the option of choosing to receive the contributed amounts directly instead
of having them paid by the School District [County Superintendent of Schools] to CalSTRS.

IV. That the School District [County Superintendent of Schools] shall pay to CalSTRS the contributions
designated as employee contributions from the same source of funds as used in paying salary.

V. That the amount of the contributions designated as employee contributions and paid by the School District
[County Superintendent of Schools] to CalSTRS on behalf of an employee shall be the entire contribution
required of the employee by the Teachers’ Retirement Law (California Education Code sections 22000 et
seq.)

Employer Pick-Up of Member Contributions - Tax Treatment of Member Contributions 
Employer “pick-up” of member contributions (EPMC) is a program set forth in the provision of Internal Revenue 
Code Section 414(h)(2) whereby employee contributions are non-taxable when they are reported as paid by the 
employer. The EPMC may be picked up for the purpose of deferring taxes provided the contributions are 
deducted from the member’s salary. These contributions are still considered part of the employee’s compensation 
for everything except tax treatment. 

If an employer chooses to implement the provisions of EPMC, the governing board of that employer must take 
formal action to adopt a resolution in conformance with the IRS approved model resolution. Adoption of the EPMC 
resolution requires all CalSTRS members to be covered. If a resolution for EMPC is not adopted, only non-tax 
deferred contributions can be reported to CalSTRS. 

If the Employer’s governing board has pursued action to provide EPMC for employees who are members of 
CalSTRS, EPMC Resolution must be executed by the Employer’s governing board. EPMC effective date must be 
the same as CalSTRS effective date. 



120 

VI. That the contributions designated as employee contributions made by the School District [County
Superintendent of Schools] to CalSTRS shall be treated for all purposes, other than taxation, in the same
way that member contributions are treated by CalSTRS.

VII. That the School District [County Superintendent of Schools] shall make no contributions designated as
employee contributions until CalSTRS has developed and implemented procedures for administering the
provisions of Section 414(h)(2) of the Internal Revenue Code and until CalSTRS has officially notified the
School District [County Superintendent of schools] that it will accept contributions pursuant to Section
414(h)(2) of the Internal Revenue Code.

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the governing board of the School of Unlimited Learning 

Resolution Effective Date: 10/01/2025 

Board Adoption Date:09/22/2025 

Signature and Title of Board Official: 

Date Signed by the Board Official: 



121 

Funding Appeal Check Correspondence 

Good morning, Dr. Varnado, 

Please see CDE’s response below. Starting in February 2026, you should expect to see the additional 
2024-25 funding included in the 2025-26 P1 and P2 apportionment payments.  

Thank you! 

Rosalba 

From: FundingDeterminations  
Sent: Friday, August 8, 2025 3:41 PM 
To: Rosalba Maritano  
Cc: FundingDeterminations  
Subject: RE: [EXTERNAL] RE: Funding Appeal Check 

Hello, 

Thank you for your email. 

The increased funding determination will be reflected in Principal Apportionment payments beginning 
with the 2025‒26 First Principal (P-1) Apportionment, to be certified in February 2026. The fiscal year 
2024‒25 funding adjustment will be displayed as a prior year recomputation on line A-24 of the P-1 
Principal Apportionment Summary and will be paid out to the school over the February through June 
2026 Principal Apportionment payments. 

The charter school will also likely see an increase to their 2025‒26 Local Control Funding Formula 
funding at P-1 over what was certified at the Advance Apportionment in July 2025.  

If you have any questions, please do not hesitate to contact me. 

Sincerely, 

Jonathan Yu, Associate Governmental Program Analyst 
Charter Schools Division 
California Department of Education 
1430 N Street, Suite 5401 
Sacramento, CA 95814 

From: Rosalba Maritano <rmaritano@fcoe.org> 
Sent: Wednesday, August 6, 2025 3:18 PM 
To: FundingDeterminations <FundingDeterminations@cde.ca.gov> 
Subject: [EXTERNAL] RE: Funding Appeal Check 

Good afternoon! 

mailto:rmaritano@fcoe.org
mailto:FundingDeterminations@cde.ca.gov


122 

One of our Fresno Charters, School of Unlimited Learning, contacted us regarding their 2024-25 Principal 
Apportionment funding. They received $2,100,740, which was reflected in the 2024-25 P2 payment 
schedule, with June being paid in July. Is this total amount 85% of their funding? If so, when should they 
expect the remaining 15% since their appeal was granted (see email below)?  

Thank you! 

Rosalba 

From: Dion Varnado <dion.varnado@fresnoeoc.org> 
Sent: Wednesday, August 6, 2025 1:14 PM 
To: Rosalba Maritano <rmaritano@fcoe.org> 
Subject: Funding Appeal Check 

Hi Ms. Maritano, 

I am writing because the School of Unlimited Learning appealed our funding determination to the SBE. At 
the July meeting the SBE granted our appeal and increased our funding for 2024-2025 from 85% to 100%. 
My question is do you know when we will receive the lump sum check of the remaining 15% for the 2024-
2025 school year from the state? Any clarification will be greatly appreciated. 

Sincerely, Dion 

Dr. Dion Varnado, Ed. D. 
Academic Officer/Principal 
School of Unlimited Learning (SOUL) 
2336 Calaveras Fresno, CA 93721 
Phone: (559) 500-1352 
dion.varnado@fresnoeoc.org 
www.fresnoeoc.org/soul 

mailto:dion.varnado@fresnoeoc.org
mailto:rmaritano@fcoe.org
mailto:dion.varnado@fresnoeoc.org
https://url.avanan.click/v2/r01/___https:/urldefense.com/v3/__http:/www.fresnoeoc.org/soul__;!!KlnUNGHvdQ!8r0LES34IFA2o1EzX4eY_pWInxsO-XTgxFuGpZWQIzoo10rigYo5InflvC6j1gjnd-zbcHGFGyyjrS5NpV-nmdl4X8LdGA$___.YXAzOmZyZXNub2VvYzphOm86NTQ5ZTkwNDRlY2FmOTE4NTUxODFlYzdhYjJmMjUyOTk6NzphOTRhOjZjOWFkMTM5NDZjYTc4ZjdiZDcxODYxNzAwNjAyNmE4ZjAxZDNiMDA3YmY3N2FjNDZkYzNlZGY1NzBhMTMxZDU6aDpUOk4


123 

   SCHOOL OF UNLIMITED LEARNING GOVERNING COUNCIL MEETING 

Recommended Action 

Staff recommend Governing Council approval of SOUL’s Declaration of Need for fully 
qualified educators. 

Background 

The California Department of Education provides charter schools with the opportunity to hire 
educators that are not fully qualified if fully qualified educators are not available. A 
Declaration of Need form must be completed if a charter school employees an educator that 
is not fully qualified. Currently all of SOUL’s educators are fully qualified. The Declaration of 
Need form may be necessary if current staffing changes. 

Fiscal Impact  

Action on this agenda item will have no fiscal impact. 

Date: September 9, 2025 Program: School of Unlimited Learning 

Agenda Item #: 17 Director: Dr. Dion Varnado 

Subject: Declaration of Need  Officer:    Jack Lazzarini 



124 

State of California Email: DON@ctc.ca.gov Commission on Teacher Credentialing Website: www.ctc.ca.gov 
Certification Division 
651 Bannon Street, Suite 601 
Sacramento, CA 95811 

DECLARATION OF NEED FOR FULLY QUALIFIED EDUCATORS 

Original Declaration of Need for year: _____________ 

Revised Declaration of Need for year: _____________ 

FOR SERVICE IN A SCHOOL DISTRICT OR DISTRICT/COUNTY AUTHORIZED CHARTER SCHOOL 

Name of District or Charter: District CDS Code: 

Name of County: County CDS Code:

By submitting this annual declaration, the district is certifying the following: 

• A diligent search, as defined below, to recruit a fully prepared teacher for the assignment(s) was made

• If a suitable fully prepared teacher is not available to the school district, the district will make a reasonable effort
to recruit based on the priority stated below

The governing board/body of the school district or charter school specified above adopted a declaration at a regularly 
scheduled public meeting held on ____/____/____ certifying that there is an insufficient number of certificated persons 
who meet the district's specified employment criteria for the position(s) listed on the attached form. The attached form 
was part of the agenda, and the declaration did NOT appear as part of a consent calendar. 

� Enclose a copy of the board agenda item 
With my signature below, I verify that the item was acted upon favorably by the board. The declaration shall remain in 
force until June 30, _________. 

Submitted by (Superintendent, Board Secretary, or Designee): 

___________________________________ ___________________________________ ____________________________________ 
Name Signature Title

___________________________________ ____________________________________ ____________________________________ 
Fax Number Telephone Number Date

___________________________________________________________________________________________________________
__ Mailing Address 

___________________________________________________________________________________________________________
__ EMail Address 

FOR SERVICE IN A COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION, STATE AGENCY OR NONPUBLIC SCHOOL AGENCY 

Name of County _______________________________________________________ County CDS Code __________________ 



Name of State Agency 
________________________________________________________________________________________ 

Name of NPS/NPA______________________________________________________ County of Location __________________ 

CL-500 Page 1 of 4 123 

The Superintendent of the County Office of Education or the Director of the State Agency or the Director of the NPS/NPA 
specified above adopted a declaration on ____/____/____, at least 72 hours following his or her public announcement 
that such a declaration would be made, certifying that there is an insufficient number of certificated persons who meet 
the county's, agency's or school's specified employment criteria for the position(s) listed on the attached form. 

The declaration shall remain in force until June 30, _________. 

� Enclose a copy of the public announcement 
Submitted by Superintendent, Director, or Designee: 

___________________________________ ___________________________________ ____________________________________ 
Name Signature Title

___________________________________ ___________________________________ ____________________________________ 
Fax Number Telephone Number Date

___________________________________________________________________________________________________________
__ Mailing Address 

___________________________________________________________________________________________________________

__ EMail Address � This declaration must be on file with the Commission on Teacher Credentialing before any emergency 
permits will be issued for service with the employing agency 

AREAS OF ANTICIPATED NEED FOR FULLY QUALIFIED EDUCATORS 
Based on the previous year's actual needs and projections of enrollment, please indicate the number of emergency permits 
the employing agency estimates it will need in each of the identified areas during the valid period of this Declaration of 
Need for Fully Qualified Educators. This declaration shall be valid only for the type(s) and subjects(s) identified below. 

This declaration must be revised by the employing agency when the total number of emergency permits applied for 
exceeds the estimate by ten percent. Board approval is required for a revision. 

125 



126 

Type of Emergency Permit 

CLAD/English Learner Authorization (applicant already 
holds teaching credential) 

Bilingual Authorization (applicant already holds teaching 
credential) 

List target language(s) for bilingual authorization: 

__________________________________________ 

Resource Specialist 

Teacher Librarian Services 

Emergency Transitional Kindergarten (ETK) 

Estimated Number Needed 

__________________________ 

__________________________ 

_________________________ 

__________________________ 

_________________________ 

LIMITED ASSIGNMENT PERMITS 
Limited Assignment Permits may only be issued to applicants holding a valid California teaching credential based on a 
baccalaureate degree and a professional preparation program including student teaching. 

CL-500 Page 2 of 4 124 

Based on the previous year’s actual needs and projections of enrollment, please indicate the number of Limited 
Assignment Permits the employing agency estimates it will need in the following areas. Additionally, for the Single 
Subject Limited Assignment Permits estimated, please include the authorization(s) which will be requested: 

TYPE OF LIMITED ASSIGNMENT PERMIT ESTIMATED NUMBER NEEDED 

Multiple Subject 

Single Subject 

Special Education 

TOTAL 

Authorizations for Single Subject Limited Assignment Permits 
SUBJECT ESTIMATED NUMBER NEEDED SUBJECT ESTIMATED NUMBER NEEDED 

Agriculture Mathematics 

Art Music 

Business 
Physical Education 



127 

Dance 
Science: Biological 
Sciences 

English Science: Chemistry 

Foundational-Level 
Math 

Science: Geoscience 

Foundational-Level 
Science Science: Physics 

Health 
Social Science 

Home Economics 
Theater 

Industrial & Technology 
Education 

World Languages 
(specify) 

125 
CL-500 Page 3 of 4 

EFFORTS TO RECRUIT CERTIFIED PERSONNEL 
The employing agency declares that it has implemented in policy and practices a process for conducting a diligent search 
that includes, but is not limited to, distributing job announcements, contacting college and university placement centers, 
advertising in local newspapers, exploring incentives included in the Teaching as a Priority Block Grant (refer to 
www.cde.ca.gov for details), participating in state and regional recruitment centers and participating in job fairs in 
California. 

If a suitable fully prepared teacher is not available to the school district, the district made reasonable efforts to recruit an 
individual for the assignment, in the following order: 

• A candidate who qualifies and agrees to participate in an approved internship program in the region of the school
district

• An individual who is scheduled to complete initial preparation requirements within six months

EFFORTS TO CERTIFY, ASSIGN, AND DEVELOP FULLY QUALIFIED PERSONNEL 

Has your agency established a District Intern program? No 

If no, explain.____________________________________________________________________________ 

Does your agency participate in a Commission-approved  Yes  No college or university 
internship program? 

If yes, how many interns do you expect to have this year? ________________________________________ If 

yes, list each college or university with which you participate in an internship program. 

______________________________________________________________________________________ 

_______________________________________________________________________________________ 

_______________________________________________________________________________________ 

Yes 



127 

If no, explain why you do not participate in an internship program. 

_______________________________________________________________________________________ 

_______________________________________________________________________________________ 

CL-500 Page 4 of 4 128 



129 

SCHOOL OF UNLIMITED LEARNING GOVERNING COUNCIL MEETING 

Recommended Action 

Staff recommend Governing Council approval for SOUL’s October Governing Council Meeting 
Date change from October 7, 2025, to October 14, 2025. 

 Background 

On October 7 the Principal and Vice-Principal and staff is planning to attend the Charter 
Schools Development Conference (CSDC).  

Fiscal Impact  

Action on this agenda item will have no fiscal impact. 

Date: September 9 2025 Program: School of Unlimited Learning 

Agenda Item #:18 Director: Dr. Dion Varnado 

Subject: October Governing Council Meeting 
Date Change   

Officer:    Jack Lazzarini 



130 

SCHOOL OF UNLIMITED LEARNING GOVERNING COUNCIL MEETING 

Recommended Action  

Staff recommend Governing Council approval of SOUL’s Salary Schedule Adoption. 

 Background 

 An established salary schedule makes SOUL’s compensation comparable to neighboring 
Local Education Agencies. A salary schedule also enhances the attractiveness of SOUL to 
potential future employees. Lastly, an approved salary schedule is a prerequisite to enter 
CalSTRS.  

Fiscal Impact 

The fiscal impact is sustainable by our budget. CDE requires a minimum educator 
compensation percentage of our total state allocation; we are within that compensation 
requirement.  

Date: September 9, 2025 Program: School of Unlimited Learning 

Agenda Item: 19 Director: Dr. Dion Varnado 

Subject: Salary Schedule Adoption  Officer:    Jack Lazzarini 



131 

SCHOOL OF UNLIMITED LEARNING GOVERNING COUNCIL MEETING 

Recommended Action 

Staff recommend Governing Council approval of SOUL entering into a CTE support Shared 
Responsibility Agreement with the Fresno County Superintendent of Schools. 

 Background  
Career pathways are a key component of postsecondary readiness. FCSS will support SOUL 
by providing students with CTE instructors and hands-on certificate training.  

Fiscal Impact  

The estimated cost of this agreement is $20,000. 

Date: September 9, 2025 Program: School of Unlimited Learning 

Agenda Item: 20 Director: Dr. Dion Varnado 

Subject: CTE Shared Responsibility 
Agreement with Fresno County 
Superintendent of Schools 

Officer:    Jack Lazzarini 



132 

   SCHOOL OF UNLIMITED LEARNING GOVERNING COUNCIL MEETING 

Recommended Action 

Staff recommend Governing Council approval of SOUL’s Charter Renewal Metrics and 
authority for SOUL leadership to submit a Charter Renewal Petition.  

 Background 

As part of the charter renewal process SOUL and our charter authorizer, Fresno Unified 
School District (FUSD) review SOUL’s progress towards accomplishing our stated goals.  
Goals are determined by using metrics agreed upon between SOUL and FUSD. This current 
charter petition was established in March 2018 and the agreed upon metrics were 
established in July of 2025.  

SOUL leadership needs authorization to submit a charter renewal petition to FUSD. The next 
Charter Petition is set to begin July 1, 2026, if the submitted petition is approved by FUSD.   

Fiscal Impact  

Action on this agenda item will have no fiscal impact. 

Date: September 9, 2025 Program: School of Unlimited Learning 

Agenda Item #: 19 Director: Dr. Dion Varnado 

Subject: Charter Renewal Metrics and Petition 
Submission  

Officer:  Jack Lazzarini 



133 



134 

RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF 
THE SCHOOL OF UNLIMITED LEARNING  

NUMBER: 1062166 1030642  

RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING SUBMISSION OF RENEWAL CHARTER 
PETITION TO FRESNO UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT BOARD OF EDUCATION 

WHEREAS, The Fresno Economic Opportunities Commission (Fresno EOC) is a California 
nonprofit public benefit corporation that operates the School of Unlimited Learning (the 
“Charter School”), a California public charter school; and   

WHEREAS, the Board of Commissioners (“Board”) of the Fresno EOC finds it in the best 
interest of the Charter School to submit a renewal charter petition (“Petition”) for the Charter 
School, which is authorized by the Fresno Unified School District (“FUSD”) Board of 
Education, and as provided for in Education Code Sections 47605, 47607 and 47607.2.   

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Board authorizes the submission of the 
School of Unlimited Learning’s renewal charter petition to the FUSD Board of Education for 
the term of July 1, 2026 to June 30, 2031; and 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Board authorizes the following individuals to take 
all steps necessary pursuant to their roles to seek the approval of the renewal charter petition: 

● Dr. Dion Varnado will serve as the designee of the Lead Petitioner, Mr. Steven R.
Lewis and is hereby authorized to make any changes or revisions to the Petition as may
be necessary to comply with applicable legal requirements and/or FUSD policies and
procedures, and to take all steps necessary for approval of same.

● Dr. Dion Varnado is the Principal of the Charter School.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Board of Commissioners has adopted the above resolution by 
the following vote at a regular Board meeting the 22nd day of September 2025.  

AYES: 

NOS: 

ABSTENTIONS: 

By: ___________________________ 
Name: Mr. Steven R. Lewis 

Title: CEO & Secretary, Fresno EOC Board of Commissioners 
 Date: 9/22/2025 



135 

   SCHOOL OF UNLIMITED LEARNING GOVERNING COUNCIL MEETING 

Recommended Action 

Staff recommend Governing Council approval of SOUL acquiring and remodeling all buildings 
on our current lot, Assessors Parcel Number 466-102-13 

 Background 

To expand program offerings to more students in an efficient manner additional classroom 
space is needed. Additionally, to be in compliance with ADA guidelines SOUL needs a single-
story building.  

Fiscal Impact 

Action on this agenda item will have a fiscal impact. Based upon architectural estimates this 
project will require SOUL to spend approximately $400,00 – $500,000 from state 
allocations.  

Date: September 9, 2025 Program: School of Unlimited Learning 

Agenda Item #: 22 Director: Dr. Dion Varnado 

Subject: Sanctuary Acquisition  Officer:    Jack Lazzarini 



136 

REQUEST F OR QUOTE  
FOR ARCHITECTUAL SERVICE  

Fresno Economic Opportunities Commission 

REQUESTING SERVICES FOR: 1545 N Street, Freno, CA 93721 
2336 Calaveras Street, Fresno, CA 93721 

Scope of Project 

Seeking architectural services to help renovate a building located at 1545 N Street, Fresno, 
CA 93721, totaling 5,966 square feet (See File Attachments for Exhibits – Site, Current,  
Demo, and Proposed).  The primary focus will be to convert Building # 3 dormitory rooms into 
multiple classrooms and comply with ADA requirements using value engineering and creative 
design due to limited resources and budget.  The secondary focus will be the cost feasibility 
to add an external ADA lift to Building #2 2nd Floor from the courtyard area.  

Building # 2 Information Building # 3 Information 

Address: 2336 Calaveras Street Address: 1545 N Street  
Fresno CA, 93721  Fresno CA, 93721 

Year Built: 1926 Year Built: 1980 

Gross S.F. 14,206 Gross S.F. 5,966 

No. of Floors: 2 No. of Floors 1 

Proposals will be considered from companies who can demonstrate the following minimum 
qualifications and requirements:  

o Architect(s) is licensed to practice architecture in the State of California and is able to
effectively provide the required professional services.

o The individual, individuals or sub-consultants who will be assigned the responsibility to
projects shall have significant experience in design and construction consulting within
the last five years in the State of California.

o Architect and staff shall be knowledgeable of all applicable building codes and
American with Disabilities requirements.

o Architect(s) shall be able to meet the schedule set by the Fresno EOC after the award.

Services Requirements 

The Fresno EOC is looking for a "turnkey" approach, where the architecture firm will provide 
the following services (not listed in order of preference):  



137 

134 
o Provide a complete Permit Set of documents showing all required information

necessary to obtain a building permit(s) and submit to City of Fresno for the issuance
of permits. These documents may include, but are not limited to: Cover Sheet,
Specifications, Standards and Schedules, Demolition Plans, Architectural Partition
Plans, Electrical Plans, Mechanical Plans, Plumbing Plans, Structural Plans, Lighting
Plans, and Finish Plans.

o Provide construction drawings and building specifications that will serve as the basis
for bidding and construction by a General Contractor (GC).

o Respond to all RFI’s in a timely manner so as to not delay start of construction towards
the targeted Substantial Completion Date.

o Participate in the value engineering process as required.

o Provide assistance with referrals of construction contractors having reputations for
quality workmanship, as well as those contractors having similar experience, who have
documented records for being on-time, on-budget and financially creditable.

o Provide input with construction bid documents prior to release and assist in reviewing
of the construction bids received to assess the relative merits of each and assist
Fresno EOC in awarding the contract.

o Regular site observations of the contractor and subcontractors during the construction
phase(s) and sign off on construction drawings to assure that scheduled payments are
made, with appropriate holdbacks, when predetermined work has been completed.

o Final sign-off and professional registration stamp on the project, assuring that the final
project represents what was originally conceptualized and captured in the working
drawings.

o Certificate of Occupancy: Analyze the currently authorized use and assist with obtaining
a Change of Use if required.

o Review shop drawings and finish samples for conformance with the design concept of
the project, and for compliance with the information given in the contract documents,
and as required to facilitate completion of the project.

o Work with Fresno EOC to review and comment on all pricing and change orders.

o Provide observation and attend site meetings as needed or required to observe the
quality and quantity of work and ensure that the work being conducted by the
contractor is satisfactory, is completed according to schedule, and is consistent with
the specifications in the Contract Documents.

o Develop a punch list at job completion specifying the work to be corrected or
completed and ensure that the punch list work has been completed.



138 

o Prepare and provide a final set of “as-built” documents to Fresno EOC in both hard
copy and electronic formats after completion of project.

. 

135 
General Proposal Requirements 

o A mandatory walkthrough is required by April 30, 2025, and all interested
organizations must schedule the appointment with the Facilities Director, Augie Quiroz
via email augie.quiroz@fresnoeoc.org.

o Direct all questions regarding this request for services to Augie Quiroz via email
augie.quiroz@fresnoeoc.org.  Fresno EOC will not accept any questions after May 9,
2025.

o Proposals are due no later than 12:00 pm, on May 16, 2025 (PST) to Augie Quiroz via
email augie.quiroz@fresnoeoc.org

o Fresno EOC may use Architect for additional future projects within the next 12 months
so long as the hourly rates do not increase, and total amounts do not exceed
$150,000.00 per project.

o Fresno EOC reserves the right to make an award without further discussion of the
proposals submitted.  Therefore, proposals should be submitted initially on the most
favorable terms, from both technical and price standpoints, which the Bidder can
propose.

Proposal Submission Requirements 

Provide the following contact information: 

o Name of firm o Complete address o Contact person o Telephone number o Internet
address o E-mail address

o List your three similar projects in terms of scope and the project personnel, including
consultants, for those projects.

o List the professional and support positions who are anticipated to work on this project.

o List of the consultants outside your firm whom you propose would provide services not
available in your firm.



139

o Provide information on your current workload and how you would accommodate this
project. Provide an estimated start date after the contract is signed.

o Estimate timeframe for completion of construction drawings for permit submittal. o

Submit Proof of Architect(s) is licensed to practice in the State of California

136 
Fee Proposal 

o Submit a schedule of hourly rates by employee classification, including terms and rates
of overtime for additional work if requested, and list any anticipated reimbursable
costs.

o Estimate the anticipated total number of hours for the project.  Architect can breakout
hours in phase such as schematic design, design development, contract documents,
bidding, and contract administration.

Rights of Fresno EOC 

o Fresno EOC, at its discretion, may request presentations or additional information with
any or all Bidders to clarify or negotiate modifications to the Bidder's proposals.

o Fresno EOC is not obligated to select the firm with the lowest fee proposal to perform
these services.

o Fresno EOC shall be solely responsible for awarding the proposal and a contract.

o Fresno EOC is not committed to awarding a contract or paying for any costs incurred in
the preparation of a proposal in response to this request.

o Fresno EOC reserves the right to accept the proposal that it considers to be in its best
interest. All materials submitted to Fresno EOC in response to this request become the
sole property of Fresno EOC.

 Professional Liability Insurance Requirements 

Prior to the commencement of any work, the Architect(s) (“Architect,” which equates to 
the “Company”) shall purchase and maintain insurance as required by law and not less 
than the following insurance coverage and limits of liability.  

o Commercial General Liability Insurance: Commercial general Liability Insurance shall
be at least as broad as Insurance Services office General Liability Coverage with
coverage limits of not less than One Million Dollars ($1,000,000) per occurrence for



140 

bodily injury, personal injury and property damage/ Five Million Dollars ($5,000,000) 
aggregate. 

o Automobile Liability Insurance: Automobile liability insurance covering Automobile
Liability with coverage limits of at least One Million Dollars ($1,000,000) for bodily
injury and property damage each accident limit.

o Workers’ Compensation and Employer’s Liability Insurance: The selected Architect shall
insure (or be a qualified self-insured) under the applicable laws relating to workers’
compensation insurance, all of their employees working on the Project. The selected
Architect shall provide employer’s liability insurance in the amount of at least One
Million Dollars ($1,000,000) per accident for bodily injury and disease.

137 
o Errors and Omissions Insurance: errors and omissions insurance on an claims made

basis with a limit of at least One Million Dollars ($1,000,000).

o All insurance will be in a form and with insurance companies acceptable to the Fresno
EOC.

o Insurance carriers shall be qualified to do business in California and maintain an
agent for processing within the State. 



Program: School of Unlimited Learning Grant Name:  

Grant Period: 7/1/2025 - 6/30/2026 Total Budget

Federal Revenue
Other State Revenue
Other Local Revenue
Reserve

Total Revenue

SECTION I: PERSONNEL
A. PROJECT SALARIES FTE

Principal 1.00
Guidance Coordinator 1.00
Guidance Dean 1.00
Curriculum Coordinator 1.00
Teachers 10.00
Tutor 1.00
Child Development Instructor 1.00
School Service Technician 1.00
Student Data Specialist 1.00
Case Managers 1.00
Career Service Technician 1.00
Registrar 1.00
Custodian 1.00
Attendace Secretary/Home School Liason 1.00
Sr. Admin Assistant 1.00
Sr. Accountant 0.50

Fresno Economic Opportunities Commission

Revenues
Local Control Funding Formula-100%



Total Salaries
B. FRINGE BENEFITS

Fringe Benefits @ 29.61% of Salaries

Total Fringe
SECTION I SUBTOTAL

SECTION II: PROGRAM EXPENSES
A: PROJECT STAFF TRAVEL

Mileage

Total Travel
B: EQUIPMENT

Total Equipment
C: SUPPLIES

Books & Supplies

Total Supplies
D: CONTRACTUAL & CONSULTANT SERVICES

Total Contractual & Consultant Services
E: OTHER COSTS

Rent
Office Expenses
Communication 
Insurance 
Utilities
Food Other
Recognition & Incentives
Maintenance Expenses
Professional Development 
Staff Training & Conferences 
Curriculum & Software Licenses
Audit

Fresno Unified Special Ed. & Oversite Fee



Facility Upgrades

Total Other Costs

F: PARTICIPANT COSTS

Total  Participant Costs

SECTION II SUBTOTAL
SECTION III: INDIRECT COSTS

Indirect Costs (__6.2_%)

SECTION III SUBTOTAL
Total Budget

Budget Surplus / (Deficit)



25-26 Preliminary Report

4,156,260.00$  

3,321,352$  
575,364$  
335,220$  

5,000$  

4,236,936$  

Budget



1,894,328$  

562,361$  

562,361$  
2,456,689$  

-$  

-$  

-$  

153,250$  

153,250$  

-$  

134,584$  
18,250$  
25,000$  
28,686$  
37,000$  
10,000$  
10,000$  
37,700$  
37,921$  

100,634$  
177,941$  

19,860$  

339,161$  



350,000$  

1,326,737$  

-$  

1,479,987$  

219,584$  

219,584$  
4,156,260$  

80,676$  



Program: School of Unlimited Learning Grant Name:  

Grant Period: 7/1/2025 - 6/30/2026 Total Budget

Federal Revenue
Other State Revenue
Other Local Revenue
Reserve

Total Revenue

SECTION I: PERSONNEL
A. PROJECT SALARIES FTE

Principal 1.00
Guidance Coordinator 1.00
Guidance Dean 1.00
Curriculum Coordinator 1.00
Teachers 10.00
Tutor 1.00
Child Development Instructor 1.00
School Service Technician 1.00
Student Data Specialist 1.00
Case Managers 1.00
Career Service Technician 1.00
Registrar 1.00
Custodian 1.00
Attendace Secretary/Home School Liason 1.00
Sr. Admin Assistant 1.00
Sr. Accountant 0.50

Fresno Economic Opportunities Commission

Revenues
Local Control Funding Formula-100%



Total Salaries
B. FRINGE BENEFITS

Fringe Benefits @ 29.61% of Salaries

Total Fringe
SECTION I SUBTOTAL

SECTION II: PROGRAM EXPENSES
A: PROJECT STAFF TRAVEL

Mileage

Total Travel
B: EQUIPMENT

Total Equipment
C: SUPPLIES

Books & Supplies

Total Supplies
D: CONTRACTUAL & CONSULTANT SERVICES

Total Contractual & Consultant Services
E: OTHER COSTS

Rent
Office Expenses
Communication 
Insurance 
Utilities
Food Other
Recognition & Incentives
Maintenance Expenses
Professional Development 
Staff Training & Conferences 
Curriculum & Software Licenses
Audit

Fresno Unified Special Ed. & Oversite Fee



Facility Upgrades

Total Other Costs

F: PARTICIPANT COSTS

Total  Participant Costs

SECTION II SUBTOTAL
SECTION III: INDIRECT COSTS

Indirect Costs (__6.2_%)

SECTION III SUBTOTAL
Total Budget

Budget Surplus / (Deficit)



25-26 Preliminary Report

4,156,260.00$  

3,318,132$  
580,040$  
261,000$  

5,000$  
444,808$  

4,608,980$  

Budget

155,000$  
111,778$  
111,778$  
118,000$  
810,247$  

20,748$  
95,206$  
56,667$  
60,528$  
58,149$  
66,651$  
42,705$  
47,694$  
45,510$  
57,194$  
36,473$  



1,894,328$  

562,361$  

562,361$  
2,456,689$  

-$  

-$  

-$  

153,250$  

153,250$  

-$  

134,584$  
18,250$  
25,000$  
28,686$  
37,000$  
10,000$  
10,000$  
37,700$  
37,921$  

100,634$  
177,941$  

19,860$  

339,161$  



350,000$  

1,326,737$  

-$  

1,479,987$  

219,584$  

219,584$  
4,156,260$  

452,720$  



 
 

 
 



Exhibit - Proposed

139



155 

SCHOOL OF UNLIMITED LEARNING GOVERNING COUNCIL MEETING 

Recommended Action 

The information presented below is intended to keep the Board apprised of SOUL’s Principal 
Report for the month of August. 

 Background 

The Principal report is meant to advise the governing Council of items that occurred during 
the month of April and new items currently in development.  In addition, SOUL enrollment 
fluctuates throughout the year.  Data gathered once a month is presented to the Governing 
Council at each meeting. 

Fiscal Impact  

Action on this agenda item will have no fiscal impact. 

Date: September 9, 2025 Program: School of Unlimited Learning 

Agenda Item #: 21 Director: Dr. Dion Varnado 

Subject: Principal Report  Officer:    Jack Lazzarini 



156 

S C H O O L  O F  U N L I M I T E D  L E A R N I N G
P R I N C I P A L ’ S  R E P O R T |  A u g u s t  2 0 2 5

C l a s s r o o m  B a s e d -  3 2

15
17

Classroom Based Students by Gender

Male Female

24

8

0 10 20 30

HISPANIC 

NON-HISPANIC 

Classroom Based
Students by Ethnicity 

3

7

13

9

0 5 10 15

9TH GRADE

10TH GRADE

11TH GRADE

12TH GRADE 

Classroom Based Students by Grade

23

5

SOCIO-ECONOMICALLY 
DISADVANTAGED

SPECIAL EDUCATION 

0 5 10 15 20 25

Classroom Based
Reported Program

6
2

24

BLACK OR 
AFRICAN 

AMERICAN 

WHITE HISPANIC OR 
LATINO 

Classroom Based Students by Race 

1 1

28

2

Classroom Based Students by Residence 



157 

S C H O O L  O F  U N L I M I T E D  L E A R N I N G
P R I N C I P A L ’ S  R E P O R T |  A u g u s t  2 0 2 5

P e r s o n a l i z e d  L e a r n i n g -  1 4 1

 

72
69

Personalized Learning Students by 
Gender 

Male Female

4

14

41

82

9TH GRADE

10TH GRADE

11TH GRADE

12TH GRADE 

Personalized Learning Students by Grade 

124

17

HISPANIC NON-HISPANIC 

Personalized Learning Students by 
Ethnicity 

119

13

0 50 100 150

SOCIO-ECONOMICALLY 
DISADVANTAGED

SPECIAL EDUCATION 

Personalized Learning Students by Reported 
Programs

3

6

122

8

1

1

0 50 100 150

AMERICAN INDIAN OR 
ALASKA NATIVE

BLACK OR AFRICAN 
AMERICAN 

HISPANIC OR LATINO 

WHITE 

HMONG

OTHER ASIAN 

Personalized Learning Students by Race 

1

120

16

2

2

0 20 40 60 80 100 120 140

FOSTER FAMILY HOME OR 
KINSHIP PLACEMENT 

PERMANENT HOUSING 

TEMPORARILY DOUBLED OR 
TRIPLED UP 

UNKNOWN 

UNSPECIFIED 

Personalized Learning Students by 
Residence 


	1.  September Agenda 2025
	2. Community Action Promise
	3.  soul gc minutes   5-6-2025
	GOVERNING COUNCIL MEETING
	MINUTES


	7.  Student Parent Representative
	Recommended Action

	8. Independent Study Board Policy and Policies and Procedures Agenda Cover
	Recommended Action

	8.5.  Independent Study Board Policy   Independent Policies and Procedures
	PERSONALIZED LEARNING: RULES, REGULATIONS & POLICIES
	Discipline Rules and Regulations
	Credits
	Failure to Meet Credit Requirement


	9.  Suicide Prevention Policy
	Recommended Action

	9.5 Youth Suicide Prevention Policy
	Youth Suicide Prevention Policy
	Overall Strategic Plan for Suicide Prevention
	Employee Qualifications and Scope of Services
	Prevention
	Suicide Awareness and Prevention Training for School Staff
	Parents, Guardians, and Caregivers Participation and Education
	Communication with Parents, Caregivers, and Families:

	Student Participation and Education

	Intervention, Screening/Assessment, Referral
	Intervention and Referral for Suicide Screening or Risk Assessment
	Imminent Danger

	Parents, Guardians, Caregivers, and Families
	Students
	Parental Notification and Involvement
	Action Plan for In-School or During School Sponsored Suicide Attempts
	Action Plan for Out-of-School Suicide Attempts
	Re-Entry and Supporting Students after Mental Health Crisis
	Supporting Students after a Mental Health Crisis
	Re-Entry to School After a Suicide Attempt

	Responding After a Suicide Death (Postvention)


	10. Title IX Agenda Cover
	Recommended Action

	10.5.  Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972
	11.  Bulling-Cyberbullying Prevention Policy Agenda Cover  1
	Recommended Action

	11.5.  Bulllying-Cyberbullying Prevention Policy
	12.  Body Shaming Prevention Policy Agenda Cover
	Recommended Action

	12.5.  Body Shaming Prevention Policy
	Body Shaming Prevention Policy

	13.  Parent Involvement Policy Agenda Cover
	Background

	13.5. Parent Involvement Policy
	Rationale
	School Description
	Annual Approval
	PARENT INVOLVEMENT GOALS
	Rights of Parents
	Responsibilities of Parents
	PARENT INVOLVEMENT OPPORTUNITIES
	SOUL Governing Council



	14.  Professional Development Plan Agenda Cover
	Funding from SOUL’s Title II allocation, as well as 10% of SOUL’s Title IA allocation is set aside for Development activities as delineated in the 2025-2026 Professional Development Plan

	14.5.  2025-2026 Professional Development Plan
	15.  Student Parent Handbook Agenda Cover
	Recommended Action

	15.5.  Student Parent Handbook 2025-2026
	Fresno Economic Opportunities Commission’s
	SCHOOL OF UNLIMITED LEARNING GOVERNING COUNCIL
	FRESNO ECONOMIC OPPORTUNITIES BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS
	DESCRIPTION
	MISSION
	VISION
	EXPECTED SCHOOLWIDE LEARNING RESULTS
	Effective Communicators
	Academic Achievers
	Critical Thinkers and Problem Solvers
	Information Processors
	Self-Directed Lifelong Learners
	Responsible and Productive Citizens
	To Students
	To Parents/Guardians
	Visitors
	Notice of Implied Agreement
	Handbook as Contract
	Admission Requirements

	MATHEMATICS
	Algebra
	Geometry
	Algebra II
	Math Intervention
	Personal Finance

	SCIENCES
	Biology - Lab
	Earth Science
	Environmental Science - Lab
	Physical Science - Elective

	HEALTH
	Health

	PHYSICAL EDUCATION
	SOCIAL SCIENCE
	Modern World History
	US History
	Government
	Economics
	Ethnic Studies

	LANGUAGE ARTS
	English 9
	English 10
	English 11
	English 12
	English Intervention
	Foreign Language Spanish I
	Spanish II
	Leadership
	Street Law Program
	Film Appreciation
	CTE Careers
	Career Workforce
	Work Based Learning
	Intro to Trades
	Robotics
	Art
	Child Development/Child Care
	Electives
	First Aid/CPR
	Historical Literature
	Standardized Testing and Reporting Program
	Classroom-Based Final Exam Policy
	Grades
	Homework (Absent)
	Progress Reports
	Drop/Credit Policy
	Grade Reports
	Fifth-Year Policy
	Eligibility Participation Guidelines

	PERSONALIZED LEARNING: RULES, REGULATIONS & POLICIES
	Discipline Rules and Regulations
	Credits
	Failure to Meet Credit Requirement

	SPECIAL EDUCATION SERVICES
	COLLEGE ENTRANCE INFORMATION
	Free Application for Federal Student Aid (FAFSA)
	College Grants and Scholarships

	COUNSELING AND CASE MANAGEMENT SERVICES
	Case Management
	CSU Fresno and Fresno Pacific University
	Career Counseling
	Fresno Economic Opportunities Commission Programs and Services
	Rationale
	School Description
	Annual Approval


	PARENT INVOLVEMENT GOALS
	Rights of Parents
	Responsibilities of Parents
	PARENT INVOLVEMENT OPPORTUNITIES
	SOUL Governing Council
	SOUL Parent Meetings

	RIGHTS OF STUDENTS
	RESPONSIBILITIES OF STUDENTS
	STUDENT CONCERNS
	ATTENDANCE POLICY (Classroom-Based Program)
	Absences Defined
	Maximum Number of Absences
	Short-Term Independent Study
	Saturday Morning / Wednesday Evening School Schedule
	Our Expectations

	TRUANCY PROCEDURES & CONSEQUENCES
	DISCIPLINE RULES AND REGULATIONS
	Food/Beverages
	Use of Tobacco and Vaping
	Smoke/Vape and Tobacco Free Policy
	Littering
	Defacing Property
	Use of Office Supplies
	Use of School Telephones
	Profanity
	Use of Electronic Devices, such as Cell phones, Smart Watches and Earbuds/Headphones
	Cell Phone Policy Guidelines

	LIABILITY OF PARENT OR GUARDIAN FOR WILLFUL PUPIL MISCONDUCT
	Detention
	Alternative Placement/Community Service
	Suspension
	Expulsion

	SUSPENSION OR EXPULSION
	Enforcement of Discipline
	Suspension Procedures
	Expulsion Procedures
	Presentation of Evidence
	Services During Suspension
	Procedural Safeguards/Manifestation Determination

	CLOSED CAMPUS POLICY
	Fresno EOC’S School of Unlimited Learning Uniform Discrimination/Harassment Complaint Procedure



	Body Shaming Prevention Policy
	DRESS CODE POLICY
	SCHOOL OF UNLIMITED LEARNING TAGGING POLICY
	The School of Unlimited Learning’s LOCAL SCHOOL WELLNESS POLICY 2025/2026
	Objectives
	SOUL Believes:
	Goals and Strategies
	Committee (CNPEAC).
	ACCEPTABLE USE AGREEMENT AND RELEASE OF AGENCY FROM LIABILITY (STUDENTS)
	School of Unlimited Learning- 2nd Floor
	Medication
	Immunizations
	Accidents
	First Aid and Illness
	Physical Education Medical Excuse

	CONCLUSION



	16.  CalSTRS Policy Adoption Agenda Cover
	Recommended Action

	16.5.  ES1796 Application for CalSTRS Activation
	BACKGROUND INFORMATION
	INSTRUCTIONS AND DEFINITIONS SECTION 1: SCHOOL INFORMATION
	SECTION 2: CALSTRS RETIREMENT REPORTING
	SECTION 3: EMPLOYER PICK-UP OF MEMBER CONTRIBUTIONS (EPMC)
	SECTION 4: PRE-TAX DEDUCTIONS FOR VOLUNTARY RECEIVABLE
	SECTION 5: REQUIRED SIGNATURE
	SECTION 6: SUPPORTING DOCUMENTS
	QUESTIONS AND SUBMISSION
	Application for CalSTRS Activation
	Section 1: School Information
	Examples page for explanation)
	Section 5: Required Signature


	16.6  PreTax Voluntary Receivable v052024
	16.7  EPMC resolution form v052024
	16.8.  Funding Appeal Check Corresponance
	From: FundingDeterminations  Sent: Friday, August 8, 2025 3:41 PM To: Rosalba Maritano  Cc: FundingDeterminations  Subject: RE: [EXTERNAL] RE: Funding Appeal Check
	From: Rosalba Maritano <rmaritano@fcoe.org>  Sent: Wednesday, August 6, 2025 3:18 PM To: FundingDeterminations <FundingDeterminations@cde.ca.gov> Subject: [EXTERNAL] RE: Funding Appeal Check
	From: Dion Varnado <dion.varnado@fresnoeoc.org>  Sent: Wednesday, August 6, 2025 1:14 PM To: Rosalba Maritano <rmaritano@fcoe.org> Subject: Funding Appeal Check

	17.  Declaration of Need Agenda Cover
	Recommended Action

	17.5  DON FOR FULLY QUALIFIED EDUCATORS - cl500
	DECLARATION OF NEED FOR FULLY QUALIFIED EDUCATORS
	FOR SERVICE IN A SCHOOL DISTRICT OR DISTRICT/COUNTY AUTHORIZED CHARTER SCHOOL
	FOR SERVICE IN A COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION, STATE AGENCY OR NONPUBLIC SCHOOL AGENCY
	AREAS OF ANTICIPATED NEED FOR FULLY QUALIFIED EDUCATORS
	LIMITED ASSIGNMENT PERMITS
	EFFORTS TO RECRUIT CERTIFIED PERSONNEL
	EFFORTS TO CERTIFY, ASSIGN, AND DEVELOP FULLY QUALIFIED PERSONNEL


	18.  October Meeting Date Change Agenda Cover
	Recommended Action

	19.  Salary Schedule Adoption Agenda Cover
	Recommended Action

	20.  Fresno Regional CTE Shared Responsibility Agreement Agenda Cover
	Recommended Action
	The estimated cost of this agreement is $20,000.

	21  Charter Renewal Metrics Agenda Cover
	Recommended Action

	21.5.  Renewal Metrics accepted 7-8-25
	21.6  SOUL Renewal Charter Petition Submission Resolution
	22..  Sanctuary Acquistion Agenda Cover
	Recommended Action

	22.4.  RFQ Architectural Services - SOUL Classroom Expansion - 2025
	22.5  P and E Budget - SOUL 25-26-100% funding Board 9-3-25
	9.03.2025
	Sheet1

	22.6 Sanctuary Remodel Time frame
	22.7.  Classroom Expansion Mod - PROPOSED
	23.  Principal Report Agenda Cover
	Recommended Action

	23.5   Aug 2025 Prinicipal's Report

